

Brunner, Christina

Overseas acquisitions by Chinese firms: value generating or destroying?

Dissertation for obtaining the degree of Doctor of Business and Economics (Doctor rerum politicarum - Dr. rer. pol.)

at WHU – Otto Beisheim School of Management

October 2021

First Advisor:Professor Dr. Serden OzcanSecond Advisor:Professor Dr. Ayse Karaevli

Abstract

Using comprehensive panel data on Chinese acquisitions in Germany in the time period from 2007 to 2016, this thesis investigates the effects of the acquisition on target firm performance and concentrates on some critical issues regarding target top management team turnover and target firm performance as well as acquirer technological capability and target innovation performance. More specifically, the thesis focuses on the following questions: (1) How do acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets influence target post-acquisition firm performance? (2) Do target top management team turnover or target chief executive officer (CEO) turnover have an effect on target post-acquisition firm performance in case of emerging-market acquisitions in developed markets and what is the moderating role of appointing an acquiring firm's manager as target CEO? (3) How does the acquirer's technological capability relate to target post-acquisition innovation performance in case of emerging-market acquisitions in developed markets and does prior international acquisition experience of the acquiring firm play a moderating role in this relationship? The theory and findings contribute to the existing literature on emerging-market firms and their investments in developed-market firms and offer some managerial guidelines in managing target post-acquisition success.

Keywords:

Cross-border acquisitions; emerging-market multinationals; target firm performance; executive turnover; innovation performance

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to my doctoral advisor Prof. Serden Ozcan for providing me the opportunity to write my dissertation at the Chair of Innovation and Corporate Transformation at WHU. His endless support, academic guidance, and encouragement throughout the last years have substantially contributed to the success of my dissertation. I also thank him for the productive discussions and his flexibility in meeting me whenever and wherever possible. My sincere thanks also goes to Prof. Ayse Karaevli for taking the role of my second supervisor and providing her important feedback and helpful directions for my dissertation project. Furthermore, I would like to express my gratitude to Prof. Burcin Yurtoglu, who has also given me his valuable advice on my thesis. I would also like to thank Shelley Steinhorst and Barbara Ecker-Rust for their support and administrative knowledge.

Moreover, a special thanks to my colleagues at AUDI AG, who supported and encouraged me throughout and helped me to find the time to work on this project.

Additionally, I would like to thank my family. Thank you so much for encouraging me to take on this challenge. Mama and Papa, you have always believed in me and my abilities and supported me unconditionally in achieving my academic and personal goals.

Last but not least, I would like to express my great gratitude to my husband Christoph. Thank you so much for putting up with me and my laptop throughout the last years, cheering me up in times of doubts, and still wanting to share your whole life with me.

Christina Brunner

Ingolstadt, 12th December 2020

Table of Contents

Ta	ble of ContentsIV
Li	st of TablesVI
Li	st of FiguresVII
Ab	breviationsVIII
Int	troduction1
1	Overseas Acquisitions by Emerging-Market Firms in Developed Markets and
	Target Firm Performance – an Empirical Analysis of Chinese Acquisitions in
	Germany11
	1.1 Introduction
	1.2 Theoretical background and hypothesis14
	1.2.1 Motivations of emerging-market firms to acquire developed-market target
	firms
	1.2.2 Overseas acquisition performance17
	1.3 Sample and methodology
	1.3.1 Propensity score matching
	1.3.2 Sample construction
	1.3.3 Sample characteristics
	1.3.4 Measures
	1.3.5 Estimation method
	1.4 Results
	1.5 Discussion and conclusion
2	Target Top Management Team Turnover and Post-acquisition Performance in
	Cross-border M&A by Emerging-Market Acquirers – an Empirical Analysis of
	Chinese Acquisitions in Germany41
	2.1 Introduction
	2.2 Theoretical background and hypotheses
	2.2.1 Role of the top management
	2.2.2 Acquisitions and target TMT turnover
	2.2.3 Target TMT turnover and post-acquisition performance

References13
Conclusion
3.5 Discussion and conclusion
3.4 Results
3.3.4 Estimation method 11
3.3.3 Measures
3.3.2 Sample characteristics
3.3.1 Sample construction
3.3 Sample and methodology
experience
3.2.4 The moderating effect of the acquirer's prior international acquisition
3.2.3 Acquirer's technological capability and target innovation performance9
3.2.2 M&A and innovation performance
3.2.1 M&A as external innovation source
3.2 Theoretical background and hypotheses
3.1 Introduction
in Germany and Target Firm Post-Acquisition Innovation Performance
3 Are Firms with Technological Capability Better Acquirers? Chinese Acquisition
2.5 Discussion and conclusion
2.4 Results
2.3.4 Estimation method
2.3.3 Measures
2.3.2 Sample characteristics
2.3.1 Sample construction
2.3 Sample and methodology
CEO on target post-acquisition performance5
2.2.4 The moderating effect of appointing an acquiring firm's manager as targe

List of Tables

Table 1. Analytical strategy
Table 2. Acquisitions by Acquisition Year (Sample 1)
Table 3. Acquisitions by target size (sample 1)
Table 4. Variable description
Table 5. Means, standard deviations, and correlation coefficients 33
Table 6. Regression analysis 34
Table 7. Prior findings on cumulative target TMT turnover following acquisitions
Table 8. Acquisitions by acquisition year (sample 2) 61
Table 9. Acquisitions by target size (sample 2)
Table 10. Sample size cumulative target TMT turnover 65
Table 11. Sample size cumulative target CEO turnover 66
Table 12. Variable description71
Table 13. Means, standard deviations, and correlation coefficients 73
Table 14. Regression results for target post-acquisition firm performance 75
Table 15. Measures of innovation performance 108
Table 16. Variable description
Table 17. Means, standard deviations, and correlation coefficients
Table 18. Regression results for target post-acquisition innovation performance (1) 117
Table 19. Regression results for target post-acquisition innovation performance (2) 122
Table 20. Findings of the thesis 131
Table 21. List with target firms and acquiring firms 151

List of Figures

Figure 1. Conceptual model emerging-market ownership	23
Figure 2. Target industry sector overview (sample 1)	28
Figure 3. Conceptual model target TMT turnover	59
Figure 4. Conceptual model target CEO turnover and moderating effect	59
Figure 5. Cumulative target TMT and CEO turnover	64
Figure 6. Conceptual model acquirer's technological capability and moderating effect.	. 102
Figure 7. Development of target firms' innovation rate	. 106
Figure 8. Development of target firms' innovation impact	. 106
Figure 9. Acquirers´technological capability	. 107

Abbreviations

CEO	Chief executive officer
DMNE	Developed market multinational enterprise
EMNE	Emerging market multinational enterprise
EPO	European Patent Office
EUR	Euro
FDI	Foreign direct investment
FGLS	Feasible generalized least square
GmbH	Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung
IB	International business
Mio.	Million
MNE	Multinational enterprise
M&A	Mergers & Acquisitions
OLI-model	Ownership – Location – Internalization - Model
RBV	Resource-based view
ROA	Return on assets
TMT	Top management team
U.S.	United States
USD	U.S. Dollar
VIF	Variance inflation factor

Introduction

Mergers and acquisitions (M&A) represent a common strategy and important method for strategic expansion. Increased globalization, technological progress, and liberalization of economies have greatly contributed to the popularity of cross-border M&A. Within the last two decades, cross-border M&A have reached exceptional levels at a global stage: in 2017, cross-border M&A accounted, in terms of value, for more than 46 percent of all M&A (Bloomberg, 2018). At the same time, the share of emerging-market flows has grown extensively (this thesis follows the classification of the International Monetary Fund (2020) for emerging and developed economies). While in 2000, investments from emerging-market multinational enterprises (EMNEs) only accounted for little more than 5 percent of all crossborder M&A, in 2017, they already amounted to 30 percent, increasingly targeting firms in developed markets (UNCTAD, 2018, 2017). China has been the most active emergingmarket country, being the source of 65 percent of all emerging-market cross-border M&A (UNCTAD, 2018).

This rapid rise of cross-border M&A from EMNEs has surged research interest among academia in various disciplines, including international business (IB), finance, and strategic management. A distinction from the existing research on cross-border M&A, which is based on developed-market multinational enterprises (DMNEs), seems necessary, as scholars acknowledge distinctive characteristics of emerging-market cross-border M&A (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Buckley *et al.*, 2007b; Luo and Tung, 2007, 2018): Compared to DMNEs, EMNEs internationalize rapidly rather than gradually and use highcommitment modes, such as M&A, already early in their internationalization strategy. Moreover, they enter psychically distant countries earlier than expected based on the traditional internationalization pattern of developed-market firms (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Guillén and García-Canal, 2009; Peng, 2012; Deng, 2009). According to Luo and Tung (2018, 2007), EMNEs use international acquisitions in developed markets as a springboard to minimize market and institutional constraints at home and to access strategic assets as a mean to reduce their competitive disadvantage. In contrast, prior studies show that developed-market firms do not internationalize before they have internally built up superior intangible assets such as technological capability, brand names, or managerial expertise, which then can be exploited abroad (Ramamurti, 2012b; Dunning, 1988; Hymer, 1960).

Prior studies on cross-border M&A of EMNEs have focused on a variety of important aspects, which can be grouped into pre-acquisition and post-acquisition issues. Research on pre-acquisition aspects engaged in topics such as the acquiring firm's motivations (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; DePamphilis, 2015; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Aybar and Ficici, 2009; Alon, Hale, and Santos, 2010; Buckley *et al.*, 2007a), choice of entry mode (Demirbag, McGuiness, and Altay, 2010; Deng, 2009; Rui and Yip, 2008), shareholder wealth creation in terms of short-term stock-market reactions (Bhagat, Malhotra, and Zhu, 2011; Chen and Young, 2010; Aybar and Ficici, 2009; Boateng and Qian, 2007), and failure rate to complete announced deals (Zhou, Xie, and Wang, 2016).

Gradually, attention is shifting from the antecedents of emerging-market crossborder M&A to the outcomes and long-term value-creating strategies as well as postacquisition integration processes. The implications of emerging-market cross-border M&A on target and acquiring firm post-acquisition financial performance have already received some attention, however the findings remain inconclusive (Tőkés, 2019; Buckley, Elia, and Kafouros, 2014; Chari, Chen, and Dominguez, 2012; Buckley and Elia, 2011; Chen, 2011; Buckley, Elia, and Kafouros, 2010; Chen and Lin, 2009). Therefore, Buckley *et al.* (2018) called for further empirical investigation of emerging-market cross-border M&A, specifically Chinese overseas M&A, with updated data. Aspects and implications of postacquisition human resource management strategies, for instance the turnover of target executives, as well as knowledge transfer and organizational learning have not yet been examined in detail in this context although crucial to the comprehension of emerging-market cross-border M&A. Research on cross-border acquisitions from DMNEs has provided insights into target executive turnover (Bilgili *et al.*, 2017; Devine, Melo Galdino, and Lamont, 2016; Krug and Nigh, 1998; Davis and Nair, 2003; Krug and Hegarty, 1997) and post-acquisition knowledge management (Yen, Ling, and Ting, 2017; Ahammad *et al.*, 2016; Bauer, Matzler, and Wolf, 2016; Ranft and Lord, 2002; Bresman, Birkinshaw, and Nobel, 1999), but it is not clear if these findings can be generalized to EMNEs⁻ cross-border M&A due to their distinctive characteristics.

It is widely accepted that EMNEs use overseas acquisitions particularly to gain access to strategic assets and superior technology (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Luo and Tung, 2018, 2007), yet, the implications for the target firms remain unclear and scholars have failed to reach consensus whether emerging-market acquisitions generate or destroy value for target firms (Galavotti, Cerrato, and Cantoni, 2020; Tőkés, 2019; Buckley and Elia, 2011; Buckley *et al.*, 2014; Chari *et al.*, 2012; Chen, 2011). In spite of the lack of consistent results in the academic literature, understanding the effects of cross-border acquisitions by EMNEs in developed markets is more important than ever, considering that the internationalization of emerging-market firms is on the rise.

To clarify the implications of acquisitions by emerging-market firms on target firm performance in developed markets, this thesis explores the following research questions drawing on the growing literature on cross-border acquisitions by EMNEs:

- (1) How do acquisitions by EMNEs in developed markets influence target postacquisition firm performance?
- (2) How do target top management team (TMT) and chief executive officer (CEO) turnover influence target post-acquisition firm performance in case of EMNEs acquisitions in developed markets and what is the moderating role of appointing an acquiring firm's manager as target CEO?
- (3) How does the acquirer's technological capability influence target postacquisition innovation performance in case of EMNEs acquisitions in developed markets and does prior international acquisition experience of the acquiring firm play a moderating role in this relationship?

To answer these research questions, I conduct three quantitative empirical studies using unique comprehensive longitudinal panel data on acquisitions by Chinese acquirers in Germany that occurred in the time period 2007 until 2016 and involved the takeover of a majority stake in the German firm. Information on target and acquiring firms can be found in the appendix (Table 21).

This is a particularly suitable setting to answer the research questions for several reasons. First, China is the major source of emerging-market overseas M&A, accounting for about 65 percent of all emerging-market cross-border M&A in recent years (UNCTAD, 2018, 2019, 2020). The dramatic surge in Chinese overseas M&A is attributed to several reforms instigated by the Chinese government, including the "go abroad policy" and the strategy "Made in China 2025" to become the leading global technological superpower (Zenglein and Holzmann, 2019; Du and Boateng, 2015). Subsequently, in Germany, the presence of Chinese acquirers increased rapidly from 2011 onward, reaching its maximum in 2017, when the country was the second largest recipient of Chinese investment in Europe

with U.S. Dollar (USD) 13.7 billion (Ernst & Young, 2019). This shows the immense relevance of Chinese outward foreign direct investment (FDI) in Germany and highlights the timeliness of the study. Second, Germany counts among the top economies globally. German firms dominate many medium and high-tech industries, thus offering acquiring firms a suitable location to enhance their competitiveness (UNCTAD, 2019; Wübbeke *et al.*, 2016). Third, the research question is not only relevant from a theoretical point of view. Taking a managerial perspective, stakeholders in Germany fear an outflow of knowledge and a threat to local economy (Bertrand, Betschinger, and Settles, 2016; Wübbeke *et al.*, 2016; Buckley *et al.*, 2014; Goldstein, 2009; Wang and Xie, 2009). Thus, in Germany especially cross-border acquisitions by EMNEs have raised concerns about their effect on the performance of target firms, while acquisitions from DMNEs are generally less disapproved. Therefore, this setting allows for a rich context to analyze the research question.

I hand-collected data on these acquisitions from numerous data bases, including Dafne, a data base with comprehensive information on German firms, and the German website Bundesanzeiger, which offers information on firm-level financial information. To test how the independent variables affect target firm performance and target innovation performance, and thus receive answers to the research questions, the data set was analyzed through multiple regression analysis. In addition to the quantitative analysis, existing literature is examined to incorporate prior research and develop the hypotheses.

The first study will focus on a comprehensive way of understanding the effect of acquisitions by EMNEs on developed-market target post-acquisition firm performance, measured as return on assets (ROA). According to traditional IB theory, internationalization is linked with superior performance as these firms are endowed with superior capabilities and comparative advantages (Hymer, 1960). Foreign-owned firms can also benefit from

these conditions, the potentials for performance improvement lying in the realization of synergies, enhanced competitiveness through restructuring, or the disciplining effect on an inefficient management (Gu, Yang, and Strange, 2019; Erdogan, 2013; Chang, Chung, and Jungbien Moon, 2013; Dunning, 1988). However, in contrast to developed-market firms who venture abroad after gaining superior firm-specific assets, EMNEs specifically use crossborder M&A to gain access to superior assets (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Luo and Tung, 2018, 2007). With this distinctive difference and taking the resource-based view (RBV) of the firm into account, it is important to revisit traditional IB theory, if developed-market firms owned by emerging-market firms also exhibit superior performance compared to their comparable local firms. I apply propensity score matching to account for selection bias and compare acquired firms with similar nonacquired control firms. Additionally, to rule out the general takeover effect, I construct another sample of German firms acquired by Austrian firms to examine the effect on target firm performance in case of acquisition by other developed-market firms. The study finds that acquisitions of German target firms by Chinese acquirers reduce target firm performance, while in the replication with German firms acquired by Austrian firms no statistically significant effect on target firm performance can be observed. These results suggest that overseas acquisitions by Chinese firms in Germany indeed destroy value for the target firms and that the traditional view that foreign-owned firms generally exhibit superior performance, does not necessarily hold true in case of emerging-market acquirers and developed-market target firms. The study contributes to international business research and the implications of EMNEs cross-border acquisitions on target firm performance.

The second study will explore if changes in the strategic management of the target firm could be the cause for the reduction in target firm performance. Performance is oftentimes linked to the skills and effectiveness of the firm's management, e.g. by Karaevli (2007), whose findings support that a firms operational performance is under the control of the management. Indeed, literature dating back to the 1980s has found that M&A induce long-term effects on the dynamics and performance of the target TMT: Within five years, almost 60 percent of the target TMT is gone (Walsh, 1988; Hayes, 1979; Krug, Wright, and Kroll, 2014). Hence, the second study will concentrate on the development of the TMT at the target firms in the post-acquisition phase and the implications on target firm performance.

Two opposing arguments are brought forward by the RBV of the firm and agency theory: According to the RBV of the firm, management continuity represents an important factor of stability and is believed to have a positive implication on post-acquisition performance (Bilgili et al., 2017; Ahammad et al., 2016; Krishnan, Miller, and Judge, 1997; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a). In contrast, agency theory argues that acquisitions occur as a result of inefficient management at the target firm (Devine et al., 2016; Demirtas and Simsir, 2016; Jensen and Ruback, 1983; Manne, 1965), hence turnover is desirable and positive. Most of the existing evidence on target TMT turnover and post-acquisition performance is based on samples of publicly listed U.S. firms, which have been targets to domestic acquisitions in the 1980s. These studies document a negative effect of TMT replacement on target firm performance, which provides support for the RBV of the firm (Krishnan et al., 1997; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a). However, studies with data on more recent M&A deals, involving publicly listed target firms as well, show a positive effect of TMT replacement on target firm performance, lending support to agency theory (Devine et al., 2016; Demirtas and Simsir, 2016). This conflicting evidence suggests that the link is not as straightforward and that it could depend on the context whether retaining or replacing management contributes to acquisition success. As a result, there has been a call for further research considering cross-border acquisitions as well as privately held target firms (Krug *et al.*, 2014).

Different from the extant studies, this study investigates the effect of target TMT turnover on target post-acquisition firm performance following acquisitions by EMNEs in developed markets. Additionally, the sample used in this study is the first to include a majority of privately held firms. Privately held firms account for the majority of acquisition targets, but so far, empirical studies mostly rely on samples of publicly listed firms because of better data availability.

Overall, the study finds that target TMT turnover has no significant effect on target post-acquisition firm performance, whereas target CEO turnover positively affects target post-acquisition firm performance. This result actually shows that the departure of the CEO is beneficial for target post-acquisition firm performance, providing evidence that CEO turnover can represent a way of demonstrating organizational and strategic change as well as the disruption of established practices and norms, thereby positively affecting postacquisition firm performance, while the larger proportion of the TMT stays on board to avoid too much commotion and disruption (Bilgili *et al.*, 2017). No support was found that the appointment of an acquiring firm's manager as new target CEO weakens the positive relationship between target CEO turnover and target post-acquisition firm performance. Thereby, this study contributes to the better understanding of target TMT turnover following cross-border acquisitions by EMNEs in developed markets and the implications of turnover on target post-acquisition firm performance.

In particular, the transactions, where the target is located in a developed market and the acquirer in an emerging market raise concern in the public and are often associated with the fear of knowledge drains, technology transfer, and reduction of innovation performance of target firms (Fisch, Block, and Sandner, 2018; Bandick, Görg, and Karpaty, 2014; Miozzo, DiVito, and Desyllas, 2016). To address this issue, the third study will investigate the implications on target firm post-acquisition innovation performance. To measure target innovation performance, the study employs the following dependent variables: innovation rate (number of patent applications each year by the target firm) and innovation quality, captured as innovation impact (number of forward citations that a patent receives in subsequent patents), innovation generality (forward citations received in few or various patent classes), and innovation originality (citations made to earlier patents from few or various patent classes).

Although prior studies have offered valuable insights on the effect of an acquisition event on target innovation performance, empirical evidence remains inconsistent. Some studies show evidence that foreign-acquired firms are more likely to innovate (Chen, Hua, and Boateng, 2017; Zhang, Deng, and Tang, 2018; Girma, Gong, and Görg, 2008; Guadalupe, Kuzmina, and Thomas, 2012; Bertrand, 2009; Bandick *et al.*, 2014; Eliasson, Hansson, and Lindvert, 2017), whereas other studies provide findings that imply a negative impact of foreign acquisitions on target innovation performance (Szücs, 2014; Stiebale, 2016; Stiebale and Reize, 2011). Considering the conflicting results, the study proposes that some acquirers might be more effective in promoting target innovation performance successfully than others.

Different from the extant studies, this study examines the relevance of the target's and acquirer's country of origin as well as the acquiring firm's technological capability to promote target innovation performance successfully. There is still a lack of profound empirical and theoretical knowledge how these types of acquisitions, where the acquirer is from an emerging country and the target firm from a developed country, affect innovation performance in target firms. Drawing on the RBV of the firm and the concept of technological capability, the study finds a significant and positive relation between the acquiring firm's technological capability (measured as number of patents applied for by the acquiring firm since its foundation) and target innovation impact in the post-acquisition phase. However, no statistically significant effect could be observed for the other three variables representing innovation performance, namely innovation rate, innovation originality, and innovation generality. Moreover, the study found no support that prior international acquisition experience of the acquirer positively moderates this relationship. The study contributes to innovation and M&A literature and shows that various aspects of innovation performance have to be differentiated, when conducting research on innovation performance. Varying measures for innovation performance might also be the reason for the inconclusive results on the effect of cross-border acquisitions on target innovation performance in prior studies so far.

The thesis consists of three parts. After the introductory section, which introduced the purpose of this study and selection of the research questions, three chapters follow that empirically investigate the research questions in relation to the underlying theory.

The first chapter serves to answer the main research question, which is to determine whether Chinese overseas acquisitions in developed markets generate or destroy value for the target firms. The second chapter concentrates on the development of the TMT at the target firms after the acquisition event took place. Building on agency theory and the resource-based view of the firm, it investigates empirically how target TMT and CEO turnover affect target firm financial performance after acquisition. The third chapter takes on another perspective of target firm performance and analyzes which acquirers have the capability to generate and manage innovation at the target firm successfully. Finally, the last part provides a conclusion as well as discussion of the implications and limitations of the project. Additionally, suggestions for future research avenues are offered.

1 Overseas Acquisitions by Emerging-Market Firms in Developed Markets and Target Firm Performance – an Empirical Analysis of Chinese Acquisitions in Germany¹

Abstract

Acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets have increased significantly. Although many papers have analyzed the effects of foreign acquisitions on firm performance, the current understanding how target firm performance is affected is still limited. Using a comprehensive data set of Chinese acquisitions in Germany combined with propensity score matching, this study finds that Chinese ownership has a negative effect on target firm performance. The negative effect is even more pronounced for firms in the service and manufacturing sectors, where the majority of Chinese acquisitions in Germany takes place. To account for a general foreign acquisition effect on target firm performance, the study is replicated with a sample of Austrian acquisitions in Germany. In contrast to the Chinese sample, no statistically significant effect of Austrian ownership on target firm performance can be observed.

1.1 Introduction

Overseas M&A have rapidly increased during the last decades, comprising, in terms of value, more than 46 percent of all M&A (Bloomberg, 2018). At the same time, the share of emerging-market flows in overseas M&A deals has also been growing extensively. While in 2000, investments from EMNEs only accounted for little more than 5 percent of all overseas M&A, in 2017, they already amounted to 30 percent, increasingly targeting firms in developed markets (UNCTAD, 2018, 2017). The rise of EMNEs and their investments in developed-market firms is a phenomenon that has important theoretical and empirical implications. Thus, it has received growing attention in IB research and initiated a vital and still ongoing debate whether existing IB theories are adequate to study the

¹ Brunner C. 2020. Overseas Acquisitions by Emerging-Market Firms in Developed Markets and Target Firm Performance – an Empirical Analysis of Chinese Acquisitions in Germany: WHU School of Management, Unpublished Working Paper.

internationalization of EMNEs, if they need to be extended, or if the development of new theories is required (Chikhouni, Edwards, and Farashahi, 2017; Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Ramamurti, 2012a; Dunning, 2006).

Prior studies offer valuable insights into the distinctive characteristics of EMNEs compared to DMNEs, including their strategies and motivations for investing abroad (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Elango and Pattnaik, 2011; Luo and Rui, 2009; Child and Rodrigues, 2005) as well as their pace and pattern of internationalization (Ahmed and Bebenroth, 2019; Masiero, Ogasavara, and Risso, 2017; Mathews, 2006).

Yet, implications of EMNEs acquisitions on target post-acquisition firm performance are widely overlooked. Only few researches investigated the effect of acquisitions in developed markets by EMNEs on target firm performance providing conflicting evidence and limiting the advancement of IB theories (Tőkés, 2019; Buckley *et al.*, 2010, 2014; Buckley and Elia, 2011; Chari *et al.*, 2012; Aureli, 2015). Hence, this study will analyze acquisitions of developed-market targets by EMNEs and examine the effect on target firm performance. To rule out the general takeover effect, it will additionally examine the effect on target firm performance in case of acquisitions by other developed-market firms.

Chinese acquisitions in Germany are chosen as the empirical context. This is a particularly suitable setting: First, China is the major source of emerging-market overseas M&A, accounting for about 65 percent of all emerging-market cross-border M&A in recent years (UNCTAD, 2018, 2019, 2020). The presence of Chinese acquirers increased rapidly from 2011 onward, reaching its maximum in 2017, when the country was the second largest recipient of Chinese investment in Europe with USD 13.7 billion (Ernst & Young, 2019). This shows the immense relevance of Chinese outward FDI in Germany and highlights the timeliness of the study. Second, German firms dominate many medium and high-tech

industries, thus offering acquiring firms a suitable location to enhance their competitiveness (UNCTAD, 2019; Wübbeke *et al.*, 2016). Third, the research question is not only relevant from a theoretical point of view. Taking a managerial perspective, stakeholders in Germany fear an outflow of knowledge and a threat to local economy (Bertrand *et al.*, 2016; Wübbeke *et al.*, 2016; Buckley *et al.*, 2014; Goldstein, 2009; Wang and Xie, 2009). Thus, in Germany especially overseas acquisitions by EMNEs have raised concerns about their effect on the performance of target firms, while acquisitions from DMNEs are generally less disapproved. Therefore, this setting allows for a rich context to analyze the research question.

This study uses a comprehensive and unique panel data set of Chinese acquisitions in Germany from 2008 to 2016. To evaluate the acquisition effect, I apply propensity score matching to identify the missing counterfactual of a target not involved in an acquisition by an emerging-market acquirer. The full sample, including Chinese acquired and matched nonacquired firms, is composed of 126 groups. In a second step, to rule out the general takeover effect, I replicate the study with a sample of German firms acquired by Austrian firms.

Overall, the study finds that acquisitions of German target firms by Chinese acquirers reduce target firm performance. The negative effect is even more pronounced for firms in the manufacturing and service sector. In a replication with German firms acquired by Austrian acquirers no statistically significant effect on target firm performance is found, neither in the whole sample nor in the model with only manufacturing and service firms.

The study contributes to the growing literature on cross-border acquisitions by EMNEs and to the on-going debate about the applicability of traditional IB theories on EMNEs. By showing the effect on target firm performance after acquisition by EMNEs the understanding of EMNEs and the implications of their internationalization process is advanced. This paper is structured as follows: The next section assesses existing research and analyzes the theoretical background, from which the hypothesis is derived. Section 3 describes the data set, methodology, and variables. Section 4 presents the results of the empirical analysis. The study ends with a discussion of the findings in light of theory and practice.

1.2 Theoretical background and hypothesis

1.2.1 Motivations of emerging-market firms to acquire developed-market target firms

Existing studies, focusing on DMNEs, found that firms expand globally after they have internally built up superior intangible assets such as technological capabilities, brand names, or managerial expertise (Ramamurti, 2012b; Dunning, 1988; Hymer, 1960). These competitive advantages must be sufficient to compensate the increased cost when operating abroad, as set out in the eclectic paradigm, also known as Ownership-Location-Internalization (OLI) model (Dunning, 1988). Firms can either acquire vertically, by investing in the production of intermediate goods or distribution channels, or horizontally, by establishing a similar line of business. While the first is normally motivated by costrelated reasons and the desire to reduce uncertainty, the latter generally happens to overcome high transportation costs, protectionist barriers, or unfavorable currency shifts and is driven by the possession of intangible assets (Guillén and García-Canal, 2009). Overall, overseas M&A enable firms to generate market power and growth (DePamphilis, 2015). According to the positive multinational network hypothesis, overseas M&A additionally provide firms with valuable options, such as the possibility to transfer resources across borders or reduced tax payments through intra-firm financial transactions (Aybar and Ficici, 2009). Other motives include external factors such as encouragement to invest by foreign governments, fear of losing a market, overseas success by a competitor or strong competition in the domestic market (DePamphilis, 2015).

So when EMNEs enter foreign markets for vertical expansion, existing theories can still hold true. On the other hand, when they internationalize horizontally, scholars cannot explain these movements with traditional theory, according to which EMNEs lack the necessary competitive advantages, such as a strong brand or superior technology (Madhok and Keyhani, 2012; Ramamurti and Singh, 2009; Rugman, 2009). Consequently, scholars suggest that EMNEs typically do not engage in overseas M&A to exploit, but rather to access competitive advantages, namely to acquire strategic assets, such as superior technology, advanced know-how, and brands, needed to overcome their liability of lateness and to survive in global competition, which is represented in the resource-based view of the firm (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Alon et al., 2010; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012). Luo and Tung (2018, 2007) introduce the springboard perspective, which states that EMNEs use international expansion to overcome their latecomer disadvantage by acquiring strategic assets to reduce market and institutional constraints in their home markets. Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra (2012) affirm this notion and present the technological escape hypothesis, according to which EMNEs address the weak innovation system of their home market by acquiring innovative firms in developed markets.

Yet, researchers point out that, although EMNEs do not possess the traditional ownership advantages, they do possess different competitive advantages, e.g. deep knowledge of emerging-market customers, the ability to act in difficult institutional as well as business environments, or the capability to produce at very low cost, which must be regarded as well, as these kind of competitive advantages are in no way less valuable (Chikhouni *et al.*, 2017; Child and Rodrigues, 2005; Dunning, 2006; Ramamurti, 2012a, 2012b; Cuervo-Cazurra and Genc, 2008; Rui and Yip, 2008; Guillén and García-Canal,

2009; Buckley *et al.*, 2018). This is line with the OLI-model that firms must possess some kind of ownership advantage before internationalization (Dunning, 1988). Hence, there is substantial evidence that EMNEs indeed venture abroad to gain strategic assets in terms of valuable brands and superior technology as well as capabilities, however, it cannot be confirmed that they do not possess any competitive advantages beforehand (Ramamurti, 2012a; Luo and Tung, 2018; Buckley *et al.*, 2018).

Firms from China have particularly received much attention in this regard. Indeed, part of Chinese acquisitions in developed markets is believed to be driven by the Chinese political agenda to become the world's most advanced and competitive economy with the help of innovative manufacturing technologies. Although the scientific findings for strategic asset-seeking motives are inconclusive so far (Alon, 2010; Yan, Hong, and Ren, 2010; Sutherland, 2009; Buckley *et al.*, 2007b; Rui and Yip, 2008; Child and Rodrigues, 2005; Deng, 2004), more and more studies suggest that strategic and political objectives motivate Chinese acquisitions, especially in developed markets (Hanemann and Huotari, 2017: 8; Wübbeke *et al.*, 2016; Madhok and Keyhani, 2012; Buckley *et al.*, 2008; Deng, 2007, 2009).

In traditional IB research, scholars also recognize that firms do not internationalize and become multinational enterprises (MNEs) overnight. The internationalization follows different stages and happens gradually. According to the Uppsala internationalization process model, established by researchers from the University of Uppsala in Sweden in 1977, firms enter foreign markets country-by-country, beginning with those closest in terms of cultural distance. Typically, in the first step, engagement only involves exporting, then in the second step, with increased sales, setting up own sales subsidiaries, and in the final step the establishment of own production facilities to overcome trade barriers (Johanson and Vahlne, 1977). In contrast, firms from emerging markets internationalized very rapidly. Instead of entering country-by-country, they see a highly integrated world as their market from the beginning (Guillén and García-Canal, 2009; Mathews, 2006), hence internationalizing rapidly rather than gradually and using high-commitment modes, such as M&A, already early in their internationalization strategy. Moreover, they enter psychically distant countries earlier than expected based on the traditional internationalization pattern of advanced-market firms (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Guillén and García-Canal, 2009; Peng, 2012; Deng, 2009)

With these distinctive differences between EMNEs and DMNEs it is important to revisit traditional IB research and build upon the international expansion of EMNEs (Chikhouni *et al.*, 2017; Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Ramamurti, 2012a).

1.2.2 Overseas acquisition performance

According to the theory of the multinational enterprise, internationalization is associated with superior performance as these firms are endowed with superior capabilities and comparative advantages (Hymer, 1960). Foreign-owned firms can also benefit from these conditions, the potentials for performance improvement lying in the realization of synergies, enhanced competitiveness through restructuring, or the disciplining effect on an inefficient management (Gu *et al.*, 2019; Erdogan, 2013; Dunning, 1988; Chang *et al.*, 2013). Indeed, a study on foreign-acquired Chinese firms found that they outperform comparable local firms (Chang *et al.*, 2013).

But there are also numerous challenges related to conducting business abroad which can cause failure: Firms face inherent costs due to the unfamiliarity with the environment, institutional conditions, cultural, economic, and political differences and the increased costs for coordination across geographic borders, a phenomenon called liability of foreignness, which has to be overcome by the firm doing business abroad through firm-specific advantages (Dunning, 2000; Zaheer, 1995). Moreover, acquiring firms have to adapt to both a new national culture and a new organizational culture, which is described as doublelayered acculturation (Ahern, Daminelli, and Fracassi, 2015; Rajan, 2010; Dreher and Ernst, 2014; Galpin and Herndon, 2014). Additional influence of exchange rate, danger that foreign governments do not permit the remittance of capital or dividends, or complications due to different accounting standards further impede overseas M&A (DePamphilis, 2015). The failure reasons for domestic M&A apply as well: Synergies can't be realized or the costs for realization exceed the synergy gains. Hubris hypothesis suggests that company managers are too optimistic about their abilities to generate value from the new company (Roll, 1986; Martynova and Renneboog, 2008). Other times the deals are driven by irrational or emotional management decisions to gain power or prestige rather than strategic motives, which is termed as empire-building (Trautwein, 1990).

Academic research on the profitability of M&A indicates that in developed markets, on average, the value creation for the acquiring shareholders varies closely around zero, while the target shareholders gain significant positive returns (Meckl and Röhrle, 2016; Baker *et al.*, 2012; Schoenberg, 2006; Bruner, 2002). Studies have explored several aspects in order to determine which factors influence post-acquisition performance. The most common independent variables analyzed are relatedness of acquisition, which provides mixed results (Megginson, Morgan, and Nail, 2004; Palich, Cardinal, and Miller, 2000), acquisition experience offering inconclusive results as well (Bertrand and Betschinger, 2011; Ma, Zhu, and Cai, 2016; Galavotti *et al.*, 2020; Puranam and Srikanth, 2007), and firm size with relatively consistent results (King, Slotegraaf, and Kesner, 2008; Fanto, 2001).

In spite of the meanwhile significant role of emerging-market firms for overseas acquisitions in developed markets, research regarding post-acquisition performance in this context is still limited with inconclusive results.

1.2.2.1 Empirical findings: Acquiring firm's post-acquisition performance in cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms

Most of the existing studies concentrate on the post-acquisition performance of acquiring firms, predominantly showing positive results which contrast the findings for acquisitions of developed-market acquirers. Bhagat *et al.* (2011) analyzed a sample of acquiring EMNEs mostly targeting firms in developed markets, documenting a positive return to the acquirers. Boateng and Qian (2007) also indicated a positive return to acquiring Chinese firms. Other authors, relying on cumulative abnormal returns as performance measure as well, support these findings (Du and Boateng, 2015; Lan, Yang, and Zhu, 2015; Nicholson and Salaber, 2013; Chen and Lin, 2009; Gubbi *et al.*, 2010).

However, another group of scholars has found conflicting results (Aybar and Ficici, 2009; Chen and Young, 2010; Chen and Lin, 2009; Ma *et al.*, 2016). Aybar and Ficici (2009) analyzed the effect of overseas M&A announcements by emerging-market acquirers and indicated that bidders earn a negative return. This is supported by Chen and Young (2010), who documented that Chinese firms with majority government ownership acquiring firms abroad tend to destroy shareholder value. Chen and Lin (2009) used financial ratios to measure performance of Chinese acquiring firms, which target mainly firms from developed markets, finding that merely about half had an improved performance one year after transaction. This is confirmed in another recent study, which found that cross-border M&A by Chinese listed companies during the period 1996 and 2012 destroy value in terms of return on assets for Chinese acquirers (Ma *et al.*, 2016).

1.2.2.2 Empirical findings: Target firm's post-acquisition performance in cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms

The studies on target firm post-acquisition performance in emerging-market crossborder M&A are even less consistent in their findings. The researchers mainly focus on profitability, productivity, sales, and employment as measures of target firm performance. Buckley et al. (2010) proposed that developed-market firms can benefit from emergingmarket acquirers through other types of resources than intangible assets, e.g. by importing raw materials from the acquirer's home country, delocalizing labor-intensive processes, or through the provision of new financial resources and therefore new investment opportunities. Complementing with an empirical study on European, US, Canadian, and Japanese firms acquired by emerging-market acquirers, Buckley and Elia (2011) documented that the target firms' productivity, sales, and employment are affected positively, while the target firms' profitability is not significantly increased after acquisition. They further found that EMNEs not only acquire targets with high performance and, taking acquisition experience into account, that experienced acquirers tend to acquire firms with better performance and also contribute to post-acquisition productivity and sales more positively. In 2014, the authors demonstrated that the acquirer's tangible resources positively influence the target firms' sales performance, while there is no effect on profitability. On the other hand, the effect of the acquirer's intangible resources is insignificant (Buckley et al., 2014). In contrast, Chari et al. (2012) found that U.S. target firms that have been acquired by EMNEs can improve their profitability in the post-acquisition period, while sales and employment decline. Chen (2011) examined the acquisition effect on target firm performance with data from U.S. firms. The author found that FDI in general increases target firm profitability and the effect is larger when the acquirers are from other industrialized countries compared to acquirers originating from emerging markets. The effect on target firm productivity, sales, and employment is only positive for targets acquired by firms from industrialized countries, while EMNEs induce a negative effect. Similarly, with data on acquired Hungarian firms, Tőkés (2019) found that only acquirers from higher income countries foster productivity significantly, while acquirers from lower income countries do not produce statistically significant effects. The study showed first evidence that researchers need to account for the origin of the acquirer when studying target firm performance in the event of acquisition.

Considering these conflicting empirical results it is of theoretical and practical interest to analyze whether developed-market target firms benefit or lose in terms of firm performance when they are acquired by EMNEs. With this, evidence can be provided, if the traditional theory that foreign-owned firms in general show superior performance also holds true for developed-market firms owned by emerging-market acquirers.

In cross-border acquisitions, performance can be increased through different channels: According to the eclectic paradigm and the internalization theory, firms need to possess firm-specific assets in order to successfully operate abroad (Dunning, 2000; Rugman and Verbeke, 2009). These firm-specific assets can be matched with the target firm's assets to increase profitability, e.g. the acquirer's superior technology combined with the target's market access can increase profitability through cost reduction and increased sales. Empirical studies indeed confirm this and show superior performance in foreign-owned firms compared to domestic ones (Gu *et al.*, 2019; Erdogan, 2013; Haskel *et al.*, 2007; Chang *et al.*, 2013), however, the majority does not differentiate the country-of-origin of FDI. Cross-border M&A also allow to relocate production sites from more costly locations to cheaper ones, due to less expensive labor force or input material, in order to increase firm profits through a decrease in production costs (Yeaple, 2003).

As most existing research is based on acquisitions between developed-market firms or flows from DMNEs to EMNEs, it does not reflect the fact that most acquirers from emerging-markets do not possess such intangible assets, e.g. superior technology. Consequently, in this setting EMNEs usually absorb strategic assets from their targets rather than transfer strategic assets to their developed-market target, which suggests that the theoretical prediction (Delios and Beamish, 2001) that the target benefits from the acquirer's strategic assets possibly does not hold in most cases. Quite the contrary can happen: the acquirer moves the production facilities and the know-how from the target firm to its home country, thus reducing productivity, sales, and profitability at the target.

But acquirers from emerging markets possess other valuable assets, e.g. strong tangible assets as cheaper access to raw resources, materials and production facilities, as well as low-cost access to capital because of various home-country-specific advantages (Rugman, 2009; Goldstein, 2009; Williamson and Zeng, 2009; Buckley *et al.*, 2018). DMNEs can benefit from these assets by becoming more cost effective through resource redeployment and by revenue enhancement through access to new distribution channels owned by the acquiring firms, possibly leading to greater market coverage including economies of scale and better bargaining power and resulting in improved profitability (Buckley *et al.*, 2014; Buckley *et al.*, 2007b). Depending on which effect prevails, profitability of a developed-market firm acquired by an emerging-market firm can either increase or decrease.

Taking an institutional approach, EMNEs not only face a different culture concerning business customs and practices in developed markets, they are also confronted by quite diverse institutional conditions, as their home country environment is characterized by under-developed capital markets, extensive state ownership and intervention, inefficient intermediaries, strong contract enforcement laws leading to uncertainty, increased transaction costs, and integration challenges (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Chen *et al.*, 2015; Jiang and Kim, 2015; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012). Considering these conditions, it is predicted that the benefits from the emergingmarket acquirers' tangible resources can't outweigh the detriments caused by the strategic asset transfer and the integration process on the developed-market target firms' performance. Therefore, the following hypothesis is formulated:

Hypothesis 1: *Emerging-market ownership has a negative effect on developedmarket target firm performance.*

Figure 1 illustrates the proposed relationship.

Figure 1. Conceptual model emerging-market ownership



1.3 Sample and methodology

1.3.1 Propensity score matching

One key element in evaluating pre- and post-acquisition performance is to define an appropriate performance benchmark in the absence of acquisition. In an ideal world, the performance of an acquired firm could be compared to the performance of its non-acquired identical twin. In reality, however, no identical twin exists. Therefore, a set of potential firms from which the target firm was selected is needed. Propensity score matching allows to match each acquired firm with a local firm not acquired, even though its ex ante likelihood of being acquired is closest to that of the acquired target firm. The data base Dafne was used for the identification of control firms without Chinese investment. It provides comprehensive firm-level information on German firms. I utilized the Chinese acquired firms' key characteristics at the start of the observation to identify the ideal matching control firms. I downloaded a data set of all German firms from Dafne and then run propensity score

matching to find the ideal match. The following key characteristics were used: industry group as well as a similar range in size and profitability. With this process a control firm for each observed target could be identified. Based on this, the study can compare the performance of the Chinese acquired firms to that of their identical twins with no Chinese investment (Chang *et al.*, 2013; Chari *et al.*, 2012).

1.3.2 Sample construction

The data selection process took place in several steps. First, I collected data on M&A from the SDC data base by Thomson Reuters which has been widely used in earlier studies (Ellis et al., 2017; Bhagat et al., 2011; Wang and Xie, 2009; Masulis, Wang, and Xie, 2007; Ben-Amar and Andre, 2006). I took all acquisitions into account where the acquiring nation is China and the target nation is Germany up to the year 2016. Before 2000, Chinese FDI was strictly controlled by the Chinese government and only very few acquisitions took place (Buckley et al., 2018). From 2000 onwards policies towards FDI have been liberalized (Buckley et al., 2008). In total, SDC data base reports 131 acquisitions with these premises. Furthermore, I added 35 acquisitions from this period which have not been included in the SDC data base, but reported in the German publication Platform M&A China/Deutschland as well as another 82 acquisitions reported in a study by SMB consultants (SMB Consultants, 2017). I validated all data entries with the ownership data reported in Dafne. Altogether, 248 Chinese acquisitions in Germany could be identified through this process. The final data set is the result of a careful screening procedure: 49 transactions were excluded, as these could be identified as rumored deals, which have not been completed, and asset deals. By limiting the study to acquisitions, where more than 50 percent of the target firm was acquired, I ensure that the study only analyzes acquisitions, where the target is fully controlled by the acquirer after the completion of the acquisition (Bertrand and Betschinger, 2011; Wang and Xie, 2009). This reduced the sample by further 29 acquisitions.

Second, I collected additional firm-level panel data for the target firms from Dafne. Moreover, I downloaded the target firms' financial statements from the German data base Bundesanzeiger to observe the firms for several years before and after the acquisition. 99 acquisitions had to be discarded, where no data was available, as the German commercial code allows for size-related exemptions for certain disclosure requirements, e.g. revenue. During propensity score matching another 8 acquisitions have been dropped, as no appropriate matching firm could be identified.

Hence, a refined sample of 63 acquisitions was produced, where firm-level data was available and an appropriate non-acquired matching firm could be identified. Information on target and acquiring firms can be found in the appendix (Table 21). The acquisitions occurred between 2008 and 2016 in the six industry sectors manufacturing, services, trade, energy, transportation, and construction, whereas the first two account for more than 80 percent. In accordance with the target firms, I collected firm-level panel data on the control firms, identified through the propensity score matching, for the same period as their matching firms with Chinese investment from Dafne and Bundesanzeiger

Table 1 illustrates the analytical strategy.

		Acquired firms		Control firms	
China sam	ple				
Sample 1	Full sample	63 groups	608 observations	63 groups	608 observations
Sample 2	Manufacturing and services firms	52 groups	502 observations	52 groups	502 observations
Austria sample					
Sample 3	Full sample	32 groups	299 observations	32 groups	299 observations
Sample 4	Manufacturing and services firms	18 groups	173 observations	18 groups	173 observations

Table 1. Analytical strategy

Sample 1 includes Chinese acquired and control firms and is composed of 1,216 observations within 126 groups. Due to different acquisition years and data availability, the panel is not balanced, but each firm is observed at least one year before and one year after the acquisition. On average, four years after the acquisition event are observed. As described above, the majority of acquisitions from China in Germany took place in the manufacturing and service sector. Therefore, to obtain a more detailed analysis for these specific sectors, sample 2 only considers German target firms, which are in the manufacturing and service sector as well as their control firms. The model consists of 1,004 observations within 104 groups.

In a second step, I replicate the study with a sample of German firms, which have been acquired by Austrian firms, to rule out the general foreign acquisition effect. I have chosen Austrian acquisitions in Germany, because, in contrast with China, Austria is a developed-market country and in terms of culture, legal system, and language very close to Germany. I replicate both models, so sample 3 considers all German acquisitions by Austrian firms for which relevant information is available, in the period from 2009 to 2017. It is composed of 598 observations within 64 groups. Sample 4 only considers firms from the manufacturing and service sector and consists 346 observations within 36 groups.

1.3.3 Sample characteristics

To gain a more detailed understanding on Chinese acquisitions in Germany, insights on different sample characteristics will now be presented. First, specific deal variables, namely in which years the acquisitions in the sample took place and how much share was acquired, to analyze whether Chinese acquirers prefer full or partial acquisitions, will be shown. Second, a detailed analysis of the target firms characteristics, specifically industry sector, state, public listing, size, and age will be presented. This helps to draw conclusions, which firms are especially attractive for Chinese acquirers. Third, ownership status and public listing of the acquiring firms are examined for a better understanding which kind of Chinese acquirers are active in Germany. An analysis of the relatedness of target and acquiring firm follows.

Table 2 displays in which years the acquisitions in the sample occurred.

Year	Frequency	Cumulative Frequency	Cumulative Percentage
2008	1	1	1.59
2009	1	2	3.17
2010	1	3	4.76
2011	9	12	19.05
2012	6	18	28.57
2013	7	25	39.68
2014	10	35	55.56
2015	10	45	71.43
2016	18	63	100.00

 Table 2. Acquisitions by Acquisition Year (Sample 1)

The sample reflects the general observation that Chinese investments in Germany increased rapidly from 2011 onwards. More than half of the observed acquisitions occurred between 2014 and 2016. Thus, the sample corresponds with the general development of Chinese acquisitions in Germany, as illustrated in the introduction.

The sample has been restricted to acquisitions, where more than 50 percent have been acquired. Although in all observed acquisitions, the Chinese acquirer executes full control over the target, it is interesting to find out which strategy Chinese firms follow, specifically, whether Chinese firms tend to fully acquire their German target or if they prefer to undertake partial acquisitions. In the sample, 25 percent of the acquisitions involved the takeover of more than 50 percent up to 75 percent, while approximately 20 percent of the firms acquired more than 75 percent but less than 100 percent. Thus, more than half of the acquisitions involved the takeover to be the sole owner and do not want to deal with minority owners.

The industry sector distribution, depicted in Figure 2, shows very clearly in which industries Chinese acquirers are interested in. The distribution corresponds very much to the Chinese political agenda "Made in China 2025" (Wübbeke *et al.*, 2016; Zenglein and Holzmann, 2019). Chinese acquirers mostly targeted German firms from the manufacturing and service sectors with 54 percent and 29 percent, respectively. 11 percent of the acquisitions took place in the trade sector, while the construction, energy and transportation sectors were targeted less.



Figure 2. Target industry sector overview (sample 1)

Considering the regional distribution of the acquisitions in Germany, a regional clustering in a few states can be observed. Almost 70 percent of the Chinese acquisitions in Germany occurred in the five states North Rhine-Westphalia, Baden-Württemberg, Bavaria, Hesse, and Lower Saxony. These states generally have a strong economic importance in Germany, which can be observed by their contribution to the German gross domestic product (Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder, 2019). Thus, it is not surprising that most of the acquisitions also occurred in these states.
Previous studies on target post-acquisition firm performance concentrated on publicly listed firms due to better availability of data (Chari *et al.*, 2012; Chen, 2011). However, almost all target firms in the sample used in this study, namely 90 percent, are not publicly listed firms in form of a German limited liability company called Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung (GmbH). This legal status represents a common German corporate structure, especially for small- and medium-sized business. Small- and medium-sized business make a great contribution to Germany's economic strength: They employ more than 60 percent of Germany's workforce, are highly innovative and account for about 50 percent of gross value added (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2019). Only 10 percent of the German target firms in the sample are publicly listed. In contrast, approximately two thirds of the Chinese acquirers are publicly listed.

Table 3 displays the distribution of size of the target firms in terms of assets. In more than 70 percent of the acquisition events, the target firm exhibits less than 25 Mio. EUR in total assets. This corresponds to the high share of privately held firms.

Target assets	Frequency	Cumulative Frequency	Cumulative Percentage
< 5 Mio. EUR	13	13	20.63
> 5 Mio. EUR	22	35	55.56
> 25 Mio. EUR	10	45	71.43
> 50 Mio. EUR	6	51	80.95
>100 Mio. EUR	9	60	95.24
> 500 Mio. EUR	2	62	98.41
> 1.000 Mio EUR	1	63	100.00

 Table 3. Acquisitions by target size (sample 1)

The analysis of the target firms' age shows that the majority, namely more than 60 percent, is 25 years or younger. Approximately 25 percent are between 26 and 50 years old, while eight percent are between 51 and 100 years old. Only five firms are over 100 years.

In case of Chinese acquisitions it is also interesting to look at the ownership structure of the acquiring firms. State ownership is still extensive in China and the internationalization of Chinese firms is said to be mainly driven by a political agenda (Zenglein and Holzmann, 2019; Wübbeke *et al.*, 2016), so the conclusion that state-owned enterprises are used to reach these political goals could be suspected. However, the sample shows that only 29 percent of the acquirers are state-owned enterprises. Nonetheless, non-state-owned firms also benefit from favorable conditions generated by the state, such as access to low-cost access to capital (Williamson and Zeng, 2009; Buckley *et al.*, 2018). Additionally, it is difficult to specify a Chinese firm as private with certainty, because also privately-owned firms can be state-influenced, meaning that the government exercises some degree of control, e.g. on management appointments, business plans, or project decisions (Buckley *et al.*, 2018).

Lastly, it is examined whether the acquirer and the target firm belong to the same industry. While 37 percent of the acquisitions took place between related firms (2-digit industry classification), 63 percent occurred between firms from different industries.

1.3.4 Measures

1.3.4.1 Dependent variable: Target firm performance

In research papers, firm performance is typically operationalized through a profitability index such as ROA or Tobin's Q. Subjective measurements, e.g. managers' evaluation of success, have been used less. Tobin's Q measures the ratio between the market value of assets and its replacement value, therefore it can't be used for privately held firms, for which no measure on market value is publicly available. As the vast majority of firms in the data set involves companies not publicly listed ROA is used, which shows the percentage of how profitable a firm's assets are in generating value. ROA is calculated as net income divided by total assets. The data have been collected from the target firms' annual statements, which are provided by the German Federal Ministry of Justice and Consumer Protection on Bundesanzeiger.

The use of accounting data has several advantages: it reports actual performance, contrary to market value, which represents the investors' expectations on future performance. Second, it is more objective than managers' subjective assessment of success. Third, it is more suitable to examine the long-term impact of acquisitions on performance (Aureli, 2015).

1.3.4.2 Independent variables: Target Ownership

The variable *Target Chinese Ownership* is used as independent variable. It is coded as a dummy variable and takes the value of 1, if a German firm is majority owned by a firm from China, and 0 otherwise. The information is taken from the Dafne data base. To test how the independent variable affects the dependent variable *Target Firm Performance*, *Target Chinese Ownership* is one-year lagged, as it takes some time before it manifests its effect on the target firms. The variable *Target Austrian ownership* in the replication study is used in an analogues manner.

1.3.4.3 Control variables: Target and control attributes

In accordance with other studies, several variables that influence a firm's performance are employed for a correct understanding of the proposed relationship (Abdallah and Ismail, 2017; Cheung *et al.*, 2011; Bhagat and Bolton, 2007; Black, Jang, and Kim, 2006a; Black, Love, and Rachinsky, 2006b).

Using information from Dafne and Bundesanzeiger, the study controls for *Target Firm Size* (natural logarithm of total assets) and *Target Firm Age* (years since foundation), as larger and older firms are considered to better exploit economies of scale and scope and to own better bargaining power (Buckley *et al.*, 2014; Bertrand and Betschinger, 2011). *Target Financial Leverage* (debt/total assets) is also included as control variable, because a high ratio can indicate missing free cash-flow to invest in activities which increase firm performance (Bertrand and Betschinger, 2011). Moreover, *Target Public Listing* (dummy variable taking the value of 1, if firm is publicly listed, 0 otherwise), *Target Region* (dummy variable taking the value of 1, if firm is located in former West Germany, 0 otherwise), *Target Industry Group* (based on the two-digit North American Industry Classification System), and *Target Industry Performance* (development of target industry per year) are employed as control variables. The variables *Target Financial Leverage*, *Target Firm Size*, *Target Public Listing*, and *Target Industry Performance* are lagged by one year. Finally, year dummies are added to account for time specific effects. The detailed descriptions of all the above variables are given in Table 4.

Variable	iable Description / Information			
Dependent Variable				
Target Firm Performance	Return on assets calculated as net income divided by total assets.	Dafne and firm 's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)		
Independent Variable				
Target Chinese Ownership	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the target firm is owned (\geq 50%) by a Chinese firm and (0) otherwise.	Dafne		
Target Austrian Ownership	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the target firm is owned $(>= 50\%)$ by an Austrian firm and (0) otherwise.	Dafne		
Control Variables				
Target Financial Leverage	Calculated by dividing the firm's debt with the firm's total assets. Lagged by 1 year.	Dafne and firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)		
Target Firm Size	Natural logarithm of the firm's total assets. Lagged by 1 year.	Dafne and firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)		
Target Firm Age	Calculated as years since the firm's foundation.	Dafne		
Target Public Listing	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the firm is publicly listed and (0) otherwise. Lagged by 1 year.	Dafne		
Target Region	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the firm is located in former West Germany and (0) otherwise.	Dafne		
Target Industry Group	Two-digit North American Industry Classification System.	Amadeus		
Target Industry Performance	Calculated as development of firm's industry per year. Lagged by 1 year.	Amadeus		

Table 4. Variable description

1.3.5 Estimation method

The study employs the Feasible Generalized Least Square (FGLS) approach to estimate the equations. FGLS comes with three major advantages: the estimated coefficients are more efficient than the OLS model, there are unbiased standard errors whether the firm effect is temporary or permanent, and controlling for fixed effects through firm dummies, which would generate a degree of freedom problem, can be avoided (Petersen, 2008; Buckley *et al.*, 2014).

1.4 Results

Table 5 provides the means, standard deviations, and correlations of the variables in the main regression model (model 2).

	Mean	S.D.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
(1) Target Firm Performance	0.010	0.170	1							
(2) Target Chinese Ownership	0.174	0.379	-0.107*	1						
(3) Target Financial Leverage	0.602	0.633	-0.090*	0.008	1					
(4) Target Firm Size	16.671	1.826	0.069*	0.150*	-0.191*	1				
(5) Target Firm Age	31.349	31.785	0.061*	0.023	-0.065*	0.224*	1			
(6) Target Public Listing	0.070	0.255	-0.205*	0.113*	-0.045	0.193*	0.052*	1		
(7) Target Region	0.822	0.382	0.060*	0.065*	-0.094*	0.065*	0.122*	0.127*	1	
(8) Target Industry Performance	0.058	0.013	-0.026	-0.077*	0.006	-0.073*	0.044	0.031	-0.012	1
Note: N-1 216										

Table 5. Means, standard deviations, and correlation coefficients

Note: N=1,216. *p<0.1.

The dependent variable *Target Firm Performance* exhibits the highest correlations with the control variables *Target Public Listing* (-0.205), *Target Financial Leverage* (-0.090), and *Target Firm Size* (0.069). Moreover, some small correlations between various control variables can be observed.

Therefore, the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) values are estimated to control for potential multicollinearity problems. Table 6 shows the VIF values, which are all well below

3.0 in all models, showing that multicollinearity is not a problem in the regression analysis (Chatterjee and Hadi, 2000; O'Brien, 2007).

The hypothesis was tested using FGLS with *Target Firm Performance* as dependent variable. The results are reported in Table 6. Model 1 - Model 3 report the results for the sample of Chinese acquired firms and their matched control firms. Model 1 shows the result for the baseline model, which includes the dependent variable *Target Firm Performance* and the control variables. In Model 2, the independent variable *Target Chinese Ownership* is added. Model 3 reports the result for the subsample, which only includes manufacturing and service firms. Model 4 - Model 6 show the results for the Austrian acquired and matched control firms, accordingly.

Dependent Variable: Target Firm Performance	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Control Variables						
Target Financial Leverage	-0.047***	-0.042***	-0.037***	-0.073***	-0.072***	-0.004
	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.009)	(0.013)	(0.014)	(0.024)
Target Firm Size	0.004**	0.005**	0.006***	-0.002	-0.002	-0.016***
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.005)
Target Firm Age	0.000***	0.000***	0.000**	0.000	0.000	0.001***
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Target Public Listing	-0.080***	-0.076***	-0.088***	0.022	0.022	0.058**
	(0.014)	(0.015)	(0.020)	(0.022)	(0.021)	(0.022)
Target Region	-0.009	-0.006	-0.008	0.008	0.005	0.010
	(0.007)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.013)
Target Industry Performance	-0.241	-0.299	0.048	0.509*	0.547*	0.461
	(0.371)	(0.380)	(0.507)	(0.216)	(0.215)	(0.267)
Independent Variables						
Target Chinese Ownership		-0.020**	-0.024***			
		(0.007)	(0.007)			
Target Austrian Ownership					-0.016	-0.006
					(0.010)	(0.015)
Constant	-0.025	-0.032	-0.014	0.022	0.025	0.228*
	(0.042)	(0.043)	(0.46)	(0.081)	(0.079)	(0.095)
Year Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Industry Group Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Chi-square	192.02***	189.36***	162.35***	133.74***	129.88***	71.98***
Max. VIF	1.14	1.16	1.12	1.21	1.24	1.36
Number of Observations	1,216	1,216	1,004	598	598	346
Number of Firms	126	126	104	64	64	36

Table 6. Regression analysis

*** p<0.001; ** p<0.01; * p<0.05. Standard errors in parentheses.

Model 1 shows that *Target Financial Leverage* is negatively and significantly related to *Target Firm Performance* (b = -0.047; p = 0.000). This underlines the argument that less money is available to finance activities which improve firm performance. As expected, *Target Firm Size* (b = 0.004; p = 0.003) and *Target Firm Age* (b = 0.000; p = 0.000) are positively and significantly related to *Target Firm Performance*. The control variable *Target Public Listing* has a significant negative effect on *Target Firm Performance* (b = -0.080; p = 0.000).

Hypothesis 1 predicted that Chinese ownership has a negative effect on target firm performance. Model 2 in Table 6 tests this prediction. In this model, the coefficient for the main effect of *Target Chinese Ownership* on *Target Firm Performance* is negative and significant (b = -0.020; p = 0.005). Thus, this finding supports the argument that developed-market firms owned by emerging-market acquirers have a lower financial performance than firms, which have not been acquired by emerging-market acquirers. The effects of the statistically significant control variables remain similar to those in Model 1: *Target Firm Age* (b = -0.042; p = 0.000), *Target Firm Size* (b = -0.076; p = 0.003), *Target Firm Age* (b = -0.076; p = -0.000), and *Target Public Listing* (b = -0.076; p = -0.000). After the application of controls at different levels that could influence target firm performance, the findings of this study suggest that developed-market firms owned by emerging-market acquirers have a lower firm performance than firms, which have not been acquired to be that could influence target firm performance.

Model 3 in Table 6 shows that the effect is even more pronounced for manufacturing and service firms. In this model, the coefficient for the main effect of *Target Chinese Ownership* on target firm performance is negative and significant (b = -0.024; p = 0.001). The effects of the statistically significant control variables remain similar to those in Model 1 and Model 2: *Target Financial Leverage* (b = -0.037; p = 0.000), *Target Firm Size* (b = 0.006; p = 0.001), *Target Firm Age* (b = 0.000; p = 0.002), and *Target Public Listing* (b = -0.088; p = 0.000).

Only few studies distinguish between different origins of the acquirers, when analyzing target firm performance after acquisition. Thus, this study accounts for the general takeover effect to isolate the causal effect of the origin of the acquirer. Specifically, the results obtained with a sample of Chinese acquisitions in Germany are contrasted with a sample of Austrian acquisitions in Germany. This is suitable to compare the effect of emerging-market acquisitions on target firm performance in developed markets with the effect of developed-market acquisitions.

Model 4 in Table 6 shows the result for the baseline model for the sample of Austrian acquired firms and their control firms and includes the dependent variable *Target Firm Performance* and the control variables. Similar to the Chinese sample, the control variable *Target Financial Leverage* is negatively and significantly related to *Target Firm Performance* (b = -0.073; p = 0.000). The control variables *Target Firm Size* (b = -0.002; p = 0.456), *Target Firm Age* (b = 0.000; p = 0.754), and *Target Public Listing* (b = 0.022; p = 0.312) are not significant, contrasting the Chinese sample. However, the variable *Target Firm Performance* has a significant positive effect on the dependent variable *Target Firm Performance* (b = 0.509; p = 0.018).

Model 5 in Table 6 includes the independent variable *Target Austrian Ownership* and shows the effect of it on target firm performance. In this model, the coefficient for the main effect of *Target Austrian Ownership* on the dependent variable *Target Firm Performance* is negative but not significant (b = -0.016; p = 0.124). The effects of the statistically significant control variables remain similar to those in Model 4: *Target Financial Leverage* is negatively and significantly related to *Target Firm Performance* (b = -0.072; p = 0.000), *Target Industry Performance* is positively and significantly related

to *Target Firm Performance* (b = 0.547; p = 0.011). This finding shows that German firms, which have been acquired by Austrian firms do not exhibit a lower financial performance than firms, which have not been acquired. This result contrasts the findings for Chinese acquired firms, which do exhibit lower firm performance than non-acquired firms.

Model 6 only considers firms from the manufacturing and service sector, which have been acquired by Austrian firms as well as the matched control firm. In this model, the coefficient for the main effect of *Target Austrian Ownership* on *Target Firm Performance* is also negative but not significant (b = -0.006; p = 0.693). In contrast to the previous model, the control variables *Target Financial Leverage* (b = -0.004; p = 0.853) and *Target Industry Performance* (b = 0.461; p = 0.084) are not significant anymore. The control variables *Target Firm Size* (b = -0.016; p = 0.001), *Target Firm Age* (b = 0.001; p = 0.000), and *Target Public Listing* (b = 0.058; p = 0.007) are significant. The result shows as well that there is no significant difference in firm performance between firms, which have been acquired by Austrian acquirers and firms, which have not been acquired, in the two industry sectors manufacturing and services. This also contrasts the finding for the Chinese sample, where the negative effect of acquisition was even more pronounced for firms in the manufacturing and service sector.

1.5 Discussion and conclusion

Acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets are increasingly changing the global landscape. The phenomenon also established a vital and still ongoing discussion, whether traditional IB theories are adequate to study the internationalization of EMNEs (Chikhouni *et al.*, 2017; Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Ramamurti, 2012a; Dunning, 2006). The objective of this study is to investigate, how firm performance of a developed-market firm is affected after acquisition by an emerging-market acquirer. Although several

studies have already addressed this topic, existing research provides no consistent empirical findings (Tőkés, 2019; Buckley *et al.*, 2010, 2014; Buckley and Elia, 2011; Chari *et al.*, 2012).

By using unique panel data on Chinese acquisitions in Germany over the period 2008 until 2016, the study shows that emerging-market acquirers reduce firm performance and thus destroy value at the developed-market target firms. The analysis is also run for a subsample, which only includes target firms from the manufacturing and service sectors, and finds that the negative effect is even more pronounced. By replicating the study with acquisitions by Austrian firms in Germany, I rule out a general takeover effect and document that target firm performance is not generally destroyed after acquisition, as no statistically significant effect is observed in this sample.

The findings are contrasting Chari *et al.* (2012), who found a positive effect on target firm profitability for U.S. firms acquired by EMNEs. The findings of this study are more in line with Buckley and Elia (2011), who find no significant positive influence on target firm profitability, and Tőkés (2019), who states that there is heterogeneity in the effects of acquisitions, depending on the country of origin of the acquirer. He finds that acquirers from higher income countries compared to the target country positively influence target firm performance, measured as target productivity in his study, whereas acquirers from lower income countries do not influence target firm performance of developed-market target firms is significantly reduced after acquisition by EMNEs.

Overall, these findings possess a number of theoretical implications. First, they contrast the traditional IB theory that foreign-owned firms in general show superior performance, because foreigners import superior technology and good management practices (Gu *et al.*, 2019; Erdogan, 2013; Haskel *et al.*, 2007; Dunning, 2000). The results

of this study show that this does not necessarily hold true for developed-market firms owned by emerging-market acquirers. In fact, when studying the effect of foreign ownership on target firm performance, the heterogeneity in the foreign acquirers cannot be ignored, as also evidenced by Tőkés (2019). Researchers therefore need to incorporate the acquirer's country-of-origin in their studies. Further, these findings are consistent with existing evidence that EMNEs venture abroad and acquire foreign firms to gain strategic assets in terms of valuable brands and superior technology as well as capabilities rather than exploiting their existing intangible assets (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Alon *et al.*, 2010; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012).

These findings also have important implications for managerial practice. Emergingmarket acquisitions often raise concerns of policymakers and the public that they negatively influence target firms and thus target economy (UNCTAD, 2017; Miozzo *et al.*, 2016; Grimpe and Hussinger, 2014; Valentini, 2012). While the international press mainly focuses on single acquisitions and their consequences, this study provides a holistic picture. The results of this study show that these acquisitions indeed destroy value. Consequently, these findings imply that policymakers should consider the possible negative outcomes and try to implement a careful screening process as well as guidance for acquired firms as well as the acquirer when it comes to the post-acquisition integration.

There are limitations to this study, which offer opportunity for future research. First, the data set does not allow to examine the impact of emerging-market ownership across different developed countries. Hence, the results should be further tested by replicating this study in different economic contexts. This applies to the acquiring as well as to the acquired nation. Future studies could concentrate on acquirers from other emerging markets, such as Brazil, Russia, and India, but also on other developed-market targets, such as the United States or Great Britain, and evaluate, whether the results of this study can be generalized. Second, future research can evaluate whether the findings also hold in longer time periods. Many acquisitions from emerging-market acquirers in developed markets have just occurred recently, reducing the available amount of post-acquisition data on the target firms. Third, given that the sample predominantly consists of privately held firms, I encountered difficulty in gathering further target-specific information from public sources. Inclusion of more target attributes could extend the empirical design. Additionally, owing to the limited availability of financial information, I was unable to conduct further analysis using an alternative measure, such as sales growth, for target firm performance. Another promising avenue for future research is to investigate the effect of these acquisitions on other target performance measures, such as innovation performance or productivity. This will increase the understanding of whether negative effects on target firms extend to other performance indicators.

Finally, it is interesting to know what exactly causes the reduction in target firm performance. Performance is oftentimes linked to the skills and effectiveness of the firm's management, e.g. by Karaevli (2007), who confirms that a firms operational performance is under the control of the management. A recent study by Bilgili *et al.* (2017) confirms that executive turnover is one of the most significant factors influencing target post-acquisition performance. Therefore, the next chapter will concentrate on the development of the executive teams at the developed-market target firms and implications on target firm performance in case of acquisition by emerging-market acquirers, with the aim to be able to provide insights, which preconditions in strategic management are responsible for a negative performance outcome and which foster positive firm performance.

2 Target Top Management Team Turnover and Post-acquisition Performance in

Cross-border M&A by Emerging-Market Acquirers – an Empirical Analysis of

Chinese Acquisitions in Germany²

Abstract

This study attempts to fill a gap in literature regarding the effect of target TMT and CEO turnover in cross-border acquisition by emerging-market firms in developed markets. Building on agency theory and the resourcebased view of the firm, hypotheses are derived, how target TMT and CEO turnover affect target firm performance after acquisition. Using a sample of 45 Chinese acquisition in Germany, whereas the majority of the target firms is not publicly listed, the study finds that target TMT departure has no significant effect on target post-acquisition performance, whereas CEO departure positively influences target post-acquisition performance. The findings contribute to the emerging stream of research on emerging-market acquisitions in developed markets.

2.1 Introduction

Cross-border M&A have become a popular strategy to achieve international growth and enhance profitability. Especially, firms from emerging markets use acquisitions to gain access to strategic assets and superior resources, such as know-how and technology (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Luo and Tung, 2018, 2007). However, the empirical findings whether these acquisitions create value, in particular for target firms, are conflicting (Tőkés, 2019; Buckley and Elia, 2011; Buckley *et al.*, 2014; Chari *et al.*, 2012; Chen, 2011), leading to the inevitable question, which conditions favor value creation in cross-border M&A by EMNEs in developed markets. Prior studies have analyzed a variety of factors under which acquisitions in general have the potential to create value with inconclusive findings. A very complex interplay of different factors might be the

² Brunner C. 2020. Target Top Management Team Turnover and Post-acquisition Performance in Cross-border M&A by Emerging-Market Acquirers – an Empirical Analysis of Chinese Acquisitions in Germany: WHU School of Management, Unpublished Working Paper.

reason for these results. It may also be the case that these factors do not affect postacquisition performance directly, but rather induce changes in the management of the firm, which, in turn, affect firm performance.

Indeed, literature dating back to the 1980s has found that M&A induce long-term effects on the dynamics and performance of target top management teams (TMT): About 25 percent of the target TMT members leave within the first year after acquisition, a turnover rate three times higher compared to similar firms which have not been acquired. In the second year, an additional 15 percent depart, which equals twice the normal departure rate. Within five years, almost 60 percent of the target TMT is gone (Krug *et al.*, 2014; Walsh, 1988; Hayes, 1979). And even nine years after the acquisition event, the turnover rate has not returned to a normal level (Krug, 2003b). This fact led Krug (2003b) to the assumption that high turnover after M&A may be "[...] more than just a symptom of organizational problems – it may be an important cause." Bilgili *et al.* (2017) confirmed this assumption in their meta-analysis.

According to the resource-based view of the firm, management continuity represents an important factor of stability. Hence, TMT and CEO replacement are believed to have a negative implication on post-acquisition performance, because of major problems, such as the loss of valuable firm knowledge as well as difficulties for outsiders to adapt to the new and complex business tasks or resentment and mistrust of middle and lower management towards the new management (Ahammad *et al.*, 2016; Bilgili *et al.*, 2017; Krishnan *et al.*, 1997). An opposite argument is brought forward by agency theory and the theory of the market for corporate control. Acquisitions occur as a result of inefficient management at the target firm and can be seen as a disciplinary and efficiency-improving measure to exploit the difference between a firm's market value and its expected value under efficient management (Manne, 1965; Jensen and Ruback, 1983), hence turnover is desirable and positive. Most of the existing evidence on target TMT turnover and post-acquisition performance is based on samples of publicly listed U.S. firms, which have been targets to domestic acquisitions. Using M&A samples from the 1980s, researchers found that retaining target managers has a positive effect on post-acquisition performance. Hence, target executives are considered an important resource, especially their experience and knowledge (Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a; Krishnan *et al.*, 1997). However, more recent studies found no evidence that managerial retention benefits post-acquisition performance in domestic as well as overseas acquisitions (Devine *et al.*, 2016; Demirtas and Simsir, 2016). Quite the opposite: the researchers found that there is a negative link between TMT and CEO retention and post-acquisition performance across domestic and cross-border acquisitions. Consequently, there must be further to the relationship and surrounding conditions need to be taken into account, making additional research is necessary.

Different from these extant studies, this study specifically investigates the effect of target TMT and CEO turnover on target post-acquisition performance following acquisitions by EMNEs in developed markets. In my opinion, this is a very interesting question, as acquisitions by EMNEs have become increasingly important in the last decade (UNCTAD, 2018, 2017) and are distinctive in at least three ways: First, EMNEs are in particular attracted to target firms with superior technology and knowledge and seek to access these assets. Second, cultural differences will most likely play a more prominent role than in acquisitions between developed-market firms. Third, EMNEs are increasingly seen critical in developed markets, as for example shown by the debate on Chinese investments in German firms (Hanemann and Huotari, 2017). Hence, there is still a lack of profound theoretical and empirical knowledge on the effect of target TMT and CEO turnover on target post-acquisition performance in the case of emerging-market acquisitions in developed markets. In addition to analyzing the effect of TMT turnover in general, this study will look into the

role of CEO turnover, as they represent key figures in the TMT and probably the firms' most influential persons and are ultimately accountable for achieving growth in sales, profitability, and market share (Finkelstein, Hambrick, and Cannella, 2009). Moreover, as prior research has also examined how board characteristics enable or hinder value creation in cross-border M&A (Datta, Basuil, and Agarwal, 2020), this study will investigate how CEO origin, namely the appointment of an acquiring firm's manager, modifies the relationship between target CEO turnover and target post-acquisition firm performance in case of emergingmarket acquisitions in developed markets.

Therefore, this study analyzes the following research questions: (1) How does target TMT turnover influence target post-acquisition firm performance in case of emergingmarket acquisitions in developed markets? (2) How does target CEO turnover influence target post-acquisition firm performance in case of emerging-market acquisitions in developed markets? (3) What is the moderating role of appointing an acquiring firm's manager as target CEO?

To answer these research questions, this study draws on agency theory and the resource-based view of the firm.

I explore the effect empirically by using a unique data set of German firms which have been acquired by firms from China between 2007 and 2016. This is a particularly suitable setting. China has been the major source of emerging-market overseas M&A, accounting for around 65 percent in recent years (UNCTAD, 2018, 2019, 2020). The dramatic surge in Chinese overseas M&A is attributed to several reforms instigated by the Chinese government (Du and Boateng, 2015). In Germany, the presence of Chinese acquirers increased rapidly from 2011 onward, reaching its maximum in 2017, when the country was the largest recipient of Chinese investment in Europe with USD 13.7 billion (Ernst & Young, 2019). German firms dominate many medium and high-tech industries, thus offering Chinese firms a suitable location to enhance their own competitiveness (Wübbeke *et al.*, 2016). This shows the immense growth and relevance of Chinese outward FDI in Germany and highlights the timeliness of the study. Thus, this research setting allows for a rich context to analyze the hypotheses.

In addressing these research questions, this study contributes to the literature in the following ways: First, it specifically focuses on cross-border acquisitions by emerging market firms in developed markets, hence especially considering the boundary conditions in this context. Additionally, contrasting the majority of extant research, this study is the first to include a sample with a majority of not publicly listed firms. Not publicly listed firms account for the majority of acquisition targets, but so far, empirical studies mostly rely on samples of publicly listed firms because of better data availability. However, ownership differences may influence target turnover and subsequent performance in acquisitions, as privately held firms generally cannot be acquired without approval by the owner, who then is in a better position to negotiate the terms and conditions. My comprehensive data set includes manually collected information from various data sources, thus allowing to study this special setting. Third, I rely on acquisitions that took place rather recently between 2007 and 2016. Previous studies, which examined the relationship between turnover patterns in acquisitions and subsequent performance mostly rely on data from the 1980s. This allows to study whether these findings can be extended to more recent acquisitions.

Overall, this study finds that target TMT turnover has no significant effect on target post-acquisition performance, whereas target CEO turnover positively affects target post-acquisition performance. The appointment of an acquiring firm's manager as new target CEO does not weaken the positive relationship between target CEO turnover and target post-acquisition performance.

This paper is structured as follows: The next section assesses existing research and analyzes the theoretical background, from which hypotheses are derived. Section 3 describes the data set, methodology, and variables. Section 4 presents the results of the empirical analysis. Section 5 discusses the findings in light of theory and practice.

2.2 Theoretical background and hypotheses

2.2.1 Role of the top management

"[...] if we want to explain why organizations do the things they do, or, in turn, why they perform the way they do, we must examine the people at the top." (Hambrick, 1989)

Organizational outcomes are strongly dependent on the decisions of a small group of people at the top of the organization, who have the overall responsibility for the firm. At the individual level, CEOs are the most researched firm member. They represent key figures and probably the firms' most influential persons and are ultimately accountable for achieving growth in sales, profitability, and market share (Finkelstein *et al.*, 2009). At the group level, TMTs are oftentimes the focus of academia, which are generally defined as a small group of executives at the top of an organization, who have the overall responsibility for the organization. The TMT is not only in charge of directing the organization's course, but also responsible for formulating a shared purpose as well as developing an organizational culture including collective values (Finkelstein *et al.*, 2009). CEOs as well as other TMT members have unique knowledge of the firm and possess capabilities, which are oftentimes critical for the long-term success and make them difficult to replace (Devine *et al.*, 2016; Krug *et al.*, 2014; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a). Considering their essential role, it is likely that the departure of a CEO or other TMT member has a considerable influence on the firm's performance (Bilgili *et al.*, 2017).

CEO as well as TMT succession is inevitable for every firm and the decision to choose a new manager or retain an existing one is a question with far-reaching consequences, so significant research put an emphasis on this area during the last decade. The core question is: Does CEO respectively TMT member succession benefit or harm organizational performance? To answer this blunt question in a subtle way, researchers need to take the conditions into account, which surround the succession event, such as the circumstances that influence and surround the predecessor's departure, called precipitating context, the selection process of the new CEO, as well as the characteristics, such as successor origin, and actions of the successor (Karaevli and Zajac, 2013; Finkelstein *et al.*, 2009; Karaevli, 2007). Karaevli (2016) found that inside CEOs are more often promoted in stable corporate environments, e.g. when the former CEO retires, whereas outsider CEOs are preferred in case of dismissal of prior CEO and low firm performance.

Several reasons can lead to the departure of a CEO or other TMT member. First, personal reasons such as sickness, retirement, death, or voluntary leave during tenure can cause the need for CEO or TMT member succession. Academia, however, is more interested in other causes for departure than the ones named above, with a special emphasis on the dismissal of CEOs or TMT members. To understand the underlying reasons of dismissal, research focused on several precipitating contexts, particularly organizational performance, varying agency conditions, organizational conditions and external environment, as well as the predecessor's characteristics (Finkelstein *et al.*, 2009). Failure to achieve performance targets is probably the main reason for CEOs to lose their jobs, as the person at the very top needs to take the sole responsibility for not meeting targets. Hence, the main goal of CEO change at a firm is to keep or enhance profitability and realize performance goals.

2.2.2 Acquisitions and target TMT turnover

The departure of target CEOs or TMT members after acquisition events represents a special case of executive turnover. Owing to the substantial role of the CEO and the TMT, it is not surprising that researchers studying M&A related topics also have an increased interest in the role of executives as well as executive turnover to explain acquisition outcomes (Bilgili *et al.*, 2017; Krug *et al.*, 2014; Krug and Hegarty, 1997; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993b, 1993a; Walsh and Ellwood, 1991; Walsh, 1989, 1988). Two opposing theoretical perspectives have been adopted to explain the link between acquisitions and target executive turnover as well as the consequences on target post-acquisition performance.

Until the 1990s, agency theory and the market for corporate control theory were the driving theories to explain the rationale for acquisitions. Accordingly, outside firms try to take over control of firms, where executives fail to improve poor performance (Manne, 1965). Acquisitions are initiated by dissatisfied shareholders selling shares because they believe the management can't maximize value. At the same time, outsiders believe to have the capability to correct the poor firm performance by reorganizing or redeploying the organization's assets, such as replacing the incompetent CEO or TMT to improve efficiency and thereby create value. Thus, acquisitions occur as a result of inefficient management at the target firm and can be seen as a disciplinary and efficiency-improving measure to exploit the difference between a firm's market value and its expected value under efficient management (Manne, 1965; Jensen and Ruback, 1983). This theoretical approach led many to view post-acquisition target CEO and TMT turnover as a reasonable, even desired, consequence and supporters of this theory hence propose increased target CEO respectively TMT turnover after acquisitions and a positive effect of the increased target executive turnover on target post-acquisition performance (Demirtas and Simsir, 2016; Walsh, 1988).

Indeed, empirical studies predominantly document higher TMT turnover rates at acquisition targets compared to non-acquired control firms (Hayes, 1979; Walsh, 1988, 1989; Walsh and Ellwood, 1991; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993b). Later studies focused on target TMT turnover in cross-border acquisitions, confirming the previous results of significantly higher turnover rates in firms, which have been acquired compared to non-acquired firms and showing even higher TMT turnover rates in foreign acquisitions compared to domestic acquisitions (Davis and Nair, 2003; Krug and Hegarty, 1997; Krug and Nigh, 1998). No significant difference in target TMT turnover rate could be observed for foreign acquisitions of U.S. firms from other "Anglo" countries (UK, Canada, and Australia) compared to acquisitions from "non-Anglo" countries, however only five acquisitions from emerging-market acquirers were included in the sample (Krug and Hegarty, 1997). Table 7 summarizes the results of these studies.

Table 7. Prior findings on cumulative target TMT turnover following acquisitions

C4	Daniad	Gentert	Sample size	Year(s) following acquisition		
Study	Period	Context	target firms	1	5	
Walsh (1988)	1975-1979	domestic	50	25%	59%	
Walsh (1989) Walsh and Ellwood (1991)	1975-1979	domestic	113 102	26%	61%	
Cannella and Hambrick (1993b)	1980-1984	domestic	97	27%	67%	
Krug and Hegarty (1997)	1986-1988	domestic + cross-border	270	20% 21%	69% 75%	
Krug and Nigh (1998)	1986-1988	domestic + cross-border	264	22% 22%	69% 76%	
Davis and Nair (2003)	1987	domestic + cross-border	72	32% 37%	44% 65%	
Findings of this study	2007-2016	cross-border	45	41%	91%	

These findings led to an increased interest in the underlying causes of postacquisition TMT turnover. Early studies focused on a variety of merger characteristics, namely aspects of the negotiation process, such as hostile vs. friendly negotiations, type of payment, or premium paid, without being able to prove evidence on the influence of these aspects on increased turnover except hostility, which seemed to cause higher turnover rates (Walsh, 1989). Other research examined industry characteristics, in particular relatedness (Walsh, 1988, 1989) and firm characteristics, such as poor pre-acquisition performance (Cannella and Hambrick, 1993b), to explain higher than normal turnover rates following acquisitions. The study by Krug and Nigh (2001) found that the majority of TMT members departs from their positions after the acquisition event involuntarily. Roughly one third of the target executives was terminated, in foreign acquisition with 35 percent even significantly more than in domestic acquisitions (24 percent), whereas the majority of terminations was not caused because the acquisitions eliminated positions, but because acquirers aimed to appoint their own executives. Another third reported, they left because they felt alienated and no longer valued, whereas national cultural differences were identified as one key reason for the negative perceptions. Although strictly speaking these are voluntary exits, these departures would probably not have happened absent the acquisitions events, hence they are classified as involuntary departures. The other third departed voluntarily for reasons not related to the acquisition, e.g. retirement or personal issues.

Using the concept of relative standing, or social status, to explain executive departures, researchers found that turnover rate will be high, if acquisitions result in low relative standing for the acquired TMT, which means that target executives feel inferior or the acquirers see themselves as superior. Hence, target executives might leave voluntarily as a result of lost job status, lost autonomy, or just because they have general negative perceptions about the professional and personal effects of the acquisition (Bilgili *et al.*, 2017; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993b). Krishnan *et al.* (1997) focus on complementarity of TMTs and found that complementarity, measured as differences in functional backgrounds between the target and the acquiring executives, is negatively related to TMT turnover among

acquired executives. Other approaches put psychological attributes into the foreground (Krug *et al.*, 2014). According to the upper echelons theory, managers base their decisions on personalized interpretations, which are influenced by their individual backgrounds, values, and experiences (Bilgili et al., 2017; Hambrick, 2007). Consequently, an acquirer's choice to retain or replace managers is influenced by his interpretation of the existing management. By replacing target management acquirers try to reduce resistance during the integration process, minimize uncertainties, and raise their perception of control (Walsh, 1989). Especially in cross-border acquisitions, psychological attributes seem to play a prominent role, as communication problems and cultural differences have a particular potential to cause conflicts between acquirer and target. Therefore, in this context, as illustrated by the higher target TMT turnover rates in cross-border acquisitions, acquirers try to minimize conflicts by replacing the target management, possibly even with own expatriates (Sekiguchi, Bebenroth, and Li, 2011). However, in this case, the target middle management and employees can develop feelings of resentment, because they feel characterized as being not capable and passed over by their new parent (Karaevli and Zajac, 2013; Karaevli, 2007).

2.2.3 Target TMT turnover and post-acquisition performance

During the early 1990s, the then prevailing agency theory and the market for corporate control theory were challenged, as researchers found that target firms in general outperform their competitors before acquisition, leading to the conclusion that firms are not acquired because of their not-satisfying poor performance, but rather because they possess assets that the acquirers value. Therefore, based on the resource-based view of the firm, an alternative approach is brought forward: the target TMT is considered as a valuable resource, which provides inside information, possesses firm-specific and difficult to imitate knowledge and competences, and can add unique value when being retained (Krug *et al.*, 2014; Walsh and Kosnik, 1993; Walsh and Ellwood, 1991), suggesting a negative link between target TMT turnover and target post-acquisition performance. The negative effect of target TMT turnover is enhanced by difficulties for new outside managers to adapt to the new and complex business tasks or resentment and mistrust of middle and lower management towards the new management, as well as disrupted stakeholder relationships and delayed or terminated strategic projects (Bilgili *et al.*, 2017; Ahammad *et al.*, 2016; Karaevli, 2007; Krishnan *et al.*, 1997; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a). Studies on the relationship between target TMT turnover and post-acquisition performance, relying on M&A data of publicly listed U.S. target firms acquired in the 1980s, provide evidence that target TMT replacement has a negative effect on post-acquisition performance, suggesting that management continuity represents an important factor for firm success (Krishnan *et al.*, 1997; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a).

On the contrary, in line with agency theory and market for corporate control theory, studies using data of more recent acquisition events found no evidence that target TMT retention respectively CEO retention benefits post-acquisition performance. Quite the opposite: the researchers found that there is a negative link between managerial retention and post-acquisition performance across domestic and cross-border acquisitions, suggesting that retaining target executives in fact impedes target post-acquisition performance, possibly caused by reduced control or conflicts with retained managers (Devine *et al.*, 2016; Demirtas and Simsir, 2016). Taking an institutional approach one exception was identified, namely that managerial retention becomes more important to post-acquisition performance in less developed countries (Devine *et al.*, 2016). Bilgili *et al.* (2017) conducted a meta-analysis and found that target TMT turnover negatively affects target post-acquisition performance. Whereas

the departure of the CEO may give an important signal to replace inefficient leaders and symbolize strategic change, the dismissal of a large proportion of TMT members can rather cause too much disruption and loss of valuable capital.

Hence, the existing empirical results lead to the suggestion that the link between target TMT retention and target post-acquisition performance is not as straightforward as proposed by the earlier studies of Krishnan *et al.* (1997) and Cannella and Hambrick (1993a), which relied on samples of domestic U.S. acquisitions of publicly listed firms, but that it depends on the context whether retaining or replacing management contributes to acquisition success, which is supported by the findings of the more recent studies (Krug *et al.*, 2014; Demirtas and Simsir, 2016; Devine *et al.*, 2016). Consequently, there is a research call to account for different contexts and boundary conditions, especially further research considering cross-border acquisitions as well as privately held firms (Krug *et al.*, 2014). This study follows the proposed research avenue and puts a focus on cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets, which occurred recently between 2007 and 2016. Additionally, the majority of the target firms are not publicly listed firms.

Besides the arguments brought forward by agency theory and resource-based view of the firm, two factors should be particularly considered, when studying the effect of target TMT turnover on target post-acquisition performance in case of cross-border acquisitions of EMNEs in developed markets: acquisition motivation and internationalization process of EMNEs.

In case of emerging-market acquisitions in developed-markets, the strategic assetseeking motive stands in the foreground, which describes that EMNEs aim to access superior assets, such as knowledge and technologies, through the acquisition (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Luo and Tung, 2018, 2007). Thus, agency theory and market for corporate control theory provide a fairly weak argument in this setting. Instead, in line with the resource-based view of the firm, acquirers seem to value the achievements of the target TMT, appreciating their competences, idiosyncratic knowledge, and capabilities. Adequate replacement is considered difficult, because newly appointed managers oftentimes lack the knowledge and experience to continue where predecessors have left, so the loss of TMT members will probably negatively influence postacquisition performance (Krug and Nigh, 2001; Krishnan *et al.*, 1997; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a).

Typically, firms enter foreign markets country-by-country, beginning with those closest in terms of cultural distance, as stated by the Uppsala internationalization process model. Characteristically, at the beginning, engagement only involves exporting, then in the second step, with increased sales, setting up own sales subsidiaries, and in the final step the establishment of own production facilities to overcome trade barriers (Johanson and Vahlne, 1977). In contrast, firms from emerging markets internationalize very rapidly and, instead of entering country-by-country, see a highly integrated world as their market right from the beginning (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Guillén and García-Canal, 2009). Hence, EMNEs are likely to be relatively unfamiliar with doing business in developed markets in general and tend to have few experiences with acquisition of developed-market targets. As a consequence, the acquirers most likely lack the experience to successfully integrate new executives, while the acquisition event itself already represents a disruption, especially for the target firm, and the dismissal of target executives would lead to further discontinuity instead of needed constancy (Bilgili *et al.*, 2017; Krug, 2003a; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a).

Considering the distinctive features, namely acquisition motivation and internationalization process, of cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets, a negative relationship between target TMT turnover and postacquisition performance is proposed:

Hypothesis 1a. In cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets, there is a negative relation between target TMT turnover and target post-acquisition performance.

Acknowledging the target TMT's key role and overall responsibility for the firm, earlier studies have mainly focused on the effect of target TMT turnover on post-acquisition performance (Devine *et al.*, 2016; Krishnan *et al.*, 1997; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a), whereas CEO turnover and its effect on post-acquisition performance has received less interest so far (Bilgili *et al.*, 2017; Demirtas and Simsir, 2016). However, there could be a distinct difference in the effect of target CEO turnover on target post-acquisition performance compared to target TMT turnover in general. CEO turnover can represent a way of demonstrating organizational and strategic change as well as the disruption of established practices and norms, thereby positively affecting post-acquisition performance, while the larger proportion of the TMT stays on board to avoid too much commotion and disruption (Bilgili *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, this study theorizes that there is a positive relationship between target CEO turnover and post-acquisition performance:

Hypothesis 1b. In cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets, there is a positive relation between target CEO turnover and target post-acquisition performance.

2.2.4 The moderating effect of appointing an acquiring firm's manager as target CEO on target post-acquisition performance

Moreover, as prior research has also examined how board characteristics enable or hinder value creation in cross-border M&A (Datta *et al.*, 2020), this study will investigate how CEO origin, namely the decision to appoint an acquiring firm's manager as CEO has a moderating effect on the relationship between target CEO turnover and target post-acquisition performance in the context of cross-border acquisitions by EMNEs in developed markets. This study will build upon the insights from the literature on subsidiary-staffing decisions in multinational enterprises and cultural distance.

In case of a vacant target CEO position after the acquisition event, the acquiring firm as the new shareholder has to decide, if the target CEO position should be staffed with an acquiring firm's manager. Staffing decisions for the new subsidiary are an important lever for acquiring firms in cross-border acquisitions that have implications on power and control exertion, knowledge transfer, as well as achieving legitimacy in the host country, and the ability to deal with subsidiary employees (Singh *et al.*, 2019), and hence also subsidiary respectively target firm performance as a whole (Gong, 2003). An important dimension in this decision represents the choice between headquarter managers and host country nationals (Gong, 2003).

EMNEs still experience difficulty in bridging cultural differences between host and home country nationals (Luo and Tung, 2018). Prior research has identified cultural distance as an important factor influencing staffing decisions, documenting that in culturally distant countries firms are more likely to rely on expatriate staffing (Gaur, Delios, and Singh, 2007; Luo and Tung, 2018; Gong, 2003). However, empirical findings provide a mixed picture, ranging from a negative relationship between subsidiary staffing with parent country nationals and subsidiary performance (Singh *et al.*, 2019; Kaeppeli, 2009; Gaur *et al.*, 2007) to a positive relationship (Sekiguchi *et al.*, 2011; Gong, 2003).

Expatriate managers are generally considered as strong followers of the headquarters' strategies, because of their familiarity with the firm goals, practices, and policies. Hence, their appointment is seen as the most efficient measure to exercise control

in foreign subsidiaries and reduce agency costs through direct monitoring (Gong, 2003). However, problems can arise due to their lower level of commitment for the subsidiary, low understanding of the host country environment, and difficulties with adjusting with host country employees (Singh *et al.*, 2019). In contrast, local managers are valued for their knowledge on the economic, social, and political environment of the host country and are considered more "local-oriented" with a high effort for their local subsidiary compared to their effort for the multinational firm as a whole (Rickley and Karim, 2018; Reade, 2001).

Chinese culture, specifically managerial culture, is very different from the Western one (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018). Because of China's long independent development, Chinese new multinationals have just started to gain experience in international business during the last two decades and Chinese managers are not as experienced in markets outside Asia, Europe in particular. Although their internationalization took place very rapidly, many Chinese managers still lack the proper infrastructure and knowledge to manage an acquisition and particularly the integration process profitably (Li, Li, and Wang, 2016; Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018). In particular, the cultural dimension of individualismcollectivism needs to be taken into account. Managers in individualistic cultures often strive for self-achievement, which is perceived as harmed when their firm is acquired, suggesting them that they failed in successfully managing their business, having to surrender their power to the acquirers (Zhu, Zhu, and Ding, 2020). As a result, mistrust and misunderstanding can lead to conflicts between the expatriate CEO and other TMT members, target middle management, and employees. Target managers might be less willing to cooperate, if an acquiring firm's manager is appointed as CEO. They might also feel a threat to their position, if they share their knowledge on the firm and the local market with the acquirer (Zhu et al., 2020). A recent study found that an individualistic host country

culture has a significant negative effect on the post-acquisition performance of Chinese acquirers (Zhu *et al.*, 2020).

Moreover, the Chinese company landscape has especially been shaped by stateowned enterprises and government-created advantages, such as lending money via stateowned banks or by negotiating deals with other governments (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018). Thus, Chinese managers are not very familiar with working under differing institutional conditions. Buckley *et al.* (2018) also question, if Chinese firms as a group already exhibit the management capabilities needed for successful international expansion, which could also the reason, why emerging-market investor like to retain or hire overseas managers.

Particularly in the post-acquisition context, new business strategies, processes, as well as communication channels need to be defined and it is essential to build up a strong partnership and trust between the target and acquiring firm. This needs a lot of expertise, knowledge, and tactfulness not to affront target employees. Thus, it helps to work efficiently and reduce mistakes as well as misunderstandings, if the target CEO is trusted by the employees and knows the national culture as well as the work culture and is aware of the local regulations, e.g. concerning taxes or labor law.

Based on consideration of the arguments above, it is expected that the positive effect of target CEO turnover on target post-acquisition performance will be weaker, if an acquiring firm's manager is appointed as CEO:

Hypothesis 2. The positive relationship between target CEO turnover and target post-acquisition performance in cross-border acquisition by emerging-market firms in developed markets is weaker, if an acquiring firm's manager is appointed as CEO at the target firm.

Figure 3 and Figure 4 summarize the proposed direct effects (H1a, H1b) and interaction effect (H2) of target TMT respectively CEO turnover on target post-acquisition firm performance in case of acquisitions by emerging-market acquirers in developed markets.

Figure 3. Conceptual model target TMT turnover



Figure 4. Conceptual model target CEO turnover and moderating effect



2.3 Sample and methodology

2.3.1 Sample construction

The data selection process took place in several steps. First, I collected data on M&A from the SDC data base by Thomson Reuters which has been widely used in earlier studies (Ben-Amar and Andre, 2006; Masulis *et al.*, 2007; Wang and Xie, 2009; Ellis *et al.*, 2017; Bhagat *et al.*, 2011). I took all acquisitions into account where the acquiring nation is China and the target nation is Germany up to the year 2016. Before 2000, Chinese FDI was strictly controlled by the Chinese government and only very few acquisitions took place (Buckley *et al.*, 2018). From 2000 onwards policies towards FDI have been liberalized (Buckley *et al.*, 2018).

al., 2008). In total, SDC data base reports 131 acquisitions with these premises. Furthermore, I added 35 acquisitions from this period which have not been included in the SDC data base, but on the German website Investment Plattform M&A China/Deutschland as well as another 82 acquisitions reported in a study by SMB consultants (SMB Consultants, 2017). I validated all data entries with the ownership data reported in Dafne. Altogether, I was able to identify 248 Chinese acquisitions in Germany through this process. The final data set is the result of a careful screening process: 49 transactions were excluded, as these could be identified as rumored deals, which have not been completed, and asset deals. By limiting this study to acquisitions, where more than 50 percent of the target firm was acquired, I ensure that the study only analyzes acquisitions, where the target after the completion of the acquisition is fully controlled by the acquirer (Bertrand and Betschinger, 2011; Wang and Xie, 2009). This reduced the sample by further 29 acquisitions.

Second, I collected additional firm-level panel data for both the acquiring and the target firms from Dafne and the internet. Moreover, I downloaded the target firms' financial statements from the German data base Bundesanzeiger to observe the firms for several years before and after the acquisition. I had to discard 99 acquisitions, where no data was available, as the German commercial code allows for size-related exemptions for certain disclosure requirements, e.g. revenue. Additionally, I had to drop 26 more acquisitions, because not enough information on the Chinese acquirer could be obtained.

Hence, a refined sample of 45 acquisitions was produced, where firm-level data on the target as well as the acquiring firm was available. Information on target and acquiring firms can be found in the appendix (Table 21). The acquisitions occurred between 2007 and 2016 in the six industry sectors manufacturing, service, trade, energy, construction, and transportation, whereas the first two account for approximately 80 percent. The sample is composed of 45 firms and 181 observations. Due to different acquisition years and data availability, the panel is not balanced, but each firm is observed at least two years after the acquisition. On average, four years after the acquisition event are observed.

2.3.2 Sample characteristics

As a different sample is utilized than in chapter 1 due to data unavailability for the Chinese acquirers, first an overview on the most important characteristics will be given. As illustrated in Table 8, the sample reflects the general observation that Chinese acquisitions in Germany have increased rapidly from 2011 onwards. More than half of the observed acquisitions occurred between 2014 and 2016. Thus, the sample corresponds with the general development of Chinese acquisitions in Germany, as explained in the introduction.

m 1		n 1	• • • •	1	• • • • •				<u>۱</u>
101		K A	AAIIIAITIANA	h 17 6	0001110111	ION TIOOP	loomn		•
1 41	лс	D. A	ACUUISILIUIIS.	1) V 4	acumsnu	ULL VEAL	USAIIIU	NC 4	
_		· · · -		~, -			(~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		,

Year	Frequency	Cumulative Frequency	Cumulative Percentage
2007	1	1	2.22
2008	2	3	6.67
2009	1	4	8.89
2010	0	4	8.89
2011	6	10	22.22
2012	5	15	33.33
2013	4	19	42.22
2014	8	27	60.00
2015	9	36	80.00
2016	9	45	100.00

The sample has been restricted to acquisitions, where more than 50 percent have been acquired. Although in all observed acquisitions, the Chinese acquirer executes full control over the target, it is interesting to find out which strategy Chinese acquirers follow. Specifically, whether Chinese firms tend to fully acquire their German target or if they prefer to undertake partial acquisitions. In the sample, 18 percent of the acquisitions involved the takeover of more than 50 percent but less than 75 percent, while approximately 22 percent of the firms acquired more than 75 percent but less than 100 percent. 60 percent of the

acquisitions involved the takeover of all target shares. This indicates that Chinese acquirers favor to be the sole owner and do not want to deal with minority owners.

The industry sector distribution again shows very clearly that Chinese acquirers are interested in the core industries named by the Chinese political agenda "Made in China 2025" (Wübbeke *et al.*, 2016; Zenglein and Holzmann, 2019). Chinese acquirers mostly targeted German firms from the manufacturing and service sectors with 51 percent and 29 percent, respectively. 11 percent of the acquisitions took place in the trade sector, while the energy, construction, and transportation sectors were targeted less.

Considering the regional distribution of the acquisitions in Germany, a regional clustering in a few states can be observed. Approximately 75 percent of the Chinese acquisitions in Germany considered in this sample occurred in the six states North Rhine-Westphalia, Baden-Württemberg, Hesse, Lower Saxony, Saxony, and Bavaria. These states have a strong economic importance in Germany, which can be observed by their contribution to the German gross domestic product (Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder, 2019). Thus, it is not surprising that most of the acquisitions also occurred in this states.

In contrast to most previous studies on target post-acquisition performance, which mainly used data on publicly listed target firms due to better data availability (Chari *et al.*, 2012; Chen, 2011), this sample includes 84 percent not publicly listed target firms in form of a German limited liability company called Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung (GmbH). In contrast, 89 percent of the Chinese acquirers are publicly listed.

Table 9 displays the distribution of size of the target firms in terms of assets. In more than 65 percent of the acquisition events, the target firm exhibits less than 25 Mio. EUR in total assets. This corresponds to the high share of not publicly listed firms.

Target assets	Frequency	Cumulative Frequency	Cumulative Percentage
< 5 Mio. EUR	6	6	13.33
> 5 Mio. EUR	15	21	46.67
> 25 Mio. EUR	9	30	66.67
> 50 Mio. EUR	4	34	75.56
> 100 Mio. EUR	8	42	93.33
> 500 Mio. EUR	2	44	97.78
> 1,000 Mio. EUR	1	45	100.00

 Table 9. Acquisitions by target size (sample 2)

The analysis of the age of the acquired firms in this sample shows that the majority, almost 75 percent, is 25 years or younger, while roughly 7 percent are between 51 and 100 years old. Only 5 percent of the firms are older than 100 years.

In accordance with the sample in the previous chapter an analysis of the ownership status of the acquiring Chinese firms in the sample used in this chapter was conducted. The distribution is similar and 69 percent of the acquiring firms are state-owned.

Lastly, it is also examined for this sample whether the acquirer and the target firm come from the same industry. With 51 percent, half of the acquisitions in the sample occurred between firms from the same industry (2-digit industry classification).

Additionally to these general sample characteristics, specific information on TMT and CEO turnover at the German target firms after acquisition by Chinese firms are now introduced.

In a first step, the TMT turnover in the sample is examined. This analysis gives a more detailed understanding, whether the existing empirical findings, which document high target TMT turnover following acquisitions by foreign acquirers (Krug and Hegarty, 1997) also apply to emerging-market acquirers conducting acquisitions in developed markets.

Figure 5 shows the cumulative target TMT and CEO turnover for the five years following the acquisition event.



Figure 5. Cumulative target TMT and CEO turnover

As the acquisition events took place in different years between 2007 and 2016, the available post-acquisition timespan varies for the acquired firms. As a number of acquisitions occurred rather recently, not all firms can be observed for the total of five years following the acquisition event. Therefore, to calculate the cumulative target TMT turnover per year, only those firms are considered, where information is available or can be extrapolated. Extrapolation is used in cases, where all target TMT members employed one year prior to the acquisition event have already left the firm, as in this case the firm-specific cumulative target turnover has already reached the maximum of 100 percent for the firm under investigation. Table 10 indicates, how many firms are considered in the respective years.

This analysis reveals that already in the year of acquisition (year 0) 14.4 percent of the target TMT leave the target firm. In the year after the acquisition (year 1) already more than one-third of the target TMT is not employed by the target firm anymore. 32 out of 45
target firms could be observed for a time period of five years after the acquisition event. Cumulative turnover of the original target TMT has increased to 91.1 percent in year 5.

Table 10. Sample size cumulative target TMT turnover

Year	0	1	2	3	4	5
Cumulative target TMT turnover	14.4%	41.1%	50.0%	64.6%	78.1%	91.1%
Firms	45	45	45	40	35	32

These findings correspond with earlier studies which also documented high target TMT turnover following acquisition events, as shown in Table 7. In comparison, these results for target TMT turnover one year after the acquisition event represent, next to the findings of Davis and Nair (2003) for cross-border acquisitions, one of the highest turnover rates documented so far. With a cumulative target TMT turnover of 91.1 percent after five years, the results of this study represent the highest value for this time period. Earlier studies analyzing cross-border acquisitions have already found higher turnover rates for these acquisitions compared to domestic acquisitions as well (Davis and Nair, 2003; Krug and Hegarty, 1997; Krug and Nigh, 1998).

The considerable increase compared to earlier studies for the 5-year timespan could be caused by several reasons: first, the time period under investigation could be the reason for the increase, as earlier studies used samples from the 1980s, so it is possible that turnover has increased in general for acquisitions occurring in the 2000s and 2010s. Second, this study specifically investigates acquisitions by Chinese firms in Germany, representing overseas acquisitions by EMNEs in developed markets. This constellation could also be the cause for higher target TMT turnover rates than in other cross-border acquisitions not specifically distinguishing the origin of the acquirer. Because the sample only includes 32 firms for the 5-year timespan, the results should be reviewed when information is available for more firms. Table 11 reports the cumulative target CEO turnover. The analysis shows that already in the year of acquisition (year 0) 13.3 percent of the target CEOs leave the target firm. In the year after the acquisition (year 1) already more than one-third of the target CEOs is not employed by the target firm anymore. 34 out of 45 target firms could be observed for a time period of five years after the acquisition event. Cumulative turnover of the original target CEO has increased to 88.2 percent in year 5.

Table 11. Sample size cumulative target CEO turnover

Year	0	1	2	3	4	5
Cumulative target CEO turnover	13.3%	37.8%	46.7%	62.5%	77.8%	88.2%
Firms	45	45	45	40	36	34

2.3.3 Measures

2.3.3.1 Dependent variable: Target firm performance

In research papers, firm performance is typically operationalized through a profitability index such as return on assets or Tobin's Q. Subjective measurements, e.g. managers' evaluation of success, have been used less. Tobin's Q measures the ratio between the market value of assets and its replacement value, therefore it can't be used for privately held firms, for which no measure on market value is publicly available. As the vast majority of firms in the data set involves companies not publicly listed ROA is used, which shows the percentage of how profitable a firm's assets are in generating value. ROA is calculated as net income divided by total assets. The data have been collected from the target firms' annual statements which are provided by the German Federal Ministry of Justice and Consumer Protection on Bundesanzeiger.

The use of accounting data has several advantages: it reports actual performance, contrary to market value, which represents the investors' expectations on future

performance. Second, it is more objective than managers' subjective assessment of success. Third, it is more suitable to examine the long-term impact of acquisitions on performance (Aureli, 2015).

2.3.3.2 Independent variables: Cumulative target TMT turnover and Cumulative target CEO turnover

The variable Cumulative Target TMT Turnover is used as independent variable and captures the percentage of target TMT members that have been employed by the target firm in the year prior to the acquisition, who departed the firm during the time since the acquisition event until the year under investigation. This is similar to the approach used by earlier studies (Devine et al., 2016; Krishnan et al., 1997). As TMT characteristics are increasingly examined in empirical studies, the question who actually belongs to the TMT is an important issue. So far, no consensus has been reached among researchers how to operationalize the definition of the TMT. Among the different measures are for example all board members, all managers identified by the CEO as belonging to the TMT, all managers at the vice-president level and higher, or the five highest paid executives. Scholars propose that the operationalization should correspond to the research question (Finkelstein et al., 2009). In case of publicly listed firms the TMT is defined as all members belonging to the board of directors. In case of not publicly listed firms all managing directors are considered as members of the TMT. The information on each target firm's TMT team immediately prior to the acquisition is taken from the annual reports provided by the German data base Bundesanzeiger. Each member was followed in the post-acquisition period, using annual reports as data base as well.

The variable *Cumulative Target CEO Turnover* is used as independent variable and captures the percentage of target CEOs that have been employed by the target firm in the

year prior to the acquisition, who departed the firm during the time since the acquisition event until the year under investigation. The information on each target firm's CEO immediately prior to the acquisition is taken from the annual reports provided by the German data base Bundesanzeiger. Each member was followed in the post-acquisition period, using annual reports as data base as well.

For both independent variables, the study concentrates on turnover of managers employed in the firm in the year prior to the acquisition, as it is interested in the effect of the acquisition on the target TMT and target CEO, respectively. Departures of managers hired after the acquisition are excluded from the turnover calculation. As no information on the reason for departure is available, e.g. if it is voluntary or involuntary, voluntary turnover cannot be separated from involuntary turnover.

2.3.3.3 Moderating variable: Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as target CEO

This variable captures if a manager of the acquiring firm is appointed at the target firm as CEO in the post-acquisition phase. An affiliation to the acquirer is assumed, if the CEO is of Chinese nationality. Thus, the moderating variable *Appointment of acquiring firm*'s manager as target CEO is operationalized as dummy variable, coded as 1, if the target firm is managed by a CEO of Chinese nationality, and 0 otherwise. The information is taken from the annual reports provided by the German data base Bundesanzeiger.

2.3.3.4 Control variables: Target attributes

In line with other studies, this study controls for several variables that influence a firm's performance for a correct understanding of the proposed relationship (Abdallah and Ismail, 2017; Cheung *et al.*, 2011; Bhagat and Bolton, 2007; Black *et al.*, 2006a; Black *et al.*, 2006b).

I include Target TMT Size (number of TMT members) as control variable. There are opposing views how TMT size affects firm performance. On the one side, a greater number of directors can cause more coordination cost, communication problems, as well as conflicts and thus result in slower and inefficient decision-making. Accordingly, researchers argue that small boards are more effective and enhance firm performance (Liang, Xu, and Jiraporn, 2013; Kota and Tomar, 2010; Guest, 2009). In contrast, other authors reason that a greater number of directors can bring along more expertise, experience, diversity, and connections, as suggested by the resource-based view, which promotes better performance (Mohapatra, 2017; Naseem et al., 2017; Coles, Daniel, and Naveen, 2008). Additionally, the study controls for *Target Firm Size* (natural logarithm of total assets) and *Target Firm Age* (years since foundation), as larger and older firms are believed to be able to better exploit economies of scale and scope and to own better bargaining power (Buckley et al., 2014; Bertrand and Betschinger, 2011). Target Financial Leverage (debt/total assets) is also included as control variable. A high ratio can point to missing free cash-flow to invest in activities which increase firm performance. In firms with more financial resources, change initiatives with uncertain outcomes are typically more tolerated. (Bertrand and Betschinger, 2011; Karaevli and Zajac, 2013). Furthermore, the study controls for Target Public Listing (dummy variable taking the value of 1, if firm is publicly listed, 0 otherwise), *Target Region* (dummy variable taking the value of 1, if firm is located in former West Germany, 0 otherwise), Target Industry Group (based on the two-digit North American Industry Classification System), and Target Industry Performance (development of target industry per year). The variables Target Financial Leverage, Target Firm Size, Target Public Listing, and Target Industry Performance are lagged by one year. Furthermore, year dummies are added to account for time specific effects. Finally, to capture information on the appointment of Chinese managers to the target board, the variable Target Chinese TMT Ratio is employed. This variable reflects the number of Chinese TMT members to the total number of TMT members. Therefore, I collected information on the nationality of the TMT team from the firms' financial statements. The information is sourced from Dafne and Bundesanzeiger.

2.3.3.5 Control variables: Acquirer attributes

The study further controls for the acquirer attributes *Acquirer Firm Size* (natural logarithm of total assets), *Acquirer Age* (years since foundation), *Acquirer Public Listing* (dummy variable taking the value of 1, if firm is publicly listed, 0 otherwise), and *Acquirer State Ownership* (dummy variable taking the value of 1, if firm is state-owned, 0 otherwise). The variables *Acquirer Firm Size and Acquirer Public Listing* are lagged by one year. The information on the acquirer attributes was obtained through the data base LexisNexis and internet research.

2.3.3.6 Control variables: Deal attributes

Moreover, the study includes the following deal attributes: *Relatedness* (dummy variable taking the value of 1 if target and acquirer operate in the same two-digit North American Industry Classification System, 0 otherwise),), as affiliation to the same industry might positively influence target firm performance as a result of the emergence of economies of scale and scope and increased market power. *Percentage Acquired* (percentage of ownership of acquirer in target firm) is also included. To account for the timespan between the completion of the acquisition and the observation, the control variable *Time since Acquisition* (number of years since acquisition event, whereas 0 represents the year of acquisition) is included. The information was sourced from Dafne, SDC data base by Thomson Reuters, and internet research.

The detailed descriptions of all the above variables are given in Table 12.

Table 12. Variable description

Variable	Description / Information	Source
Dependent Variable		
Target Firm Performance	Return on assets calculated as net income divided by total assets.	Dafne and firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)
Independent Variables		
Cumulative Target TMT Turnover	Percentage of target TMT members that have been employed by the target firm in the year prior to the acquisition, who departed the firm during the time since the acquisition event until the year under investigation.	Firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)
Cumulative Target CEO Turnover	Percentage of target CEOs that have been employed by the target firm in the year prior to the acquisition, who departed the firm during the time since the acquisition event until the year under investigation.	Firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)
Moderating Variable		
Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as target CEO	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the CEO has Chinese nationality and (0) otherwise.	Firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)
Control Variables		
Target attributes		
Target TMT Size	Number of target TMT members. Count variable.	Firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)
Target Chinese TMT Ratio	Calculated by dividing the number of Chinese target TMT managers divided by the total number of target TMT members.	Firm´s annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)
Target Financial Leverage	Calculated by dividing the firm's debt with the firm's total assets. Lagged by 1 year.	Dafne and firm 's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)
Target Firm Size	Natural logarithm of the firm's total assets. Lagged by 1 year.	Dafne and firm ´s annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)
Target Firm Age	Calculated as years since the firm's foundation. Count variable.	Dafne
Target Public Listing	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the firm is publicly listed and (0) otherwise. Lagged by 1 year.	Dafne
Target Region	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the firm is located in former West Germany and (0) otherwise.	Dafne
Target Industry Group	Two-digit North American Industry Classification System.	Amadeus
Target Industry Performance	Calculated as development of firm's industry per year. Lagged by 1 year.	Amadeus
Acquirer attributes		
Acquirer Firm Size	Natural logarithm of the firm's total assets. Lagged by 1 year.	WRDS data base and internet research
Acquirer Firm Age	Calculated as years since the firm's foundation. Count variable.	Internet research
Acquirer Public Listing	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the firm is publicly listed and (0) otherwise. Lagged by 1 year.	LexisNexis and internet research
Acquirer State Ownership	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the firm is state-owned and (0) otherwise.	Internet research
Deal attributes		
Relatedness	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the acquiring firm and the target firm operate in the same two-digit North American Industry Classification System and (0) otherwise.	LexisNexis and internet research
Percentage Acquired	Percentage of ownership of acquirer in target firm. Count variable.	Dafne and firm 's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)
Time Since Acquisition	Calculated as years since acquisition event, whereas 0 represents the year of acquisition. Count variable.	Firm´s annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)

2.3.4 Estimation method

The study employs the FGLS approach to estimate the equations. FGLS comes with three major advantages: the estimated coefficients are more efficient than the OLS model, there are unbiased standard errors whether the firm effect is temporary or permanent, and controlling for fixed effects through firm dummies, which would generate a degree of freedom problem, can be avoided (Petersen, 2008; Buckley *et al.*, 2014).

2.4 Results

Table 13 provides the means, standard deviations, and correlations of the variables in the main regression model.

Table 13. Means, standard deviations, and correlation coefficients

		Mean	S.D.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)	(18)	(19)
(1)	Target Firm Performance	-0.005	0.123	1.000																		
(2)	Target TMT size	2.033	1.038	0.114	1.000																	
(3)	Target Chinese TMT Ratio	0.277	0.347	-0.118	-0.215*	1.000																
(4)	Target Financial Leverage	0.542	0.278	-0.227*	-0.149*	0.252*	1.000															
(5)	Target Firm Size	17.483	1.703	0.175*	0.415*	-0.394*	-0.035	1.000														
(6)	Target Firm Age	28.111	24.275	0.017	0.184*	0.030	0.112	0.284*	1.000													
(7)	Target Public Listing	0.166	0.373	0.139*	0.259*	-0.209*	-0.353*	0.323*	0.020	1.000												
(8)	Target Region	0.862	0.346	0.247*	0.152*	0.020	0.063	0.096	0.231*	0.178*	1.000											
(9)	Target Industry Performance	0.055	0.009	-0.141*	-0.150*	0.293*	0.208*	-0.204*	0.120	-0.352*	-0.051	1.000										
(10)	Acquirer Firm Size	21.154	1.808	0.124*	0.190*	-0.312*	0.100	0.569*	0.334*	0.060	0.071	-0.203*	1.000									
(11)	Acquirer Firm Age	24.890	14.004	-0.262*	0.022	-0.065	-0.155*	-0.124*	-0.054	-0.121	-0.528*	0.027	-0.195*	1.000								
(12)	Acquirer Public Listing	0.906	0.293	-0.032	-0.191*	-0.064	-0.149*	-0.119	-0.090	0.144*	0.091	0.206*	-0.383*	0.012	1.000							
(13)	Acquirer State Ownership	0.276	0.448	-0.061	0.291*	-0.202*	0.102	0.345*	0.288*	0.123*	-0.147*	-0.045	0.421*	0.225*	-0.140*	1.000						
(14)	Relatedness	0.503	0.501	0.035	0.267*	0.020	0.133*	0.022	0.133*	-0.270*	-0.046	-0.063	-0.100	0.101	-0.320*	0.293*	1.000					
(15)	Percentage Acquired	91.794	13.110	0.112	0.118	0.248*	0.198*	0.084	0.183*	-0.315*	0.025	0.310*	0.079	0.005	-0.129*	0.132*	0.202*	1.000				
(16)	Time Since Acquisition	3.309	2.066	0.045	-0.070	0.286*	-0.124*	-0.064	0.018	0.012	0.122	-0.101	0.066	0.080	-0.025	-0.159*	-0.065	0.088	1.000			
(17)	Cumulative Target TMT Turnover	0.564	0.442	-0.041	-0.033	0.300*	-0.022	-0.046	0.165*	-0.222*	-0.069	-0.024	0.010	0.182*	-0.083	0.117	0.072	0.206*	0.260*	1.000		
(18)	Cumulate Target CEO Turnover	0.569	0.497	-0.033	-0.069	0.512*	0.195*	-0.152*	0.219*	-0.332*	0.007	0.208*	-0.013	0.120	-0.127*	0.064	-0.018	0.364*	0.304*	0.783*	1.000	
(19)	Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as Target CEO	0.265	0.443	-0.152*	-0.164*	0.740*	0.146*	-0.255*	0.180*	-0.201*	0.023	0.205*	0.027	-0.055	-0.150*	-0.063	-0.078	0.262*	0.323*	0.339*	0.498*	1.000

Note: N=181. *p<0.1.

The dependent variable *Target Firm Performance* exhibits the highest correlations with the control variables *Acquirer Age* (- 0.262), *Region* (0.247), *Target Financial Leverage* (- 0.227), *Target Firm Size* (0.175), *Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as Target CEO* (- 0.152), and *Target Industry Performance* (- 0.141). Moreover, some high, medium, and small correlations between various control variables can be observed.

Therefore, the Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) are estimated to control for potential multicollinearity problems. The VIF values are documented in Table 14. For Model 1 - 3, all VIF values are well below the threshold value of 10, showing that multicollinearity is not a problem in the regression analysis (Chatterjee and Hadi, 2000; O'Brien, 2007). The VIF values for Model 4, including the interaction between the independent variable *Cumulative Target CEO Turnover* and the moderator variable *Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as Target CEO* are also well below the threshold value of 10 with two exceptions: the VIF value for the interaction effect *Cumulative Target CEO Turnover x Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as Target CEO* has a value of 41.83 while the VIF value for the moderating variable *Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as Target CEO* is 40.97. Although these values are above the threshold of 10, there is no need for concern as the high VIF values are a result of including the interaction term as well as the main effects.

The results of the regression analysis are reported in Table 14.

Table 14. Regression results for target post-acquisition firm performance

Dependent Variable:	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Control Variables				
Target TMT Size	0.005	0.005	0.001	0.001
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.001	(0.005)
Target Chinese TMT Ratio	0.035	0.018	-0.008	-0.006
	(0.029)	(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.030)
Target Financial Leverage	-0.067*	-0.084**	-0.086**	-0.088**
	-0.007	(0.029)	-0.080	-0.088
Target Firm Size	0.023)	0.005	0.025	0.005
Tanget T him bille	(0.004	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Target Firm Age	0.000	0.000	0.000	(0.003)
Turget T him Fige	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000
Target Public Listing	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Target I done Eisting	-0.009	-0.002	0.004	0.004
Target Pegion	(0.022)	(0.022)	(0.021)	(0.021)
Target Region	0.027	0.032	0.038	0.030
Tougat Industry Darformanas	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.033)	(0.033)
Target Industry Performance	-1.386	-1.187	-1.137	-1.156
A continen Firme Size	(1.154)	(1.142)	(1.095)	(1.094)
Acquirer Firm Size	0.008	0.009	0.008	0.009
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Acquirer Firm Age	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Acquirer Public Listing	-0.007	-0.006	-0.008	-0.004
	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.030)
Acquirer State Ownership	-0.018	-0.023	-0.029	-0.030
	(0.017)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.015)
Relatedness	0.038	0.056*	0.057**	0.059**
	(0.022)	(0.023)	(0.022)	(0.022)
Percentage Acquired	0.001*	0.001*	0.001*	0.001*
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Time Since Acquisition	0.006	0.002	0.001	0.001
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Moderating Variable				
Appointment of acquiring firm's				
manager as Target CEO	-0.068**	-0.066**	-0.060*	-0.026
Indam and Maniahlan	(0.025)	(0.025)	(0.026)	(0.061)
inaepenaent variables				
Cumulative Target INIT Turnover		0.029		
		(0.017)	0.02.1**	0.00 c++
Cumulative Target CEO Turnover			0.034**	0.036**
Internetion Eff.			(0.013)	(0.013)
Interaction Effect				
Appointment of acquiring firm a				
manager as Target CEO				-0.036
				(0.060)
Constant	-0.320	-0.380*	-0.362*	-0.376*
	(0.183)	(0.184)	(0.179)	(0.180)
Year Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	105	100	100	1.05
Industry Group Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Chi-square	244.59***	223.99***	205.40***	205.97***
Max. VIF	3.70	3 74	3.88	41.83
Number of Observations	181	181	181	103
Number of Firms	101	101	101	101
	43	45	40	40

*** p<0.001; ** p<0.01; * p<0.05. Standard errors in parentheses.

Model 1 in Table 14 is the baseline model, which includes the dependent variable *Target Firm Performance* and the control variables. In Model 2, the independent variable *Cumulative Target TMT Turnover* is added. Model 3 reports the result for the independent variable *Cumulative Target TMT Turnover* is added. Model 4 introduces the interaction effect between *Cumulative Target CEO Turnover*. Model 4 introduces the interaction effect between *Cumulative Target CEO Turnover* and *Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as Target CEO*.

Model 1 shows that *Target Financial Leverage* is negatively and significantly related to *Target Firm Performance* (b = -0.067; p = 0.016). This underlines the argument that less free money is available to finance activities which improve firm performance. *Percentage Acquired* is positively and significantly related to *Target Firm Performance* (b = 0.001; p = 0.047), documenting that a higher percentage of ownership by the Chinese acquirer is beneficial for target firm performance. As expected, the moderating variable *Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as Target CEO* is negatively and significantly related to *Target Firm Performance* (b = -0.068; p = 0.007), supporting the argument that expertise, knowledge, and trust are especially important in the post-acquisition context. It helps to work efficiently, if the target CEO is trusted by the employees and knows the national culture as well as the work culture and the local regulations, e.g. concerning taxes or labor law. Chinese managers are generally less familiar with working under differing institutional conditions.

Hypothesis 1a proposed that *Cumulative Target TMT Turnover* has a negative effect on target post-acquisition *Target Firm Performance*. Model 2 in Table 14 tests this prediction and shows that there is no statistically significant effect of *Cumulative Target TMT Turnover* on target post-acquisition *Target Firm Performance* (b = 0.029; p = 0.083). The effects of the statistically significant control variables remain similar to those in Model 1: *Target Financial Leverage* (b = -0.084; p = 0.004) and *Percentage Acquired* (b = 0.001; p = 0.039). Additionally, the control variable *Relatedness* is positively and significantly related to target *Target Firm Performance* (b = 0.056; p = 0.015), showing that membership to the same industry indeed positively influences target firm performance as expected. The variable *Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as Target CEO* remains negatively and significantly related to *Target Firm Performance* (b = - 0.066; p = 0.009). Hypothesis 1a is thus not supported, suggesting that cumulative target TMT turnover has no negative effect on target post-acquisition firm performance.

To further investigate the effect of cumulative target TMT turnover on target firm post-acquisition performance, Hypothesis 1b specifically looked into the effect of target CEO departure, to analyze whether it makes a difference if the CEO leaves the firm. Model 3 in Table 14 tests the hypothesis that target CEO turnover is positively related with target post-acquisition firm performance. The regression result shows that *Cumulative Target CEO Turnover* is positively and significantly related to *Target Firm Performance* (b = 0.034; p = 0.008). The effects of the statistically significant control variables remain similar to those of Model 2: *Target Financial Leverage* (b = - 0.086; p = 0.002), *Percentage Acquired* (b = 0.001; p = 0.032), *Relatedness* (b = 0.057; p = 0.008), and *Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as Target CEO* (b = - 0.060; p = 0.020). The result confirms that the departure of the target CEO actually benefits target firm performance and supports Hypothesis 1b. This is in accordance with previous studies which also found a positive effect of CEO departure on target firm financial performance in case of publicly listed U.S. target firms (Demirtas and Simsir, 2016) as well as a result of meta-analysis (Bilgili *et al.*, 2017).

Next, Model 4 introduces the interaction effect between the independent variable *Cumulative Target CEO Turnover* and the moderator variable *Appointment of acquiring firm's manager as Target CEO*. The interaction term has the expected negative sign but is not significant (b = -0.036; p = 0.547).

The findings suggest that the appointment of an acquiring firm's manager as new target CEO does not negatively moderate the relationship between target CEO turnover and target firm performance. Hence, Hypothesis 2 is not supported, neither providing support for a negative effect of subsidiary staffing with parent company executives on target post-acquisition performance (Singh *et al.*, 2019; Kaeppeli, 2009; Gaur *et al.*, 2007) nor for a positive relationship (Gong, 2003; Sekiguchi *et al.*, 2011).

2.5 Discussion and conclusion

Acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets are increasingly changing the global landscape. This study investigated the effect of target TMT and target CEO turnover on target post-acquisition performance. Although several studies have already addressed this issue, existing research provides no consistent findings and does not account for the distinct conditions of acquisitions by EMNEs (Devine *et al.*, 2016; Demirtas and Simsir, 2016; Bilgili *et al.*, 2017; Krishnan *et al.*, 1997; Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a). By using a unique panel data set on Chinese acquisitions in Germany over the period 2007 until 2016, the study shows that, in cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets, target TMT turnover has no negative effect on target post-acquisition performance. No support was found that the appointment of an acquiring firm's manager as new target CEO weakens the positive relationship between target CEO turnover and target post-acquisition performance.

This study extends prior research by linking current knowledge on target turnover and post-acquisition performance of target firms with the context of emerging-market crossborder acquisitions and up-to-date data. The findings contradict the majority of extant studies, which advanced that target TMTs are an important part of the acquired resource base and therefore have value for the post-acquisition performance (Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a; Walsh and Ellwood, 1991). The findings in this study confirm that the relationship between target turnover and target post-acquisition is not as straightforward. The relationship remains complex and differing contextual factors need to be considered, confirming the call by Krug *et al.* (2014) for further research, especially in new research contexts, such as privately-held firms and cross-border acquisitions.

These findings also have important implications for managerial practice. First, emerging-market acquisitions often raise concerns of policymakers and the public that they negatively influence target firms and thus the target economy (UNCTAD, 2017; Miozzo *et al.*, 2016; Grimpe and Hussinger, 2014; Valentini, 2012). While the international press mainly focuses on single acquisitions and their consequences, this study provides a holistic picture. This study shows that target CEO turnover is beneficial for target post-acquisition performance, and that target CEO restructuring with managers from China does not weaken the relationship.

There are limitations to this study, which offer opportunity for future research. First, the employed data set does not allow to examine the impact of emerging-market ownership across different developed countries. Hence, the results should be further tested by replicating this study in different economic contexts. This applies to the acquiring as well as to the acquired nation. Future studies could concentrate on acquirers from other emerging markets, such as Brazil, Russia, and India, but also on other developed-market targets, such as the United States or Great Britain, and evaluate, whether the results can be generalized. Second, future research can evaluate whether the findings also hold in longer time periods. Many acquisitions from emerging-market acquirers in developed markets have just occurred recently, reducing the available amount of post-acquisition data on the target firms. Third, given that the sample predominantly consists of not publicly listed firms, I encountered

difficulty in gathering further target-specific information from public sources. Inclusion of more target attributes could extend the empirical design. Additionally, owing to the limited availability of financial information, I was unable to conduct further analysis using another measure, such as sales growth, for target firm performance. Finally, another promising avenue for future research is to investigate the effect of these acquisitions on other target performance measures, such as innovation performance.

3 Are Firms with Technological Capability Better Acquirers? Chinese Acquisitions in Germany and Target Firm Post-Acquisition Innovation Performance³

Abstract

The implications of cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms on target firm performance are increasingly attracting academic interest. This study explores if acquirers with superior technological capability are more successful in managing target innovation performance in this context. Using panel data on 45 acquisitions by Chinese acquirers in Germany during the period 2007 and 2016, the findings imply that different aspects of innovation performance need to be distinguished. The study finds a positive effect of the acquiring firm's technological capability on target innovation impact in the post-acquisition phase. For the other innovation performance measures, namely innovation rate, innovation originality, and innovation generality no statistically significant effect of the acquirer's technological capability could be observed. Moreover, results show that prior international acquisition experience does not positively moderate the relationship between the acquirer's technological capability and target innovation performance.

3.1 Introduction

Competitive advantage and the ability to satisfy highly individualized customer demands play a key role in generating high earnings and are crucial for a firm's survival. Thus, the capability to innovate is a prerequisite for firm success. During the last decades, M&A have become a frequently observed method for firms to integrate innovation and increase their competitiveness in today's dynamic and hyper-competitive business environment (Christofi *et al.*, 2019; Haleblian *et al.*, 2009). Vis-à-vis other internal and external innovation strategies, this strategy features the advantage of high speed, allowing firms to access innovative elements, such as specialized knowledge and technology, very quickly (Dezi *et al.*, 2018; Ahuja and Katila, 2001). However, in order to create competitive

³ Brunner C. 2020. Are Firms with Technological Capability Better Acquirers? Chinese Acquisitions in Germany and Target Firm Post-Acquisition Innovation Performance: WHU School of Management, Unpublished Working Paper.

advantage from the acquired assets, firms need to be able to effectively use the technological knowledge so that existing technologies can be assimilated, used, adapted, and changed. This ability is referred to as technological capability (Kim, 1997; Isobe, Makino, and Montgomery, 2008; Coombs and Bierly, 2006).

Especially, firms from emerging markets use M&A to attain strategic assets, such as superior technology, advanced know-how, and brands, needed to survive in global competition (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Luo and Tung, 2018, 2007). The international context allows firms to tap a much larger pool of firms with specialized technology, capabilities, and knowledge (Grimpe and Hussinger, 2014; Valentini, 2012; Makri, Hitt, and Lane, 2010; Ahuja and Katila, 2001). In particular, the transactions, where the target is located in a developed market and the acquirer in an emerging market raise concern in the public. They are often associated with the fear of knowledge drains, technology transfer, and reduction of innovation performance of target firms (Fisch *et al.*, 2018; Bandick *et al.*, 2014; Miozzo *et al.*, 2016).

The relationship between M&A and innovation has received attention by managerial studies as well as economics studies (Colombo and Rabbiosi, 2014). Prior studies mainly analyzed under what conditions M&A can indeed increase innovation performance for the acquiring firm and thus create value, yielding controversial results with respect to post-acquisition innovation performance. Also the literature with a focus on the target firm does not yet present conclusive evidence whether foreign acquisitions indeed reduce innovation performance and destroy value for target firms. In fact, some studies find a positive relationship between foreign M&A and subsequent target innovation performance (Zhang *et al.*, 2018; Chen *et al.*, 2017; Eliasson *et al.*, 2017; Bandick *et al.*, 2014; Guadalupe *et al.*, 2012; Bertrand, 2009; Girma *et al.*, 2008), while others discover a negative impact (Fisch *et al.*, 2008).

al., 2018; Stiebale, 2016; Szücs, 2014; Stiebale and Reize, 2011) or a dependency on the combination of acquirer and target knowledge base (Miozzo *et al.*, 2016; Makri *et al.*, 2010).

Different from these extant studies, this study examines the relevance of the target's and acquirer's country of origin as well as the acquiring firm's technological capability to promote target innovation performance successfully. There is a lack of profound empirical and theoretical knowledge how these types of acquisitions, where the acquirer is from an emerging country and the target firm from a developed country, affect target post-acquisition innovation performance. Given that M&A from EMNEs in developed markets have significantly increased during the last decade, this is a relevant research gap for both academia and practice.

Drawing on the concept of technological capability, this study analyzes the following research questions with the aim to extend prior research: (1) How is the acquirer's technological capability related to the post-acquisition innovation performance of the target firm in case of acquisitions in developed markets by emerging-market firms? (2) Does prior international acquisition experience of the acquiring firm play a moderating role in this relationship? This study attempts to enrich prior research on the effect of M&A on target innovation performance. To receive a more comprehensive and nuanced way of understanding the acquisition effect on target innovation performance, it analyzes if the acquirers technological capability is related to target post-acquisition innovation performance. In a second step, it examines if prior international acquisition experience enables the acquiring firm to increase their capability for successful target innovation performance management.

The effect is explored empirically by using a unique data set containing German firms which have been acquired by firms from China between 2007 and 2016. This is a particularly suitable setting, as China has been the major source of emerging-market overseas M&A, accounting for around 65 percent in recent years (UNCTAD, 2018, 2019, 2020). The dramatic surge in Chinese overseas M&A is attributed to several reforms instigated by the Chinese government (Du and Boateng, 2015). In Germany, the presence of Chinese acquirers increased rapidly from 2011 onward, reaching its maximum in 2017, when the country was the largest recipient of Chinese investment in Europe with USD 13.7 billion (Ernst & Young, 2019). German firms dominate many medium and high-tech industries, thus offering Chinese firms a suitable location to enhance their own competitiveness (Wübbeke *et al.*, 2016). This shows the immense growth and relevance of Chinese outward FDI in Germany and highlights the timeliness of the study. Thus, this research setting allows for a rich context to analyze the hypotheses.

As indicator of the acquiring firm's technological capability the number of patents applied for by the acquiring firm since its foundation is used. To measure target innovation performance the study employs the following dependent variables: innovation rate (number of patent applications each year by the target firm) and innovation quality, captured as innovation impact (number of forward citations that a patent receives in subsequent patents), innovation generality (forward citations received in few or various patent classes), and innovation originality (citations made to earlier patents from few or various patent classes).

This study aims to advance this field in the following ways: First, little is known what happens with target innovation performance when EMNEs acquire developed-market firms. In consideration of the sharp increase of emerging-market acquisitions, this study specifically focus on these cases. Second, in contrast to most previous studies, the analysis is not restricted to a single industry. The sample includes firms from the manufacturing and service sectors as well as trade, construction, energy, and transportation sectors. Additionally, as the effects of M&A on target post-acquisition innovation performance are likely to depend on characteristics of both involved firms, a framework is developed to

examine, whether the technological capability of the acquirer determines post-acquisition innovation performance at the target firm.

The paper is organized into five sections. Section 2 assesses the existing research and analyzes the theoretical background, from which hypotheses are derived. Section 3 describes the data set, methodology and variables. In Section 4 the empirical analyses is conducted and the results of the empirical analysis are presented. Section 5 discusses the findings in light of theory and practice.

3.2 Theoretical background and hypotheses

3.2.1 M&A as external innovation source

Competitive advantage and the ability to satisfy highly individualized customer demands play a key role in generating high earnings and a firm's survival, making the capability to innovate a prerequisite for firm success. Innovation is defined as the practical and successful application of an invention or a discovery to a product or service, a new process, or a new administrative system. It ensures long-term success for the firm and has a positive impact on the firm's competitiveness (Dezi *et al.*, 2018; Santoro *et al.*, 2018).

Internal R&D is one possible source of innovation: whereas basic research is mainly executed by the public sector, applied research and product and process development are crucial to the competitiveness of firms, but the establishment process is oftentimes slowly and costly (UNCTAD, 2005). A focus on only internal R&D is thus no longer sufficient to deal with the technological evolution and the fast-changing environment (Ferraris, Santoro, and Dezi, 2017).

As a result, especially in today's dynamic context, external resources and knowledge play a distinctive role and can be viewed as complementary to internal knowledge to advance a firm's technology (Jiang, Waller, and Cai, 2013; Chesbrough, 2010). Amit and Schoemaker (1993) define *resources* as stocks of available factors, which are controlled or owned by the firm. This study follows their approach and refers to *resources* as input factors which have positive effects on the firm's strategies and business objectives, if employed in a proper way. In contrast, *capability* mirrors a firm's capacity to use and combine the available resources to reach a desired result (Amit and Schoemaker, 1993).

M&A can be an effective answer among external strategic innovation development possibilities to quickly access technological resources and innovation (Dezi *et al.*, 2018; Graebner *et al.*, 2017). Indeed, cross-border M&A increased remarkably and now represent a frequently observed way for firms to gain access to and integrate technological know-how and knowledge held by foreign firms to increase firm performance (Bloomberg, 2019; Grimpe and Hussinger, 2014; Valentini, 2012; Makri *et al.*, 2010).

The success of using M&A to access external knowledge mainly depends on the firm's capability to recognize the value of new, external information, evaluate it, integrate it, reconfigure it, and utilize it to commercial ends (Dezi *et al.*, 2018; Fisch *et al.*, 2018). This ability is called technological capability and largely a function of the level of prior related knowledge (Kim, 1997). Research on knowledge transfer studies whether firms are able to successfully transfer and benefit from the knowledge of other firms to increase innovation performance. Knowledge transfer includes the movement of explicit knowledge, which can be clearly articulated in reports, documents, or systems as well as the transfer of implicit knowledge, which cannot be easily codified and is represented by the people's skills and experience. In cross-border acquisitions, knowledge transfer, especially of implicit knowledge, is oftentimes aggravated through cultural differences and a lack of mutual trust (Yen *et al.*, 2017; Ahammad *et al.*, 2016; Bauer *et al.*, 2016). Researchers have found that frequent communication assists the transfer of tacit forms of knowledge, such as technological know-how. If the knowledge is articulated, for example in form of patents, it

can be transferred with only little need of personal interaction (Yen *et al.*, 2017; Ahammad *et al.*, 2016; Bresman *et al.*, 1999). Additionally, a two-stage knowledge transfer process has been identified: Within the first two or three years following the acquisition, the acquiring firm one-sidedly transfers its knowledge to the target firm. Over time, though, knowledge transfer becomes reciprocal and combined knowledge development projects emerge. In phase one managers should focus on human integration, building up cultural convergence and mutual respect. In phase two, renewed task integration can be built on the success of human integration (Birkinshaw, Bresman, and Håkanson, 2000). Moreover, the implementation speed must consider the tension between preserving and transferring knowledge in order to realize synergies without disruption of the firm's capabilities. (Ranft and Lord, 2002; Bresman *et al.*, 1999).

3.2.2 M&A and innovation performance

The research on the link between M&A and innovation performance is a large and quickly growing field, with contributions from management as well as economics researchers (Colombo and Rabbiosi, 2014). Dezi *et al.* (2018) and Christofi *et al.* (2019) provide comprehensive literature reviews on the link between M&A and innovation performance. In this section, the study does not aim to offer a comprehensive overview, but rather to summarize the theoretical arguments and to introduce a selection of related empirical studies.

3.2.2.1 Theoretical findings: M&A and innovation performance

Acquisitions can affect the target firms´ and acquiring firms´ innovation performance and determinants through various channels. There can be direct effects, such as the relocation and rationalization of R&D activities, but also indirect effects, as foreign acquisitions can have an impact on the determinants of R&D, for example financial factors, firm size, and knowledge sources (Graebner *et al.*, 2017; Stiebale, 2016). From a theoretical perspective, the relationship between M&A and innovation performance is quite ambivalent, as the following arguments will show.

On the one side, researchers argue that M&A can have a positive effect on innovation performance as these events expand the firm's knowledge base by complementing internal R&D. This expansion leads to a more efficient combination or reorganization of innovation activities resulting in better innovation performance after M&A (Fernández, Triguero, and Alfaro-Cortés, 2018; Ahuja and Katila, 2001). Similar, Cassiman et al. (2005) reason that innovation performance is enhanced by the redeployment of technological assets. The researchers argue that the emergence of scale and scope economies allows firms not only to spread the fixed costs of R&D, but also to leverage R&D investments due to greater diversification, resulting in different innovative products. Moreover, some scholars introduce the argument that the relationship between M&A and innovation performance is dependent on the degree of similarity of the involved firms' knowledge. Technological complementarity, having a positive effect on R&D inputs as well as innovation performance, has been identified as one key for a positive effect of M&A activities on innovation performance (Cassiman et al., 2005). It makes firms more efficient in R&D as firms will try to relocate their resources to ensure greater diversification and achieve presence in a higher number of technological fields based on the newly acquired capabilities (Fernández et al., 2018; Makri et al., 2010; Ahuja and Katila, 2001). Whereas technological complementarity leads to economies of scope, technological similarity contributes to economies of scale (Cassiman et al., 2005). Scale and scope economies in R&D may also lead to shorter innovation times. M&A can furthermore provide greater internal financial support for innovation projects and may increase the innovation performance by increasing the firms' technological capability (Miozzo et al., 2016).

On the other side, there are arguments that M&A might have a negative impact on innovation performance. Instead of increasing internal R&D activities firms acquire other firms with the desired technology, producing a substitution effect between internal R&D and the technological competences of the target firm, leading to less innovation. For firms, which have a high risk aversion associated with internally developed innovations, M&A therefore provide an alternative option, as they enable these firms to access the required capabilities without risking funds getting lost in R&D with uncertain output (Fernández et al., 2018). Technological similarity between the acquiring and target firm can lead to a relocation of technological resources, resulting in the rationalization of R&D activities. So if the involved firms have the same technologies, M&A can have a negative influence on innovation performance, unless the firms are able to realize a superior technological position in the postacquisition phase (Sears and Hoetker, 2014). M&A can also lead to restructuring with stricter financial controls, which can reduce R&D activities (Hitt et al., 1991). The potential reorganization of R&D units not only disrupts R&D departments, it also causes uncertainty, which restrains the inventors' abilities to innovate and could cause decision makers to postpone research projects (Miozzo et al., 2016). M&A also involve managerial as well as integration challenges and transaction costs which could exert negative effects on innovation performance (Dezi et al., 2018; Zollo and Singh, 2004).

Especially in cross-border acquisitions, R&D activities might be centralized in the home country of the acquiring firms to facilitate economies of scale in research and reduce costs of managing dispersed R&D units. The majority of firms conducts its R&D at their headquarters or corporate production units. As a consequence, target firm innovation performance might be reduced or shifted away (Fernández *et al.*, 2018; Zhang *et al.*, 2018; Miozzo *et al.*, 2016).

On the other hand, there are also reasons to expect that cross-border acquisitions enhance target innovation performance. The acquiring firm may transfer part of its technology to the target firm to be able to exploit the target firm's specific assets in the host country (Zhang *et al.*, 2018). Thus, from the theoretical standpoint, it is not clear how M&A in general, and overseas M&A in particular, affect target innovation performance.

Similar to the theoretical literature, empirical studies follow various approaches and provide mixed results. First, the following section will shortly introduce the most influential studies and recent empirical research on the effect of M&A on acquiring firms' innovation performance. Afterwards, prior studies on target firm innovation performance are discussed.

3.2.2.2 Empirical findings: M&A and acquiring firm innovation performance

A number of studies found evidence on a significant negative effect of M&A on the acquiring firm's innovation performance, measured as R&D intensity (R&D/sales), R&D expenditures, patent intensity (patents/sales), or new products/sales ratio as a consequence of the rationalization of technological resources (Szücs, 2014; Ornaghi, 2009; Hitt *et al.*, 1991). Based on a sample of M&A of Chinese listed manufacturing enterprises, Ma and Liu (2017) found that horizontal and conglomerate M&A reduce acquirer innovation performance, while there is no significant effect of vertical M&A. Fisch *et al.* (2018) found no significant effect of M&A on patent output of Chinese acquirers, but documented that several acquisition-specific factors (cross-border acquisitions, relatedness of acquired knowledge base, size of acquired knowledge base) positively influence post-acquisition patent output.

On the other hand, Desyllas and Hughes (2010) found that R&D intensity of acquiring firms decreases within one year after the acquisition event, however, after three years an increase can be observed. R&D productivity is not significantly influenced. Stiebale

(2013) confirmed in his study on cross-border acquisitions that the acquiring firms display increased R&D intensity after acquisition. Valentini (2012) showed a positive effect of M&A on the acquiring firm's patent output, while patent quality, measured as patent impact, originality, and generality decreases in his sample of M&A in the U.S..

A group of researchers distinguishes between technological acquisitions, with the primary aim to transfer technology, and non-technological acquisitions as an important predictor of post-acquisition innovation performance. They show that technological M&A enhance the acquiring firm's innovation performance, whereas non-technological acquisitions induce no or a negative effect (Ma and Liu, 2017; Cloodt, Hagedoorn, and van Kranenburg, 2006; Ahuja and Katila, 2001).

Another stream of literature emphasizes the effect of technological complementarity versus technological similarity of the acquiring and target firm. A number of studies commonly identify the importance of complementary, non-overlapped knowledge, highlighting the significance of novelty for subsequent innovation performance. They found that technological complementarity between the target firm and the acquiring firm improves the quality and originality of the firms' innovations after M&A, while technological similarity has a significantly negative effect (Colombo and Rabbiosi, 2014; Makri *et al.*, 2010; Cassiman *et al.*, 2005). M&A improve innovation performance the most when the technological knowledge of the firms involved is similar enough to enable learning, but different enough to offer both firms new opportunities (Makri *et al.*, 2010: 603). These findings support the economies-of-scope effect, while the economies-of-scale effect is rejected. Han, Jo, and Kang (2018), building upon earlier studies, consider the qualitative characteristics of knowledge and documented a more complex relationship between knowledge overlap and innovation performance. The authors show that high-quality target technological similarity can increase the acquirer's post-acquisition performance. Although

it may include some redundant technology, processes and routines may differ and facilitate the acquirer to further develop and improve the existing knowledge. On the other side, their study showed that high-quality target technological complementarity reduces the acquirer's post-acquisition performance. This is caused by the high integration costs and limited resources needed to successfully transfer high-quality technological complementarity which outweigh the great combinative potential contained in it.

3.2.2.3 Empirical findings: M&A and target firm innovation performance

While there exists extensive literature on the effect of M&A on acquiring firms' postacquisition innovation performance, a smaller group of scholars focus on the effect on target firms' post-acquisition innovation performance, providing controversial results as well.

On the one hand, some studies found a positive relationship: Zhang *et al.* (2018) analyzed the effect of foreign M&A on Chinese target firms from the manufacturing sector and show that acquired firms apply for significantly more patents than their domestic counterparts. Furthermore, foreign M&A increase innovation through expanding firm size, exports, and human capital formation. Wholly foreign-owned firms are more innovative than partially foreign-owned firms and target firms in labor-intensive industries are more innovative than those in capital-intensive industries. Chen *et al.* (2017) and Girma *et al.* (2008) also provided evidence that foreign acquisitions improve Chinese target firms' investment in R&D and target innovation performance, respectively.

Studies with European data support the positive relationship found in the studies with Chinese data: Researchers found that foreign acquisitions lead to increasing target firm R&D intensity and R&D expenditures (Bandick *et al.*, 2014; Bertrand, 2009). In line with these results, Eliasson *et al.* (2017), examining data from Sweden, discovered no evidence for the concerns circulating in the public debate that foreign acquisitions lead to reductions in R&D expenditures in targeted firms. Guadalupe *et al.* (2012), studying Spanish manufacturing firms, found that firms acquired by a foreign acquirer are more likely to innovate. With their case study on one Chinese acquisition in the United Kingdom, He, Khan, and Shenkar (2018) provide first evidence that the EMNE can exert a positive impact on the target firm's learning and capability upgrading. In the observed case, the lack of superior knowledge is offset by the EMNE's unique characteristics, such as its complementary capabilities.

On the other hand, several studies documented a negative impact of foreign acquisitions on target innovation performance. Szücs (2014) showed that R&D expenditures and R&D intensity are reduced after acquisition as a result of rationalization of technological resources and technological similarity. Stiebale (2016) examined the effects of cross-border M&A on the innovation performance of European firms. The results indicate a considerable increase in post-acquisition innovation in the merged entity, which is mainly driven by increased innovation performance in the acquiring firm, while innovation in the target firm tends to decline. Stiebale and Reize (2011) conducted an empirical analysis based on survey and ownership data for a large sample of small- and medium-sized German firms. They found that foreign acquisitions have a large and significantly negative impact on the propensity to engage in innovation in target firms. The negative impact may result from rationalization and from relocation of R&D activities to foreign headquarters. Furthermore, the results suggest an indirect negative effect on innovation via reduced R&D. The authors summarize that overseas M&A not necessarily lead to technology transfer and efficiency gains for acquired firms. Bauer et al. (2016) also studied cross-border M&A with targets in Central Europe, documenting that human integration (shared identity, employee satisfaction) is rather destructive for target innovation performance, while task integration (transfer and sharing of knowledge) is beneficial for innovation performance.

Miozzo et al. (2016) focused on the technological resources of UK biopharmaceutical target firms when they are acquired by foreign firms. Based on a multiple case study they developed a theory how key determinants of the knowledge base and their combinations through M&A interact and affect post-acquisition investment in the target's R&D projects. Thereby, the authors provided a more differentiated approach and identify four types of knowledge combinations: complementary technology but similar development capabilities lead to an expansion in target R&D spending, while similar technology and complementary development capabilities lead to the continuation of target development operations but no further investment in target basic research. Acquisitions involving complementary technology as well as complementary development capabilities can be classified as knowledge-seeking, therefore further investment in the R&D projects of the target is necessary. On the other side, similar technology and similar development capabilities provide limited opportunities for recombination of knowledge, hence the shift away of R&D from host country or outright termination can be observed. Their study confirmed the important role of acquirer and target knowledge relatedness for postacquisition innovation performance.

Even though these studies provide interesting findings, theory predicts and empirical studies find an either negative, positive, or ambiguous relation between M&A and its effect on target post-acquisition innovation performance.

3.2.3 Acquirer's technological capability and target innovation performance

Considering the conflicting theoretical and empirical results of M&A on target innovation performance, it is proposed that the reason for this result lies in the fact that some acquirers might be more effective in promoting target innovation performance successfully than others. Taking the target's and acquirer's country of origin into account, in the next section, arguments are derived, how the acquiring firm's technological capability can influence target post-acquisition innovation performance.

3.2.3.1 Motives for international innovation activities

Three waves of M&A from emerging economies can be identified. The first wave occurred when EMNEs invested in other developing countries for resource- and market-seeking reasons (Deng, 2004). In the second wave, the firms also reached out to firms from developed markets, still pursuing market- and resource-seeking strategies (Mathews, 2006, 2002). The third wave, however, is described by EMNEs entering developed countries to seek strategic assets such as knowledge and technology to increase their competitive advantage (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Rui and Yip, 2008; Deng, 2007). As a result of its strategic objective, the latest wave can also be viewed as a move of the EMNEs to internationalize their R&D and innovation activities.

The internationalization of corporate R&D and innovation activities has received interest in academia for a long time (UNCTAD, 2005; Kuemmerle, 1999). Researchers identified three general motives for international innovation activities (Schmiele, 2012): knowledge-seeking, market-seeking, and efficiency-seeking. Knowledge-seeking firms want to exploit a country's specific technologies or competences to augment their own existing knowledge. By building up innovation and R&D activities in the foreign country, the firms are able to access foreign knowledge and integrate it. Market-seeking firms wish to exploit their existing knowledge and sell their products in foreign markets. Oftentimes this requires adaptions to local preferences and environment, which is simplified by the localization of product innovations in foreign markets. Efficiency-seeking firms try to reduce the cost of innovation activities, performing them in countries with lower costs for

innovation inputs, especially human capital. Typically, firms pursue more than one motive when internationalizing their innovation activities.

Thus, overseas R&D and innovation units support different purposes, depending on the motive to internationalize these activities. Researchers established dichotomous sets, which can be narrowed down to technology-seeking and market-seeking purposes (Cantwell and Mudambi, 2005; Kuemmerle, 1999; Zedtwitz and Gassmann, 2002). Cantwell and Mudambi (2005) use a distinction between competence-exploiting and competence-creating. Competence-exploiting, mostly occurring in the form of greenfield projects, transfers existing knowledge and resources to an overseas location to get access to a new market, almost exclusively using the existing knowledge of the parent firm, which supports marketseeking motives. Competence-creating, on the other side, mainly happening in form of joint ventures and M&A, aims to seek and create knowledge by accessing foreign resources and augmenting the existing knowledge and competences, pursuing technology-seeking motives.

As firms from China nowadays have high incentives to internationalize in order to gain access and learn from advanced foreign technologies, as depicted by the technology-seeking motive (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Luo and Tung, 2007, 2018; Child and Rodrigues, 2005), they are expected to employ the competence-creating mode in their international R&D and innovation activities rather than the competence-exploiting mode. In a case study on 14 international R&D units of 12 Chinese firms, Di Minin, Quan, and Zhang (2017) indeed found that all pursue competence-creating purposes. In addition, approximately 70 percent also mention a competence-exploitation goal. The case study also disclosed that many Chinese firms buy European firms to acquire specific technology. The target R&D facilities are retained, aiming at specific strategic products and competences. High-skilled target R&D personnel is then used to train the Chinese R&D personnel with the goal to accelerate the assimilation process in China. Gradually, part of the R&D activities

previously undertaken by the target firm is shifted to China. In contrast with the R&D internationalization pattern of developed-market firms, which move from competence-exploiting to competence-creating, Chinese firms move from competence-creating to competence-creating (Di Minin, Zhang, and Gammeltoft, 2012).

Wang *et al.* (2018) examined the relationship between different types of resource endowment and the choice of international R&D subsidiaries by Chinese MNEs between competence-exploiting and competence-creating. They found that Chinese firms with more financial resources and R&D expenses tend to employ a competence-exploiting mode in international R&D, while Chinese MNEs with more R&D employees favor a competencecreating mode. The researchers also documented that Chinese firms whose R&D internationalization follows the proposed model are more innovative.

3.2.3.2 Technological capability and international innovation success

The first hypothesis in the research model addresses the link between the acquiring firm's technological capability and the target firm's post-acquisition innovation performance in cross-border acquisitions by EMNEs in developed markets.

When going overseas, firms have to face increased managerial complexity, unfamiliarity with the social, political, and economic environment, as well as increased communication costs to coordinate activities across geographic borders. Thus, resources are indispensable to deal with the increased cost and risk in international activities. The RBV of the firm emerged as one perspective to analyze firm's international R&D and innovation activities. It provides a framework to define which resources and capabilities will generate sustainable competitive advantage and future success (Grant, 1991). Based on the RBV of the firm, researchers argue that resource availability as well as the capability to combine them effectively plays a crucial role in defining a firm's overseas growth and success (Tseng

et al., 2007; Amit and Schoemaker, 1993). The RBV attributes resources as factors specific to a firm, rather than factors specific to the industrial environment, in which the firm is active. Therefore, firms within an industry are heterogeneous in the resources they control and as the resources are not perfectly mobile across firms, firm heterogeneity remains over time. Corporate international activities are assumed to be based on the firm's individual resource endowments, which are combined to exploit the unique skills and employ the existing resources in the best way (Tseng *et al.*, 2007). Hence, firms from the same country will exhibit different levels of overseas growth and success.

The literature on the internationalization of corporate R&D and innovation activities has shown that firm-specific resource endowment and capabilities are important drivers and success factors for international R&D and innovation, traditionally focusing on developedmarket firms (Kuemmerle, 1999). Extending this concept to cross-border acquisitions, this study argues that the firm-specific resources and capabilities not only influence the internationalization growth and success of international R&D and innovation activities of the firm itself, but also its capability to promote innovation performance at target firms acquired in cross-border acquisitions. The study investigates whether firm-specific resources and capabilities of the acquirer affect target post-acquisition innovation performance. The study will focus on the effect of the acquiring firm's technological capability and the mediating role of the acquiring firm's prior international acquisition experience.

Grant (1996) explained that the success factor for sustainable competitive advantage is not proprietary knowledge, such as patents, copyrights, and trade secrets, itself, but the technological capability, meaning the integration of this knowledge, which allows to generate new knowledge. The definition of technological capability depends on the perspective and the aim of the researchers. According to Lall (1992), technological capability denotes the ability to execute all technical functions, such as operating and improving a firm's production facilities. This narrow definition has been broadened by Kim (1997). He stated that technological capability represents the ability to effectively use technological knowledge in order that existing technologies are assimilated, used, adapted, and changed, supporting firms to react to the changing economic environment. The researcher also highlighted that it is not the possession of knowledge, but the efficiency with which the knowledge is used and applied in investment, production, and knowledge-creating activities. Therefore, he proposed that the term technological capability can be used synonymously with the term absorptive capacity, which was established by Cohen and Levinthal (1990). Hence, firms with greater technological capability are anticipated to better identify and integrate external knowledge, develop internal capabilities, thus showing better performance than firms with less technological capability.

Because of its intangible nature, technological capability is difficult to imitate (Coombs and Bierly, 2006). Thus, technological capability can be regarded as one of the most important sources of competitive advantage. Already back in the beginning of the 20th century, this concept was developed by Schumpeter, who recognized the relationship between economic development and technical progress and stated that innovation lies in combining inputs (Becker, Knudsen, and Swedberg, 2012). Technological capability not only generates product innovations, which increases the value of a product, but can also improve processes, thereby reducing the firm's cost (Tang *et al.*, 2020).

Prior studies have analyzed the relationship between technological capability and firm performance (Tang *et al.*, 2020; Liao, Fu, and Liu, 2020; Coombs and Bierly, 2006; Jin and Zedtwitz, 2008; Reichert and Zawislak, 2014; Isobe *et al.*, 2008), some also with a focus on EMNEs. Tsai (2004), using a panel data set of Taiwanese electronics firms, documented that technological capability has a significant and positive effect on productivity growth. In line with this finding, Tang *et al.* (2020) showed that technological capability has a

statistically positive effect on the performance of Chinese small and medium-sized enterprises in the manufacturing and service sectors.

Based on the theoretical arguments and empirical findings, firms with superior technological capability are believed to perform better compared to firms with a lower level of technological capability. Extending this model to cross-border acquisitions, it can be argued that acquirers with a higher level of technological capability are better able and more successful in recognizing, absorbing, and using target knowledge, therefore promoting target innovation performance.

Thus, a positive relationship between the acquirer's technological capability and target innovation performance is proposed:

Hypothesis 1. In cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets, the technological capability of the acquiring firm is positively related to the innovation performance of the target firm in the post-acquisition period.

3.2.4 The moderating effect of the acquirer's prior international acquisition experience

Past experience has been identified as one key antecedent of a firm's technological capability. Firms can learn from their own experiences and history. Exposure to knowledge sources, such as inter-organizational relations and learning-by-doing mechanisms, contributes to the establishment of routines and creation of managerial cognition, which in turn affects the firm's ability to manage knowledge and technology. Repeated practice allows a firm to develop dynamic capabilities, such as organizational and strategic routines, through which new resource combinations can be achieved (Galavotti *et al.*, 2020; Ma *et al.*, 2016).
In particular, when EMNEs enter developed markets, they are confronted with an environment oftentimes very different from their home market. Zaheer (1995) established the term liability of foreignness for this phenomenon, stating that firms which operate abroad have to face additional costs compared to local firms. The costs arise from lacking knowledge and unfamiliarity with the norms, social expectations, political, and economic differences in foreign markets as well as the increased expenses to coordinate activities across geographic borders (Zaheer, 1995; Hymer, 1960).

Firms operating abroad can mitigate their liability of foreignness and improve their capabilities by accumulating prior international experience: Previous international acquisition experience will provide the acquirers with routines for screening potential target firms, the ability to learn about integration processes, and skills to solve acquisition-related organizational challenges. At the same time, the acquirers' information, control, and reporting systems as well as their strategic planning are refined, positively influencing the execution of future acquisition events (Ma *et al.*, 2016). In addition, acquirers can accumulate tacit knowledge and develop their absorptive capacity in this specific domain, which can be valuable to later deals (Cohen and Levinthal, 1990). Knowledge about host country conditions helps to obtain local legitimacy and develop social knowledge.

Hence, prior international acquisition experience can reduce operational difficulties and the firm's liability of foreignness, thereby increasing its ability to cope with foreign environments. Firms with prior acquisition experience will be more flexible in management and open for necessary change. Acquisitions, especially across borders, require both involved firms to continuously improve their processes and routines. As a result, their structural flexibility allows them to cope with the post-acquisition processes more easily (Puranam and Srikanth, 2007). Moreover, prior international acquisition experience helps to effectively transfer organizational practices and strategic resources from the target to the acquiring firm, while also building up new resources that can be transferred to the target firm (Galavotti *et al.*, 2020).

Extant research has studied the effect of prior acquisition experience on the survival of foreign investments as well as acquisition performance. Researchers found that there is a positive relationship between prior acquisition experience and acquisition survival as well as acquisition performance (Delios and Beamish, 2001; Galavotti *et al.*, 2020; Ma *et al.*, 2016; Zhou *et al.*, 2016; Chen and Lin, 2009).

Building on these arguments, it is proposed that the acquiring firm's prior international acquisition experience fosters the firm's technological capability and the firm's ability to adapt and transfer strategic resources and knowledge to the target firm, thus, positively moderating the relationship between the acquirer's technological capability and target post-acquisition innovation performance.

Hypothesis 2. The positive relationship between the acquiring firm's technological capability and target innovation performance is stronger if the acquiring firm has prior international acquisition experience.

Figure 6 summarizes the proposed direct (H1) and interaction effect (H2) of acquisitions by emerging-market firms on target innovation performance.

Figure 6. Conceptual model acquirer's technological capability and moderating effect



3.3 Sample and methodology

3.3.1 Sample construction

To examine the effect of the acquiring firm's technological capability on target firm post-acquisition innovation performance in cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets, this study uses a sample of Chinese acquisitions in Germany which occurred between 2007 and 2016.

The data selection process took place in several steps. First, I collected data on M&A from the SDC data base by Thomson Reuters which has been widely used in earlier studies (Ben-Amar and Andre, 2006; Masulis et al., 2007; Wang and Xie, 2009; Ellis et al., 2017; Bhagat *et al.*, 2011). I took all acquisitions into account where the acquiring nation is China and the target nation is Germany up to the year 2016. Before 2000, Chinese FDI was strictly controlled by the Chinese government and only very few acquisitions took place (Buckley et al., 2018). From 2000 onwards policies towards FDI have been liberalized (Buckley et al., 2008). In total, SDC data base reports 131 acquisitions with these premises. Furthermore, I added 35 acquisitions from this period which have not been included in the SDC data base, but reported on the German website Investment Plattform M&A China/Deutschland as well as another 82 acquisitions reported in a study by SMB consultants (SMB Consultants, 2017). I validated all data entries with the ownership data reported in Dafne, a data base with comprehensive information on German firms. Altogether, I identified 248 Chinese acquisitions in Germany through this process. The final data set is the result of a careful screening process: 49 transactions were excluded, as these could be identified as rumored deals, which have not been completed, and asset deals. By limiting the study to acquisitions, where more than 50 percent of the target firm was acquired, I ensure that the study only analyzes acquisitions, where the target after the completion of the acquisition is fully controlled by the acquirer (Bertrand and Betschinger, 2011; Wang and Xie, 2009). This reduced the sample by further 29 acquisitions.

Second, I collected additional firm-level panel data for both the acquiring and the target firms from Dafne and the internet. Moreover, I downloaded the target firms' financial statements from the German data base Bundesanzeiger for several years before and after the acquisition. I had to discard 99 acquisitions, where no data was available, as the German commercial code allows for size-related exemptions for certain disclosure requirements, e.g. revenue. Additionally, I had to drop 26 more acquisitions, because not enough information on the Chinese acquirer could be obtained.

Hence, a refined sample of 45 acquisitions was produced, where firm-level data on the target as well as the acquiring firm was available. Information on target and acquiring firms can be found in the appendix (Table 21). The acquisitions occurred between 2007 and 2016 in the six industry sectors manufacturing, service, trade, energy, construction, and transportation, whereas the first two account for approximately 80 percent. The sample is composed of 45 firms and 181 observations. Due to different acquisition years and data availability, the panel is not balanced, but each firm is observed at least two years after the acquisition. On average, four years after the acquisition event are observed.

3.3.2 Sample characteristics

As the same sample as in chapter 2 is employed, the general sample characteristics (acquisition year, share acquired, target firm industry sector, target state, target and acquirer legal status, target size, target age, target ownership type, relatedness) explained in the previous chapter also apply. To gain a more detailed understanding on the innovation performance of German target firms as well as the Chinese acquirers' technological capability, insights on further sample characteristics will be given.

in each of the three years before acquisition.

First, the study will look at the innovation specific target characteristics innovation rate (number of patent applications each year by the target firm) and innovation impact (number of forward citations that a patent receives in subsequent patents) at the time of the acquisition as well as in the 3-year-period before the acquisition. This helps to draw conclusions, by which kind of German firms Chinese acquirers are attracted. Particularly, EMNEs are assumed to use M&A as a strategy to acquire strategic assets, such as superior technology and advanced know-how (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012; Luo and Tung, 2018, 2007). In this context, especially, the acquisitions, where the target firm is from a developed market and the acquirer from an emerging market, are associated with the fear of knowledge drains, technology transfer, and reduction of innovation performance of target firms, thereby raising concern in the public (Fisch et al., 2018; Bandick et al., 2014; Miozzo et al., 2016; Bertrand, 2009; UNCTAD, 2005). Figure 7 gives an overview on the development of the innovation rate of the German target firms used in the sample in the year of the acquisition, as well as one year, two years, and three years prior to the acquisition. In each of these time periods, approximately 50 percent of the firms did not apply for any patents, while roughly 40 percent of the firms applied for 1 to 10 patents. Only one firm applied for more than 50 patents in the year of acquisition as well as

Second, the development of the target firms' innovation impact, as one perspective of innovation quality, is examined. As shown in Figure 8, in each of the observed periods, approximately 75 percent of the target firms did not receive forward citations in subsequent patents for their patent applications. This result corresponds with the result for innovation rate. If a firm has applied for no patent in the year under investigation, forward citations received are 0, as there are no patents, which could be cited in subsequent patents. Hence, there are even more firms with an innovation impact of 0 than firms with an innovation rate

of 0, as – in addition to the firms with no patent applications – also firms with patent applications partially did not receive any forward citations in subsequent patents.



Figure 7. Development of target firms' innovation rate



Figure 8. Development of target firms' innovation impact

Next, the acquiring firms' technological capability and experience in international acquisitions will be analyzed. Figure 9 shows the level of technological capability at the time of the acquisition event, measured as the number of patent applications by the acquiring firm. Approximately 40 percent of the Chinese firms has applied for more than 100 patents since

their foundation. Roughly 40 percent has between 11 and 100 patent applications, 13 percent has not applied for any patents since their foundation.



Figure 9. Acquirers' technological capability

Moreover, it is analyzed how many of the acquiring firms already engaged in foreign acquisitions prior to the focal acquisition event. Roughly 60 percent have not undertaken international acquisitions before, while approximately one third has already acquired one foreign company before the focal acquisition event. One acquirer has already conducted two international acquisitions, while three Chinese acquirers have already acquired three foreign firms. One acquirer in the sample has already conducted four international acquisitions.

3.3.3 Measures

3.3.3.1 Dependent variable: target firm innovation performance

Patents provide a rich source of information for innovation research and are extensively used as a measure of innovation performance (Makri *et al.*, 2010; Fisch *et al.*, 2018; Zhang *et al.*, 2018; Ahuja and Katila, 2001; Valentini, 2012; Boone *et al.*, 2019). Compared to information on R&D expenditures, patent information is publicly available and all patents are externally validated through the screening process, so consistency and

objectiveness can be assured (Boone *et al.*, 2019; Stiebale, 2016; Ahuja and Katila, 2001). One limitation of using patent data to measure innovation performance is that patented innovations vary in their degree of technical and economic value. Furthermore, the propensity to protect inventions by patents differs across firms (Boone *et al.*, 2019). In this study, two measures are used to examine target innovation performance: innovation rate and innovation quality, both based on patent information (Argyres and Silverman, 2004; Valentini, 2012). With these, diverse aspects of innovation performance can be captured. Table 15 provides an overview of the employed dependent variables:

T	able	15.	Measur	es of	innova	tion	performance

1	Innovation Rate:								
1	number of patent applications each year								
		Innovation quality:	:						
	Measured by three dimensions								
2	Impact:	Generality:	Originality:						
2	number of forward	forward citations received	citations made to earlier						
	citations received	in few (low) or various	patents from few (low) or						
		patent classes (high)	various patent classes (high)						

The first, *Target Innovation Rate*, is captured by the number of patent applications each year with the European patent office (EPO). In the models, where the other innovation measures take the role of the dependent variable, *Target Innovation Rate* is used as control variable. It is expected that the number of patent applications affects the other measures positively.

The second, innovation quality, is captured by three distinct variables: *Target Innovation Impact* is represented by the number of forward citations a patent receives in subsequent patents and mirrors a patent's ability to foster future inventions. It not only measures the influence of a patent, but also its economic value (Valentini, 2012; Makri *et al.*, 2010; Argyres and Silverman, 2004). Next, *Target Innovation Generality*, takes a more

specific look and evaluates, whether a patent receives citations concentrated in few fields or if it stimulates inventions in a variety of areas. The generality of patent *i* is measured as generality_i = $1 - \sum_{j=1}^{n} s_{ij}^2$, where s_{ij} represents the proportion of citations received by patent *i* that belongs to patent class *j*, out of *n* patent classes. So, the generality of a patent will be low, if most citations received are concentrated in a few fields, whereas, if the citing patents belong to a wide range of areas, it will be high, suggesting the patent has a widespread influence (Valentini, 2012; Argyres and Silverman, 2004).

Lastly, *Target Innovation Originality* is employed as the third variable to reflect innovation quality. Originality of patent *i* is measured as *originality*_i = $1 - \sum_{j=1}^{n} t_{ij}^2$, where t_{ij} represents the percentage of citations made by patent *i* to patents from patent class *j*. For example, if a patent refers to previous patents belonging to a narrow field of technology, the originality value will be low, as it is the outcome of a confined search. The reasoning is that the combination of divergent ideas from various fields produces better patents and is therefore characteristic of highly original inventions (Valentini, 2012: 340; Argyres and Silverman, 2004).

3.3.3.2 Independent variable: acquirer's technological capability

Although intensively studied, technological capability is mostly an intangible and unobservable construct (Coombs and Bierly, 2006). Kim (1997) suggests that technological capability has three dimensions: The first dimension is production capability, which refers to the operative task to run, optimize, and maintain established production facilities and related logistics processes. The second dimension, called investment capability relates to the expansion of capacities and building up new production sites. The last dimension, innovation capability, refers to the ability to generate new technological ideas, involving basic as well as applied research, as well as the subsequent transfer of these ideas into concrete products, services, or processes. In theory, the number of new products or processes might be the best measure of technological capability, but in practice nearly not possible to observe. Previous studies have used measures of R&D activities, such as R&D expenditures or R&D expenditures divided by total sales, or patent information, such as number of patents, as indicators of technological capability (García-Muiña and Navas-López, 2007; Tsai, 2004; Coombs and Bierly, 2006; Reichert and Zawislak, 2014). The use of R&D measures as indicators of technological capability comes with at least two problems. First, R&D measures represent input factors. R&D might not be successful, thus not generating new technological capability. Second, R&D is not measured consistently across different firms (Coombs and Bierly, 2006). Patents, on the other side, are output measures of technological capability. The advantages and downsides of using patents as an indicator have already been explained above. This study is interested in, whether acquirers with a higher level of technological capability positively influence target post-acquisition innovation performance. Therefore, the output side of technological capability is more relevant, as this is what the acquirers can employ to manage target innovation performance successfully.

Hence, to identify the effect of the acquirer's technological capability on target innovation performance, the variable *Acquirer Technological Capability*, representing the number of patents applied for by the acquiring firm since its foundation, is employed. The EPO data base is used as source.

3.3.3.3 Moderating variable: acquirer's prior international acquisition experience

To examine, whether the acquiring firm's prior international acquisition experience has a moderating effect on the relationship between the acquirer's level of technological capability and target innovation performance, the moderating variable *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience*, measured as the number of acquisitions in foreign countries completed by the acquirer before the focal acquisition, is used (Hayward, 2002; Hutzschenreuter, Kleindienst, and Schmitt, 2014; Leshchinskii and Zollo, 2004; Zollo and Singh, 2004). The SDC data base and internet research are utilized to find the necessary information.

3.3.3.4 Control variables: target attributes

In accordance with other studies, this study controls for several variables that influence a firm's innovation performance for a correct understanding of the proposed relationship (Fisch et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2017; Eliasson et al., 2017; Boone et al., 2019). The study includes Target Firm Age (years since foundation) and Target *Firm Size* (natural logarithm of total assets), as larger and older firms tend to be able to achieve higher innovation performance. However, there is also an opposing view, which states that older firms tend to maintain their existing product range because lower cost and thus might have a lower tendency to innovate (Zhang et al., 2018). To account for the possibility that more profitable firms are able to dedicate more resources to innovation, the study controls for Target Financial Leverage (debt/total assets) and Target Firm Performance (net income/total assets). The control variable Target Previous Year Innovation Rate (1-year lagged value of Target Innovation Rate) is included for the dependent variable Target Innovation Rate to account for the possibility that innovation rate is driven by a high innovation rate in the previous year. Furthermore, the control variables *Target Public Listing* (dummy variable taking the value of 1, if firm is publicly listed, 0 otherwise), Target Region (dummy variable taking the value of 1, if firm is located in former East Germany, 0 otherwise), Target Industry Performance (development of target industry per year) and Target Industry Group (based on the two-digit German Classification of Economic Activities, issue 2008, WZ2008) are employed, to account for the variation across industries and regions that may influence the firms' incentives to innovate. The variables *Target Financial Leverage, Target Firm Size, Target Public Listing,* and *Target Industry Performance* are lagged by one year. Furthermore, year dummies are added to account for time specific effects. The information was sourced from Dafne, Bundesanzeiger, Amadeus, and the EPO.

3.3.3.5 Control variables: acquirer attributes

I further control for the acquirer attributes *Acquirer Firm Size* (natural logarithm of total assets), *Acquirer Age* (years since foundation), *Acquirer Public Listing* (dummy variable taking the value of 1, if firm is publicly listed, 0 otherwise), and *Acquirer State Ownership* (dummy variable taking the value of 1, if firm is state-owned, 0 otherwise). The variables *Acquirer Firm Size* and *Acquirer Public Listing* are lagged by one year. The information on the acquirer attributes was obtained through the data base LexisNexis and internet research.

3.3.3.6 Control variables: deal attributes

Moreover, the following deal attributes are included: *Relatedness* (dummy variable taking the value of 1 if target and acquirer operate in the same two-digit North American Industry Classification System, 0 otherwise), as affiliation to the same industry might positively influence the transfer of resources beneficial to target innovation performance. Also, *Percentage Acquired* (percentage of ownership of acquirer in target firm) is included as control variable, because acquisitions with a higher volume of shares acquired should better facilitate knowledge transfer. To account for the timespan between the completion of the acquisition and the observation, the control variable *Time since Acquisition* (number of years since acquisition event, whereas 0 represents the year of acquisition) is employed. The

information was sourced from Dafne, SDC data base by Thomson Reuters, and internet research.

The detailed descriptions of all the above variables are given in Table 16.

Variable	Description / Information	Source								
Dependent Variable: Target Innovation Performance										
Target Innovation Rate	Natural logarithm of the target firm's number of patent applications each year.	European Patent Office								
Target Innovation Impact	Natural logarithm of the number of forward citations a patent receives in subsequent patents.	European Patent Office								
Target Innovation Generality	Measured as <i>generality</i> _i = $1 - \sum_{j=1}^{n} s_{ij}^2$, where s_{ij} represents the proportion of citations received by patent <i>i</i> that belongs to patent class <i>j</i> , out of <i>n</i> patent classes. Will be low, if most citations received are concentrated in few fields.	European Patent Office								
Target Innovation Originality	Measured as $originality_i = 1 - \sum_{j=1}^{n} t_{ij}^2$, where t_{ij} represents the percentage of citations made by patent <i>i</i> to patents from patent class <i>j</i> . If a patent refers to previous patents belonging to a narrow field of technology, the originality value will be low.	European Patent Office								
Independent Variable										
Acquirer's Technological Capability	Natural logarithm of the number of patents applied for by the acquiring firms.	European Patent Office								
Moderating Variable										
Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience	Number of international acquisitions completed by the acquiring firm before the focal acquisition. Count variable.	SDC data base and internet research								
Control Variables										
Target attributes										
Target Firm Performance	Return on assets calculated as net income divided by total assets. Lagged by 1 year.	Dafne and firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)								
Target Previous Year Innovation Rate	Target Innovation Rate lagged by 1 year.	European Patent Office								
Target Financial Leverage	Calculated by dividing the firm's debt with the firm's total assets. Lagged by 1 year.	Dafne and firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)								
Target Firm Size	Natural logarithm of the firm's total assets. Lagged by 1 year.	Dafne and firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)								
Target Firm Age	Calculated as years since the firm's foundation. Count variable.	Dafne								
Target Public Listing	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the firm is publicly listed and (0) otherwise. Lagged by 1 year.	Dafne								
Target Region	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the firm is located in former West Germany and (0) otherwise.	Dafne								
Target Industry Group	Two-digit North American Industry Classification System.	Amadeus								
Target Industry Performance	Calculated as development of firm's industry per year. Lagged by 1 year.	Amadeus								
Acquirer attributes										
Acquirer Firm Size	Natural logarithm of the firm's total assets. Lagged by 1 year.	WRDS data base and internet research								

 Table 16. Variable description

Acquirer Firm Age	Calculated as years since the firm's foundation. Count variable.	Internet research	
Acquirer Public Listing	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the firm is publicly listed and (0) otherwise. Lagged by 1 year.	LexisNexis and internet research	
Acquirer State Ownership	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the firm is state-owned and (0) otherwise.	Internet research	
Deal attributes			
Relatedness	Dummy that takes the value of (1) if the acquiring firm and the target firm operate in the same two-digit North American Industry Classification System and (0) otherwise.	LexisNexis and internet research.	
Percentage Acquired	Percentage of ownership of acquirer in target firm. Count variable.	Dafne and firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)	
Time Since Acquisition	Calculated as years since acquisition event, whereas 0 represents the year of acquisition. Count variable.	Firm's annual statements (Bundesanzeiger)	

3.3.4 Estimation method

To test the hypotheses, the study employed feasible generalized least square regressions, which produce a matrix-weighted average of the "random effect" as well as of the "within" results. FGLS comes with three major advantages: the estimated coefficients are more efficient than the ordinary least square model, there are unbiased standard errors whether the firm effect is temporary or permanent, and controlling for fixed effects through firm dummies, which would generate a degree of freedom problem, can be avoided (Buckley *et al.*, 2014; Petersen, 2008).

3.4 Results

Table 17 provides the means, standard deviations, and pairwise correlations for the variables.

The dependent variable *Target Innovation Rate* exhibits the highest correlations with the control variables *Target Previous Year Innovation Rate* (0.876), *Target Firm Size* (0.626), *Acquirer State Ownership* (0.421), *Acquirer Firm Size* (0.369), *Target Public Listing* (0.277), and *Target Firm Age* (0.251), as well as with the independent variable *Acquirer's Technological Capability* (0.222) and the moderating variable *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* (0.189).

Table 17. Means, standard deviations, and correlation coefficients

		Mean	S.D.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)	(18)	(19)	(20)	(21)
(1)	Target Innovation Rate	0.775	1.149	1.000																				
(2)	Target Innovation Impact	0.432	0.985	0.842*	1.000																			
(3)	Target Innovation Generality	0.030	0.074	0.608*	0.777*	1.000																		
(4)	Target Innovation Originality	0.171	0.253	0.668*	0.445*	0.432*	1.000																	
(5)	Target Firm Performance	-0.020	0.150	0.125*	0.139*	0.102	0.080	1.000																
(6)	Target Financial Leverage	0.542	0.278	-0.130*	-0.168*	-0.053	-0.059	-0.268*	1.000															
(7)	Target Firm Size	17.483	1.703	0.626*	0.481*	0.391*	0.555*	0.167*	-0.035	1.000														
(8)	Target Firm Age	28.111	24.275	0.251*	0.151*	0.159*	0.189*	0.045	0.112	0.284*	1.000													
(9)	Target Public Listing	0.166	0.373	0.277*	0.279*	0.231*	0.183*	0.209*	-0.353*	0.323*	0.020	1.000												
(10)	Target Region	0.862	0.346	0.129*	0.154*	0.088	0.114	0.316*	0.063	0.096	0.231*	0.178*	1.000											
(11)	Target Industry Performance	0.055	0.009	-0.022	-0.022	-0.063	-0.051	-0.242*	0.208*	-0.204*	0.120	-0.352*	-0.051	1.000										
(12)	Target Previous Year	0.808	1.144	0.876*	0.745*	0.492*	0.553*	0.096	-0.113	0.632*	0.286*	0.300*	0.129*	-0.012	1.000									
(13)	Acquirer Firm Size	21.154	1.808	0.369*	0.198*	0.132*	0.286*	0.075	0.100	0.569*	0.334*	0.060	0.071	-0.203*	0.401*	1.000								
(14)	Acquirer Firm Age	24.890	14.004	-0.117	-0.129*	-0.121	-0.137*	-0.162*	-0.155*	-0.124*	-0.054	-0.121	-0.528*	0.027	-0.149*	-0.195*	1.000							
(15)	Acquirer Public Listing	0.906	0.293	-0.023	-0.046	-0.001	0.111	-0.079	-0.149*	-0.119	-0.090	0.144*	0.091	0.206*	-0.012	-0.383*	0.012	1.000						
(16)	Acquirer State Ownership	0.276	0.448	0.421*	0.324*	0.234*	0.256*	-0.132*	0.102	0.345*	0.288*	0.123*	-0.147*	-0.045	0.446*	0.421*	0.225*	-0.140*	1.000					
(17)	Relatedness	0.503	0.501	0.145*	0.203*	0.118	-0.018	0.040	0.133*	0.022	0.133*	-0.270*	-0.046	-0.063	0.125*	-0.100	0.101	-0.320*	0.293*	1.000				
(18)	Percentage Acquired	91.794	13.110	0.135*	0.125*	0.058	-0.031	0.029	0.198*	0.084	0.183*	-0.315*	0.025	0.310*	0.104	0.079	0.005	-0.129*	0.132*	0.202*	1.000			
(19)	Time Since Acquisition	3.309	2.066	-0.077	-0.086	-0.112	-0.137*	0.151*	-0.124*	-0.064	0.018	0.012	0.122	-0.101	-0.054	0.066	0.080	-0.025	-0.159*	-0.065	0.088	1.000		
(20)	Acquirer's Technological Capability	4.303	2.070	0.222*	0.185*	0.064	0.162*	0.130*	-0.067	0.314*	0.144*	-0.040	0.052	0.091	0.223*	0.379*	0.073	0.127*	0.125*	-0.144*	0.071	0.120	1.000	
(21)	Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience	0.564	0.956	0.189*	0.229*	0.075	0.096	0.035	-0.045	0.223*	-0.080	0.204*	0.086	-0.061	0.194*	0.036	-0.120	-0.088	-0.041	0.032	0.003	-0.224*	-0.065	1.000

Note: N=181.

*p<0.1.

The dependent variable *Target Innovation Impact* exhibits the highest correlations with the control variables *Target Innovation Rate* (0.842), *Target Firm Size* (0.481), *Acquirer State Ownership* (0.324), *Target Public Listing* (0.279), and *Relatedness* (0.203) as well as with the moderating variable *Acquirer Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* (0.229) and the independent variable *Acquirer's Technological Capability* (0.185).

The dependent variable *Target Innovation Generality* exhibits the highest correlations with the control variables *Target Innovation Rate* (0.608), *Target Firm Size* (0.391), *Acquirer State Ownership* (0.234), *Target Public Listing* (0.231), and *Target Firm Age* (0.159).

The dependent variable *Target Innovation Originality* exhibits the highest correlations with the control variables *Target Innovation Rate* (0.668), *Target Firm Size* (0.555), *Acquirer Firm Size* (0.286), *Acquirer State Ownership* (0.256), and *Target Firm Age* (0.189) as well as with the independent variable *Acquirer's Technological Capability* (0.162). Moreover, some high, medium, and small correlations between various control variables can be observed.

Hence, the Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) are calculated to control for potential multicollinearity problems. All VIF values are well below the threshold value of 10, showing that multicollinearity should not distort the results of the regression analysis (Chatterjee and Hadi, 2000; O'Brien, 2007). The VIF values are documented in Table 18 and Table 19.

The results of the regression analysis are reported in Table 18 and Table 19. Table 18 shows the results for the main model, whereas the results for the interaction effects of the acquirer's technological capability with the acquirer's prior international acquisition experience are reported in Table 19.

Table 18. Regression results for target post-acquisition innovation performance (1)

Dependent Variable:	Model 1 Target Innovation Rate	Model 2 Target Innovation Impact	Model 3 Target Innovation Generality	Model 4 Target Innovation Originality		
Control Variables		*	·			
Target Firm Performance	0.141	-0.020	0.006	0.030		
-	(0.146)	(0.150)	(0.013)	(0.037)		
Target Previous Year Innovation Rate	0.824***					
	(0.048)					
Target Innovation Rate		0.629***	0.032***	0.141***		
		(0.043)	(0.004)	(0.015)		
Target Financial Leverage	-0.138	-0.209	-0.000	-0.006		
	(0.128)	(0.121)	(0.012)	(0.030)		
Target Firm Size	0.083**	0.006	-0.002	0.024*		
	(0.031)	(0.028)	(0.003)	(0.010)		
Target Firm Age	-0.001	-0.001	-0.000	0.001		
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.000)	(0.000)		
Target Public Listing	-0.101	0.038	0.007	-0.124**		
	(0.174)	(0.115)	(0.013)	(0.040)		
Target Region	0.040	0.078	0.007	0.034		
	(0.110)	(0.101)	(0.010)	(0.035)		
Target Industry Performance	-3.212	-0.200	0.073	-0.419		
	(5.012)	(4.582)	(0.445)	(0.982)		
Acquirer Firm Size	0.005	-0.053*	-0.003	-0.008		
	(0.027)	(0.025)	(0.003)	(0.008)		
Acquirer Firm Age	0.001	-0.004	-0.000	0.001		
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.000)	(0.001)		
Acquirer Public Listing	-0.121	-0.223*	-0.000	0.085		
	(0.111)	(0.105)	(0.012)	(0.052)		
Acquirer State Ownership	0.014	0.163	0.010	-0.012		
	(0.117)	(0.091)	(0.008)	(0.030)		
Relatedness	-0.057	0.343**	0.011	-0.085*		
	(0.130)	(0.113)	(0.009)	(0.037)		
Percentage Acquired	-0.003	-0.002	0.000	-0.001		
	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.000)	(0.001)		
Time Since Acquisition	0.018	0.040*	0.000	-0.002		
	(0.021)	(0.017)	(0.002)	(0.004)		
Moderating Variable						
Acquirer's Prior International	0 102	0.122*	0.001	0.014		
Acquisition Experience	0.103	0.133*	-0.001	-0.014		
	(0.065)	(0.056)	(0.005)	(0.016)		
Independent Variable	0.007	0.020*	0.000	0.002		
Acquirer's Technological Capability	-0.007	0.032*	-0.000	-0.003		
Constant	(0.017)	(0.016)	(0.002)	(0.004)		
Constant	-1.012	1.179	0.120	-0.075		
Voor Dummios	(0.785)	(0.702)	(U.U69) V	(0.231)		
I car Dummines	r es Vac	I es	I es	I es		
Chi aquam	1 290 02***	1 CS	112 26***	1 03		
May VIE	1,289.92***	2 52	112.30***	492.79***		
Max. VIF	3.54	3.33	3.33	3.33		
Number of Observations	181	181	181	181		
Number of Firms	45	45	45	45		

*** p<0.001; ** p<0.01; * p<0.05. Standard errors in parentheses.

Hypothesis 1 proposed that the acquiring firm's technological capability is positively related to target innovation performance in the post-acquisition period. The study employed four dependent variables (*Target Innovation Rate, Target Innovation Impact, Target Innovation Generality*, and *Target Innovation Originality*) to capture the diverse aspects of innovation performance. Models 1 - 4 in Table 18 report the results of the four dependents variables including control variables.

Model 1 shows that there is no statistically significant positive effect of the independent variable *Acquirer's Technological Capability* on *Target Innovation Rate* (b = -0.007; p = 0.664). As such, Hypothesis 1 is rejected. The control variable *Target Previous Year Innovation Rate* is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Rate* (b = 0.824; p = 0.000). This result confirms that innovation rate is driven by a high innovation rate in the previous year. *Target Firm Size* (b = 0.083; p = 0.008) is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Rate* firms that innovation rate in the previous year. *Target Firm Size* (b = 0.083; p = 0.008) is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Rate*. This underlines the argument that larger firms tend to be able to achieve higher innovation performance (Zhang *et al.*, 2018).

Next, Model 2 reports the result for the dependent variable *Target Innovation Impact*. The independent variable *Acquirer's Technological Capability* is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Impact* (b = 0.032; p = 0.049), which offers support for Hypothesis 1. The moderating variable *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* is also positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Impact* (b = 0.133; p = 0.017), providing support for the argument that prior experience in international acquisitions will increase the acquirer's ability to cope in foreign environments and helps to effectively transfer organizational practices and strategic resources. The control variable *Target Firm Size* (b = 0.006; p = 0.824), which has been statistically significant in Model 1, loses its significance. The control variable *Target Innovation Rate* is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Rate* is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Rate* is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Rate* is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Impact* (b = 0.629; p = 0.000), confirming the

expectation that the number of patent applications affects the other measures positively. Moreover, Acquirer Firm Size (b = -0.053; p = 0.034) has a significant negative effect on *Target Innovation Impact*, not lending support to the argument that larger firms tend to be able to promote higher innovation performance (Zhang et al., 2018). Furthermore, Acquirer Public Listing is negatively and significantly related to Target Innovation Impact (b = -0.223; p = 0.034). Additionally, *Relatedness* is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Impact* (b = 0.343; p = 0.002), showing that affiliation to the same industry positively influences target innovation impact. Earlier studies found that technological similarity of acquiring and target firm can lead to a relocation of technological resources, resulting in the rationalization of R&D activities, hence having a negative influence on innovation (Sears and Hoetker, 2014; Makri et al., 2010; Cassiman et al., 2005; Colombo and Rabbiosi, 2014; Szücs, 2014). However, the finding of this study suggests that relatedness is beneficial to the impact of the target firm's innovations. One possible explanation could be that in case of cross-border acquisitions by EMNEs in developedmarkets, similarity helps to establish a shared knowledge base from which innovations can be developed that possess the ability to foster future inventions. Time Since Acquisition is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Impact* (b = 0.040; p = 0.021), showing that a longer time span since the acquisition event is beneficial for the innovation rate. This is as expected and shown by Bresman et al. (1999), because knowledge transfer becomes reciprocal and combined knowledge development projects emerge over time (Ranft and Lord, 2002; Birkinshaw et al., 2000).

In Model 3, there is no statistically significant positive effect of the *Acquirer's Technological Capability* on *Target Innovation Generality* (b = -0.000; p = 0.970), hence not supporting Hypothesis 1. As in Model 2, the control variable *Target Innovation Rate* is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Generality* (b = 0.032; p = 0.000).

The control variables Acquirer Firm Size (b = -0.003; p = 0.205), Acquirer Public Listing (b = -0.000; p = 0.986), Relatedness (b = 0.011; p = 0.238), Time Since Acquisition (b = 0.000; p = 0.858), and the moderating variable Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience (b = -0.001; p = 0.894) lose significance.

Model 4 also shows no statistically significant positive effect of the Acquirer's Technological Capability on Target Innovation Originality (b = -0.003; p = 0.539), not supporting Hypothesis 1. As expected, the control variable *Target Innovation Rate* is positively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Originality* (b = 0.141; p = 0.000). Furthermore, *Target Firm Size* (b = 0.024; p = 0.018) has a significant positive effect on *Target Innovation Originality*, also underlining the argument that larger firms tend to be able to achieve higher innovation performance (Zhang et al., 2018). Moreover, Target Public *Listing* is negatively and significantly related to *Target Innovation Originality* (b = -0.124; p = 0.002). Additionally, *Relatedness* is negatively and significantly related to *Target* Innovation Originality (b = -0.085; p = 0.022). This shows that affiliation to the same industry negatively influences target innovation originality, contrasting the result from Model 2, where relatedness positively influenced target innovation impact. One possible explanation for this result could be that the knowledge bases from both firms are very similar and therefore related knowledge is employed to create future innovations and thus, innovations rely on patents from few patent classes (Sears and Hoetker, 2014; Makri et al., 2010; Cassiman et al., 2005; Colombo and Rabbiosi, 2014; Szücs, 2014).

These results only give partial support to Hypothesis 1 that the acquiring firm's technological capability is positively related to target innovation performance in the post-acquisition period. Different aspects of innovation performance need to be distinguished. First of all, for target innovation rate, target innovation generality, and target innovation originality no significant effect of the acquiring firm's technological capability could be

identified. However, the results show support for a positive effect of the acquiring firm's technological capability on innovation impact, as documented in Model 2. This documents that higher acquiring firm's technological capability leads to an increase in target post-acquisition innovation impact, which is reflected by the number of forward citations a patent receives in subsequent patents and represents a patent's ability to foster future inventions and not only measures the influence of a patent, but also its economic value (Valentini, 2012; Makri *et al.*, 2010; Argyres and Silverman, 2004). This result is an indication that target firms benefit from the acquiring firms' technological capability as the acquiring firms' technological capability as the acquiring firms' technological capability to improve the quality and hence impact of their innovations (Chen *et al.*, 2017).

Models 5 – 8 in Table 19 introduce the interaction effect between Acquirer's *Technological Capability* and *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* for the different dependent variables. For the dependent variable *Target Innovation Rate* (Model 5), the interaction of *Acquirer's Technological Capability* and *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* shows the expected sign but is not significant (b = 0.040; p = 0.384).

For the dependent variable *Target Innovation Impact* (Model 6), the interaction of *Acquirer's Technological Capability* and *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* is negative but not significant (b = -0.031; p = 0.406). For the dependent variable *Target Innovation Generality* (Model 7), the analysis also reports a negative but not significant interaction of *Acquirer's Technological Capability* and *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* (b = -0.002; p = 0.582). Last, also for the dependent variable *Target Innovation Originality* (Model 8), the interaction of *Acquirer's Technological Capability* and *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* (b = -0.002; p = 0.582). Last, also for the dependent variable *Target Innovation Originality* (Model 8), the interaction of *Acquirer's Technological Capability* and *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* is negative but not significant (b = -0.006; p = 0.666).

Table 19. Regression results for target post-acquisition innovation performance (2)

Dependent Variable:	Model 5 Target Innovation Rate	Model 6 Target Innovation Impact	Model 7 Target Innovation Generality	Model 8 Target Innovation Originality	
Control Variables		1	2	8 7	
Target Firm Performance	0.147	-0.041	0.004	0.032	
C .	(0.146)	(0.148)	(0.014)	(0.040)	
Target Previous Year Innovation Rate	0.831***				
	(0.048)				
Target Innovation Rate		0.635***	0.031***	0.141***	
6		(0.044)	(0.005)	(0.015)	
Target Financial Leverage	-0.100	-0.243	-0.002	-0.002	
	(0.136)	(0.128)	(0.014)	(0.032)	
Target Firm Size	0.089**	0.003	-0.002	0.024*	
	(0.031)	(0.029)	(0.003)	(0.010)	
Target Firm Age	-0.001	-0.001	-0.000	0.001	
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.000)	(0.000)	
Target Public Listing	-0.104	0.031	0.009	-0.124**	
Tanget I aono Zisting	(0.176)	(0.117)	(0.013)	(0.041)	
Target Region	0.007	0.099	0.010	0.029	
Turget Region	(0.113)	(0.110)	(0.011)	(0.036)	
Target Industry Performance	-3.953	-0.626	0.078	-0.464	
Target industry refformance	(5.045)	(4 775)	(0.398)	(1.044)	
Acquirer Firm Size	0.001	-0.051	-0.003	-0.007	
requirer i min 5/20	(0.027)	(0.026)	(0.003)	(0.008)	
Acquirer Firm Age	0.000	-0.004	-0.000	0.001	
Acquirer I init Age	(0.003)	-0.004	-0.000	(0.001)	
Acquirer Public Listing	-0.105	-0.248*	-0.002	0.087	
Acquirer Fublic Listing	(0.117)	-0.248	-0.002	(0.052)	
Acquirer State Ownership	(0.117)	(0.111)	(0.012)	0.013	
Acquirer State Ownership	(0.112)	(0.096)	(0.009)	-0.013	
Relatedness	-0.080	0.365**	(0.003)	-0.084*	
Kelatedness	(0.138)	(0.123)	(0.012)	-0.084	
Persontage Acquired	(0.138)	(0.123)	(0.010)	(0.040)	
Fercentage Acquired	-0.003	-0.001	(0.000)	-0.001	
Time Since Acquisition	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.000)	(0.001)	
The Shice Acquisition	(0.022)	(0.018)	(0.002)	-0.002	
Modorating Variable	(0.020)	(0.018)	(0.002)	(0.004)	
Acquirer's Prior International					
Acquisition Experience	-0.092	0.279	0.010	0.014	
	(0.242)	(0.186)	(0.022)	(0.066)	
Independent Variable					
Acquirer's Technological Capability	-0.017	0.041*	0.000	-0.003	
	(0.019)	(0.020)	(0.002)	(0.005)	
Interaction Effect					
Acquirer's Technological Capability x					
Acquirer's Prior International	0.040	0.021	0.002	0.007	
Acquisition Experience	0.040	-0.031	-0.002	-0.006	
Constant	(0.046)	(0.037)	(0.004)	(0.014)	
Constant	-0.985	1.218	0.111	-0.080	
V	(0.//9)	(0.726)	(0.069)	(0.244)	
I ear Dummies	Y es	Y es	Y es	Y es	
maustry Group Dummies	Yes	Y es	Y es	Yes	
Cni-square	1,390.96***	522.74***	113./1***	499.91***	
Max. VIF	7.49	/.43	/.43	7.43	
Number of Observations	181	181	181	181	
Number of Firms	45	45	45	45	

*** p<0.001; ** p<0.01; * p<0.05. Standard errors in parentheses.

Hence, these results do not support Hypothesis 2 and the acquiring firm's prior international acquisition experience does not moderate the baseline relationship in such a way that the effect of the acquiring firm's technological capability on target innovation performance becomes more positive, if the acquiring firm has gained prior international acquisition experience. Quite the contrary is suggested by the results: for the dependent variables representing target innovation quality, namely target innovation impact, target innovation generality, and target innovation originality, the interaction term reports a negative sign. Although not significant, this indicates that the positive effect of the acquiring firm's technological capability on target innovation impact, generality, and originality is weakened in case the acquirer has already accumulated prior international acquisition experience. Only for target innovation rate the interaction term possesses the expected sign.

In addition, I performed a sensitivity analysis to assess the robustness of the results toward alternative variable specification for the variable *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience*. Specifically, instead of considering all international acquisitions completed by the acquiring firm before the focal acquisition independent from if they occurred in other emerging markets, developed markets, or neighboring Asian countries, I narrowed down the scope of the variable to two other possible specifications: First, prior international acquisition experience in developed markets and, second, prior international acquisitions might be more helpful, because they are more similar to the acquisition event under observation in a developed market.

First, the analysis was repeated with the restriction that only prior international acquisitions by the acquirer undertaken in developed markets are considered (count variable coded as number of international acquisitions completed by the acquiring firm in developed markets before the focal acquisition).

Approximately 70 percent of the acquirers in the sample have not conducted acquisitions in developed markets before the focal acquisition event. While 27 percent have already acquired one developed-market firm, only one firm in the sample has already acquired three developed-market firms and one firm already four developed-market firms. As in Model 1, 3, and 4, no significant effect on target innovation rate, generality, and originality can be observed. However, the previously positive effect of *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* on *Target Innovation Impact*, as documented in Model 2, becomes insignificant (b = -0.015; p = 0.828) with the new variable specification *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience in Developed Markets*, implying that the acquirer's prior international acquisition experience in developed markets does not positively influence target innovation impact.

I also introduced the variable with the new specification as moderator and found a positive and significant effect (b = 0.054; p = 0.007) of the interaction between *Acquirer's Technological Capability* and *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience in Developed Markets* for the dependent variable *Target Innovation Originality*. This finding implies that the effect of the acquirer's technological capability on the target firm's innovation originality becomes more positive, when the acquirer has accumulated prior international acquisition experience in developed markets, leading to a higher originality value of the target firm's patent applications.

Second, the analysis was repeated with the restriction that only prior international acquisition experience by the acquirer in European countries is considered (count variable coded as number of international acquisitions completed by the acquiring firm in European countries before the focal acquisition). In the sample, 80 percent have not previously acquired European firms, while the other 20 percent have already conducted one acquisition in Europe. The positive effect of the *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience*

on *Target Innovation Impact* as documented in Model 2 remains and even becomes stronger with the new variable specification as *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience in European Markets* (b = 0.214; p = 0.019). As in Model 1, 3, and 4, no significant effect on the other innovation performance measures can be observed.

Consistent with the finding above, I also found a positive and significant effect (b = 0.066; p = 0.005) of the interaction between *Acquirer's Technological Capability* and *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience in European Markets* for the dependent variable *Target Innovation Originality*, implying that the effect of the acquirer's technological capability on the target firm's innovation originality becomes more positive, when the acquirer has accumulated prior international acquisition experience in European countries, leading to a higher originality value of the target firm's patent applications. The effect is even stronger than for the variable specification *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience in Developed Markets*.

In contrast, a negative and significant effect (b = -0.110; p = 0.027) of the interaction between *Acquirer's Technological Capability* and *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience in European Markets* for the dependent variable *Target Innovation Impact* could be observed. This finding indicates that the effect of the acquirer's technological capability on the target firm's innovation impact is weakened, when acquirers have accumulated prior international acquisition experience in European markets.

The sensitivity analysis mostly confirms the prior results and gives further insights if all kinds of prior acquisition experience impose the same effect or if there is a difference, where the acquisition experience has been accumulated: no significant relationship between the acquirer's prior international acquisition experience and target innovation rate, target innovation generality, and target innovation originality could be found for either specification. Target innovation impact is only positively influenced, if the acquiring firm either has prior international acquisition experience in general or in European markets, whereas prior international acquisition experience in developed markets does not impose a significant effect on target innovation impact.

While the interaction effect between *Acquirer's Technological Capability* and *Acquirer's Prior International Acquisition Experience* is not significant for either target innovation performance measure, there is a positive and significant effect of the interaction for the dependent variable *Target Innovation Originality* if the acquirer has gained prior international acquisition experience in developed markets or European countries.

Surprisingly, the effect of the *Acquirer's Technological Capability* on the target firm's innovation impact is weakened, when acquirers have accumulated prior international acquisition experience in European markets. The results show that acquisition experience has to be differentiated: for some aspects of target innovation performance it matters where the acquirer has gained prior acquisition experience. All results of the sensitivity analysis are available upon request.

3.5 Discussion and conclusion

The purpose of this research was to examine the role of the acquiring firm's technological capability on target firm post-acquisition innovation performance. In recent years, M&A have reached unprecedented levels at a global stage. Cross-border M&A are a frequently observed method for firms, especially from emerging markets, to grow and increase their competiveness by integrating superior technological know-how and advanced knowledge held by foreign firms to survive in global competition.

Existing research has offered valuable insights on the effect of an acquisition event on target innovation performance. Yet, empirical evidence is still inconclusive with findings for a negative, positive, or ambiguous relation between M&A and its effect on target innovation performance. This study took the question one step further and took a closer look if the acquirer's technological capability and prior international acquisition experience make a difference for target innovation performance. Extant studies have so far largely overlooked the relevance of the target's and acquirer's country of origin as well as the acquiring firm's capability to promote target innovation performance successfully. Moreover, I specifically chose a sample of EMNEs which acquired firms from developed markets. Country of origin matters, because, in contrast to most developed-market firms, which internationalize gradually and exploit their own firm-specific advantages abroad, EMNEs venture abroad and acquire foreign firms to gain competitive advantage in terms of strategic assets, such as brands and superior technology (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Alon *et al.*, 2010; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012). Hence, this setting is especially interesting, as these acquirers are mainly interested in gaining access to superior know-how and technology and brings up the question if the emerging-market acquirers themselves also have to offer something in terms of innovativeness for the target firms.

Using a panel data set on Chinese acquisitions in Germany over the period from 2007 until 2016, this study shows that target firm innovation performance is partly positively affected by the acquirer's technological capability. In terms of target innovation impact, as one aspect of innovation quality, target firms benefit from the acquirer's technological capability. Hence, target firms, which have been acquired by firms with higher technological capability, experience increased innovation impact in the post-acquisition phase. Furthermore, there was no statistically significant effect of the acquirer's technological capability in regard with the other dimensions of target innovation performance, namely innovation rate, innovation originality, and innovation generality. Therefore, Hypothesis 1 received partial support. Moreover, this study analyzed if the relationship between acquirer's technological capability and innovation performance is altered by the acquirer's prior international acquisition experience in such a way that the relationship becomes more positive, as these acquirers have already gained experience with international acquisitions prior to the focal acquisition event. However, no support for this hypothesis could be found. In addition, a sensitivity analysis was performed with alternative specification of the acquirer's prior international acquisition experience. It mostly confirms the prior results and gives further insights that for some measures of innovation performance it matters, where the acquisition experience has been accumulated.

The findings emphasize that various aspects of innovation performance have to be differentiated, when conducting research on innovation performance. Varying measures for innovation performance might also be the reason for the inconclusive results on the effect of cross-border acquisitions on target innovation performance in prior studies so far.

There are limitations to this study, which offer opportunities for further research. First, the data set mainly includes not publicly listed target firms. Hence, there was only little information available on their R&D activities in general. Future studies should further test the findings by replicating the study with data that provides further characteristics important in innovation research, such as R&D expenditures, number of R&D employees, and skill intensity (e.g. share of employees with higher education). Moreover, this is also applicable for the acquiring firms. Second, this study focuses on Chinese acquisitions in Germany and the results might therefore not be generalizable to other cultural contexts. Thus, future studies should replicate this study with acquirers from other emerging markets and target firms from other developed countries. Third, the results should be tested for a longer time period. Many acquisitions from emerging-market acquirers in developed markets have just occurred recently, reducing the available amount of post-acquisition data on the target firms, in this study an average of four years per firm is observed. Knowledge transfer does not happen immediately after acquisition, it rather develops over time and requires frequent communication, trust, and personal interaction. Post-merger integration is especially challenging for knowledge-intensive firms, because a balance must be kept in order to realize synergies without disruption of the target firm's capabilities (Ranft and Lord, 2002; Bresman *et al.*, 1999).

Conclusion

Using unique comprehensive longitudinal panel data on acquisitions by Chinese acquirers in Germany that occurred in the time period 2007 until 2016 and involved the takeover of a majority stake in the German firm, this thesis investigated the implications of acquisitions by emerging-market firms on target firm performance in developed markets. More specifically, the thesis focused on the following research questions drawing on the growing literature on cross-border acquisitions by EMNEs: (1) How do acquisitions by EMNEs in developed markets influence target post-acquisition firm performance? (2) How do TMT and CEO turnover influence target post-acquisition firm performance in case of EMNEs acquisitions in developed markets and what is the moderating role of appointing an acquiring firm's manager as target CEO? (3) How does the acquirer's technological capability influence target post-acquisition performance in case of EMNEs acquisitions in developed markets and does prior international acquisition experience of the acquiring firm play a moderating role in this relationship?

Table 20 provides on overview on the results and which hypotheses were confirmed. In Chapter 1, the thesis found that emerging-market acquirers reduce target firm postacquisition performance, measured as return on assets, and thus destroy value at the developed-market target firms. I replicated the analysis with a sample of German firms, which have been acquired by Austrian firms, to rule out the general foreign acquisition effect. No negative effect of the acquisition event on target firm post-acquisition performance could be evidenced in this sample, underlining that the destroyed value in the Chinese acquired sample cannot be attributed to a general negative effect of foreign takeovers. Moreover, in Chapter 2, the thesis analyzed the development of the executive teams at the developed-market target firms in the post-acquisition phase and provided no evidence that target TMT turnover has a negative effect on target post-acquisition performance, whereas evidence was found that target CEO turnover has a positive effect on target postacquisition performance. The study found no support that the appointment of an acquiring firm's manager as new target CEO weakens the positive relationship between target CEO turnover and target post-acquisition performance.

Table 20.	Findings	of the	thesis
-----------	----------	--------	--------

Chapter 1	H1	Emerging-market ownership has a negative effect on developed-market target firm performance.	Confirmed
	H1a	In cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets, there is a negative relation between target TMT turnover and target post-acquisition performance.	Not confirmed
Chapter 2	H1b	In cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets, there is a positive relation between target CEO turnover and target post-acquisition performance.	Confirmed
	H2	The positive relationship between target CEO turnover and target post-acquisition performance in cross-border acquisition by emerging-market firms in developed markets is weaker, if an acquiring firm's manager is appointed as CEO at the target firm.	Not confirmed
Chapter 3	H1	In cross-border acquisitions by emerging-market firms in developed markets, the technological capability of the acquiring firm is positively related to the innovation performance of the target firm in the post-acquisition period.	Partly confirmed (only for dependent variable target innovation impact)
	H2	The positive relationship between the acquiring firm's technological capability and target innovation performance is stronger if the acquiring firm has prior international acquisition experience.	Not confirmed

Furthermore, the study found partial support that target firm innovation performance is positively affected by the acquirer's technological capability. In terms of target innovation impact, as one aspect of innovation performance, target firms benefit from the acquirer's technological capability. Besides, there was no statistically significant effect of the acquirer's technological capability on the other dimensions of target innovation performance, namely target innovation rate, target innovation originality, and target innovation generality. Moreover, the study analyzed if the relationship between the acquirer's technological capability and target firm innovation performance is altered by the acquirer's prior international acquisition experience in such a way that the relationship becomes more positive, as these type of acquirers have already gained experience with international acquisitions prior to the focal acquisition event. However, no support for this hypothesis could be found.

The findings of this thesis possess a number of theoretical implications and contribute to the existing literature on emerging-market firms and the advancement of international business theories. First, they contrast traditional IB theory that foreign-owned firms in general show superior performance, because foreigners import superior technology and good management practices (Gu *et al.*, 2019; Erdogan, 2013; Haskel *et al.*, 2007; Dunning, 2000). The results of this thesis show that this does not necessarily hold true for developed-market firms owned by emerging-market acquirers. In fact, when studying the effect of foreign ownership on target firm performance, the heterogeneity in the foreign acquirers cannot be ignored, as also evidenced by Tőkés (2019). Researchers therefore need to incorporate the acquirer's country-of-origin in their studies. Further, these findings are consistent with existing evidence that EMNEs venture abroad and acquire foreign firms to gain strategic assets in terms of valuable brands and superior technology as well as capabilities rather than exploiting their existing intangible assets (Ramamurti and Hillemann, 2018; Alon *et al.*,

133

2010; Chen and Cuervo-Cazurra, 2012). Second, this thesis extends prior research by linking current knowledge on target turnover and target firm post-acquisition performance in the context of emerging-market cross-border acquisitions. Specifically focusing on emerging-market acquisitions in developed markets and using unique up-to-date data including a majority of privately held firms, the findings contradict the majority of extant studies, which advanced that target TMTs are an important part of the acquired resource base and therefore have value for the target post-acquisition performance (Cannella and Hambrick, 1993a; Walsh and Ellwood, 1991). The findings in this study confirmed that the relationship between target turnover and target post-acquisition is not as straightforward. The relationship remains complex and differing contextual factors need to be considered, confirming the call by Krug *et al.* (2014) for further research, especially in new research contexts, such as privately-held firms and cross-border acquisitions. Third, the thesis contributes to innovation literature. The results documented that different aspects of innovation performance need to be differentiated when analyzing effects on innovation performance.

These findings also have important implications for managerial practice. Emergingmarket acquisitions often raise concerns of policymakers and the public that they negatively influence target firms and thus target economy (UNCTAD, 2017; Miozzo *et al.*, 2016; Grimpe and Hussinger, 2014; Valentini, 2012). While the international press mainly focuses on single acquisitions and their consequences, this study provides a holistic picture. The results of this study show that these acquisitions indeed destroy value for the target firms. Consequently, these findings imply that policymakers should consider the possible negative outcomes and try to implement a careful screening process as well as guidance for target firms as well as the acquirer when it comes to the post-acquisition integration. This thesis provides results on the implications of emerging-market cross-border M&A on developed-market target firm performance based on in-depth data research and analyses. As any scientific research, it comes along with several limitations, which offer promising avenues for future research. First, the hypotheses are tested with a sample of Chinese acquisitions in Germany. China is the major source of emerging-market cross-border acquisitions and therefore one important example of emerging-market acquisitions in developed countries. By restricting the research setting, I was able to establish a unique and comprehensive data set including a majority of privately held firms. However, the drawback is that the hand-collected data set does not allow to examine the impact of emerging-market ownership across different developed countries and emerging-market acquirers. Hence, the results should be further tested by replicating the studies in different economic contexts. This applies to the acquiring as well as to the target nation. Future studies could concentrate on acquirers from other emerging markets, such as Brazil, Russia, and India, but also on other developed-market targets, such as the United States or Great Britain, and evaluate, whether the results of this thesis can be generalized.

Second, future research can enhance the findings of this thesis by evaluating whether the findings also hold in longer time periods. Many acquisitions from emerging-market acquirers in developed markets have just occurred recently, reducing the available amount of post-acquisition data on the target firms. On average, this thesis was able to include information for four years after the acquisition event. However, post-acquisition integration, including knowledge transfer, does not happen immediately after acquisition, it rather develops over time and requires frequent communication, trust, and personal interaction. Therefore, acquisition effects require time until they are reflected in the various aspects of target performance. Of course, with a growing time span, other impacts not necessarily related to the acquisition event also gain influence and need to be distinguished. Third, given that the sample predominantly consists of privately held firms, I encountered difficulty in gathering additional target-specific information from public sources. Inclusion of more target attributes could extend the empirical design.

Another limitation of this study, also owing to the limited availability of financial information, is that I was unable to conduct further analysis using other measures. Future studies could pick up here and additionally test the findings for other measures of target firm performance, e.g. sales growth, and also replicate the study on innovation performance with data that provides further characteristics important in innovation research, such as R&D expenditures, number of R&D employees, and skill intensity (e.g. share of employees with higher education).

References

- Abdallah AA-N, Ismail AK. 2017. Corporate governance practices, ownership structure, and corporate performance in the GCC countries. *Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money* **46**: 98–115.
- Ahammad MF, Tarba SY, Liu Y, Glaister KW. 2016. Knowledge transfer and cross-border acquisition performance: The impact of cultural distance and employee retention. *International Business Review* 25(1): 66–75.
- Ahern KR, Daminelli D, Fracassi C. 2015. Lost in translation? The effect of cultural values on mergers around the world. *Journal of Financial Economics* **117**(1): 165–189.
- Ahmed K, Bebenroth R. 2019. Acquisition behavior of emerging versus developed market multinationals. *Organizations and Markets in Emerging Economies* **10**(1): 9–30.
- Ahuja G, Katila R. 2001. Technological Acquisitions and The Innovation Performance of Acquiring Firms: A Longitudinal Study. *Strategic Management Journal* **22**: 197–220.
- Alon T. 2010. Institutional Analysis and the Determinants of Chinese FDI. *Multinational Business Review* **18**(3): 1–24.
- Alon T, Hale G, Santos J. 2010. What Is China's Capital Seeking in a Global Environment?
- Amit R, Schoemaker PJH. 1993. Strategic Assets and Organizational Rent. *Strategic Management Journal* **14**(1): 33–46.
- Argyres NS, Silverman BS. 2004. R&D, organization structure, and the development of corporate technological knowledge. *Strategic Management Journal* **25**(89): 929–958.
- Aureli S. 2015. Performance of unlisted Italian companies acquired by multinationals from emerging markets. *Journal of Organizational Change Management* **28**(5): 895–924.
- Aybar B, Ficici A. 2009. Cross-Border Acquisitions and Firm Value: An Analysis of Emerging-Market Multinationals. *Journal of International Business Studies* 40(8): 1317–1338.
- Baker HK, Dutta S, Saadi S, Zhu P. 2012. Are Good Performers Bad Acquirers? *Financial Management* **41**(1): 95–118.
- Bandick R, Görg H, Karpaty P. 2014. Foreign Acquisitions, Domestic Multinationals, and R&D. *The Scandinavian Journal of Economics* **116**(4): 1091–1115.
- Bauer F, Matzler K, Wolf S. 2016. M&A and innovation: The role of integration and cultural differences—A central European targets perspective. *International Business Review* 25(1): 76–86.
- Becker MC, Knudsen T, Swedberg R. 2012. Schumpeter's Theory of Economic Development: 100 years of development. *Journal of Evolutionary Economics* 22(5): 917–933.
- Ben-Amar W, Andre P. 2006. Separation of Ownership from Control and Acquiring Firm Performance: The Case of Family Ownership in Canada. *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting* **33**(3-4): 517–543.
- Bertrand O. 2009. Effects of foreign acquisitions on R&D activity: Evidence from firm-level data for France. *Research Policy* **38**(6): 1021–1031.
- Bertrand O, Betschinger M-A. 2011. Performance of domestic and cross-border acquisitions: empirical evidence from Russian acquirers.
- Bertrand O, Betschinger M-A, Settles A. 2016. The relevance of political affinity for the initial acquisition premium in cross-border acquisitions. *Strategic Management Journal* 37(10): 2071–2091.
- Bhagat S, Bolton B. 2007. Corporate Governance and Firm Performance, University of Colorado.
- Bhagat S, Malhotra S, Zhu P. 2011. Emerging country cross-border acquisitions: characteristics, acquirer returns and cross-sectional determinants. *Emerging Markets Review* **12**: 250–271.
- Bilgili TV, Calderon CJ, Allen DG, Kedia BL. 2017. Gone With the Wind: A Meta-Analytic Review of Executive Turnover, Its Antecedents, and Postacquisition Performance. *Journal of Management* **43**(6): 1966–1997.
- Birkinshaw J, Bresman H, Håkanson L. 2000. Managing the Post-acquisition Integration Process: How the Human lintegration and Task Integration Processes Interact to Foster Value Creation. *Journal of Management Studies* **37**(3): 395–425.
- Black BS, Jang H, Kim W. 2006a. Does Corporate Governance Predict Firms' Market Values? Evidence from Korea. *Journal of Law, Economics, & Organization* 22(2): 366– 413.
- Black BS, Love I, Rachinsky A. 2006b. Corporate governance indices and firms' market values: Time series evidence from Russia. *Emerging Markets Review* **7**(4): 361–379.
- Bloomberg. 2018. Global M&A Market Review: Financial Rankings 2017.
- Bloomberg. 2019. Global M&A Market Review: Financial Rankings 2018.
- Boateng A, Qian W. 2007. Cross-border M&As by Chinese firms: An analysis of strategic motives and performance. *International Business Review* **3**(4): 19–29.
- Boone C, Lokshin B, Guenter H, Belderbos R. 2019. Top management team nationality diversity, corporate entrepreneurship, and innovation in multinational firms. *Strategic Management Journal* **40**(2): 277–302.
- Bresman H, Birkinshaw J, Nobel R. 1999. Knowledge Transfer in International Acquisitions. *Journal of International Business Studies* **30**(3): 439–462.
- Bruner RF. 2002. Does M&A Pay? A Survey of Evidence for the Decision-Maker. *Journal* of Applied Finance **12**(1): 48–68.

- Brunner C. 2020. Are Firms with Technological Capability Better Acquirers? Chinese Acquisitions in Germany and Target Firm Post-Acquisition Innovation Performance: WHU School of Management, Unpublished Working Paper.
- Brunner C. 2020. Overseas Acquisitions by Emerging-Market Firms in Developed Markets and Target Firm Performance – an Empirical Analysis of Chinese Acquisitions in Germany: WHU School of Management, Unpublished Working Paper.
- Brunner C. 2020. Target Top Management Team Turnover and Post-acquisition Performance in Cross-border M&A by Emerging-Market Acquirers – an Empirical Analysis of Chinese Acquisitions in Germany: WHU School of Management, Unpublished Working Paper.
- Buckley PJ, Clegg J, Zheng P, Siler PA, Giorgioni G. 2007a. The Impact of Foreign Direct Investment on the Productivity of China's Automotive Industry. *Management International Review* **47**(5): 707–724.
- Buckley PJ, Clegg LJ, Cross AR, Liu X, Voss H, Zheng P. 2007b. The Determinants of Chinese Outward Foreign Direct Investment. *Journal of International Business Studies* 38(4): 499–518.
- Buckley PJ, Clegg LJ, Voss H, Cross AR, Liu X, Zheng P. 2018. A retrospective and agenda for future research on Chinese outward foreign direct investment. *Journal of International Business Studies* **49**(1): 4–23.
- Buckley PJ, Cross AR, Tan H, Xin L, Voss H. 2008. Historic and Emergent Trends in Chinese Outward Direct Investment. *Management International Review* **48**(6): 715–748.
- Buckley PJ, Elia S. 2011. FDI from emerging to advanced countries: Some insights on the acquisition strategies and on the performance of target firms. *Journal of Industrial and Business Economics* **38**(1): 181–197.
- Buckley PJ, Elia S, Kafouros M. 2010. Acquisitions from emerging countries: what factors influence the performance of target firms in advanced countries? *European Journal International Management* **4**(1/2): 30–47.
- Buckley PJ, Elia S, Kafouros M. 2014. Acquisitions by emerging market multinationals: Implications for firm performance. *Journal of World Business* **49**(4): 611–632.
- Cannella AA, Hambrick DC. 1993a. Effects of Executive Departures on the Performance of Acquired Firms. *Strategic Management Journal* **14**: 137–152.
- Cannella AA, Hambrick DC. 1993b. Relative Standing: A Framework for Understanding Departures of Acquired Executives. *Academy of Management Journal* **36**(4): 733–762.
- Cantwell J, Mudambi R. 2005. MNE Competence-Creating Subsidiary Mandates. *Strategic Management Journal* **26**(12) 2005: 1109–1128.
- Cassiman B, Colombo MG, Garrone P, Veugelers R. 2005. The impact of M&A on the R&D process. *Research Policy* **34**(2): 195–220.
- Chang S-J, Chung J, Jungbien Moon J. 2013. When do foreign subsidiaries outperform local firms? *Journal of International Business Studies* **44**(8): 853–860.

- Chari A, Chen W, Dominguez KME. 2012. Foreign Ownership and Firm Performance: Emerging Market Acquisitions in the United States. *IMF Economic Review* **60**(1): 1–42.
- Chatterjee S, Hadi AS. 2000. Regression Analysis by Example. Wiley: New York.
- Chen W. 2011. The effect of investor origin on firm performance: Domestic and foreign direct investment in the United States. *Journal of International Economics* **83**(2) 2011: 219–228.
- Chen W, Cuervo-Cazurra A. 2012. Technological escape and cross-border M&As by developing country multinational companies, Copenhagen.
- Chen Y, Hua X, Boateng A. 2017. Effects of foreign acquisitions on financial constraints, productivity and investment in R&D of target firms in China. *International Business Review* **26**(4): 640–651.
- Chen Y, Zhai R-R, Wang C, Zhong C. 2015. Home institutions, internationalization and firm performance. *Management Decision* **53**(1): 160–178.
- Chen Y-M, Lin C-T. 2009. Performance of Cross-Border Mergers and Acquisitions (M&A's) by Chinese Firms, San Francisco State University.
- Chen YY, Young MN. 2010. Cross-border mergers and acquisitions by Chinese listed companies: A principal–principal perspective. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management* **27**(3): 523–539.
- Chesbrough HW. 2010. Open innovation: The new imperative for creating and profiting from technology. Harvard Business School Press: Boston, Mass.
- Cheung Y-L, Connelly JT, Jiang P, Limpaphayom P. 2011. Does Corporate Governance Predict Future Performance? Evidence from Hong Kong. *Financial Management* **40**(1): 159–197.
- Chikhouni A, Edwards G, Farashahi M. 2017. Psychic distance and ownership in acquisitions: Direction matters. *Journal of International Management* **23**(1): 32–42.
- Child J, Rodrigues SB. 2005. The Internationalization of Chinese Firms: A Case for Theoretical Extension? *Management and Organization Review* **1**(3): 381–410.
- Christofi M, Vrontis D, Thrassou A, Shams SR. 2019. Triggering technological innovation through cross-border mergers and acquisitions: A micro-foundational perspective. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* **146**: 148–166.
- Cloodt M, Hagedoorn J, van Kranenburg H. 2006. Mergers and acquisitions: Their effect on the innovative performance of companies in high-tech industries. *Research Policy* **35**(5): 642–654.
- Cohen WM, Levinthal DA. 1990. Absorptive Capacity: A New Perspective on Learning and Innovation. *Administrative Science Quarterly* **35**(1): 128.
- Coles JL, Daniel ND, Naveen L. 2008. Boards: Does one size fit all? *Journal of Financial Economics* 87(2): 329–356.

- Colombo MG, Rabbiosi L. 2014. Technological similarity, post-acquisition R&D reorganization, and innovation performance in horizontal acquisitions. *Research Policy* **43**(6): 1039–1054.
- Coombs JE, Bierly PE. 2006. Measuring technological capability and performance. *R&D Management* **36**(4): 421–438.
- Cuervo-Cazurra A. 2012. Extending theory by analyzing developing country multinational companies: Solving the Goldilocks debate. *Global Strategy Journal* **2**(3): 153–167.
- Cuervo-Cazurra A, Genc M. 2008. Transforming Disadvantages into Advantages: Developing-Country MNEs in the Least Developed Countries. *Journal of International Business Studies* **39**(6): 957–979.
- Datta DK, Basuil DA, Agarwal A. 2020. Effects of board characteristics on post-acquisition performance: A study of cross-border acquisitions by firms in the manufacturing sector. *International Business Review* 29(3): 101674.
- Davis R, Nair A. 2003. A Note on Top Management Turnover in International Acquisitions. *Management International Review* **43**(2) 2003: 171–183.
- Delios A, Beamish PW. 2001. Survival and Profitability: The Roles of Experience and Intangible Assets in Foreign Subsidiary Performance. *The Academy of Management Journal* 44(5): 1028–1038.
- Demirbag M, McGuiness M, Altay H. 2010. Perceptions of Institutional Environment and Entry Mode: FDI from an Emerging Country. *Management International Review* **50**(2): 207–240.
- Demirtas G, Simsir SA. 2016. The effect of CEO departure on target firms' post-takeover performance: Evidence from not-delisting target firms. *Finance Research Letters* **16**: 55–65.
- Deng P. 2004. Outward investment by Chinese MNCs: Motivations and implications. Business Horizons 47(3): 8–16.
- Deng P. 2007. Investing for strategic resources and its rationale: The case of outward FDI from Chinese companies. *Business Horizons* **50**(1): 71–81.
- Deng P. 2009. Why do Chinese firms tend to acquire strategic assets in international expansion? *Journal of World Business* **44**(1): 74–84.
- DePamphilis DM. 2015. *Mergers, acquisitions, and other restructuring activities*. Academic Press.
- Desyllas P, Hughes A. 2010. Do high technology acquirers become more innovative? *Research Policy* **39**(8): 1105–1121.
- Devine RA, Melo Galdino K de, Lamont BT. 2016. Managerial Retention in Cross-Border Acquisitions: Examining Institutional Influence. In: *Handbook of research on mergers and acquisitions*, Weber Y (ed): Emerald: Bingley; 59–76.
- Dezi L, Battisti E, Ferraris A, Papa A. 2018. The link between mergers and acquisitions and innovation. *Management Research Review* **41**(6): 716–752.

- Di Minin A, Quan X, Zhang J. 2017. A comparison of international R&D strategies of Chinese companies in Europe and the USA. *International Journal of Technology Management* **74**(1/2/3/4): 185.
- Di Minin A, Zhang J, Gammeltoft P. 2012. Chinese foreign direct investment in R&D in Europe: A new model of R&D internationalization? *European Management Journal* 30(3): 189–203.
- Dreher M, Ernst D. 2014. *Mergers & Acquisitions*. UVK Verlagsgesellschaft mbH: Konstanz und München.
- Du M, Boateng A. 2015. State ownership, institutional effects and value creation in crossborder mergers & acquisitions by Chinese firms. *International Business Review* 24(3): 430–442.
- Dunning JH. 1988. The Eclectic Paradigm of International Production: A Restatement and some possible Extensions. *Journal of International Business Studies*.
- Dunning JH. 2000. The electic paradigm as an envelope for economic and business theories of MNE activity. *International Business Review* (9): 163–190.
- Dunning JH. 2006. Comment on Dragon multinationals: New players in 21st century globalization. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management* **23**(2): 139–141.
- Elango B, Pattnaik C. 2011. Learning Before Making the Big Leap. *Management International Review* **51**(4): 461–481.
- Eliasson K, Hansson P, Lindvert M. 2017. Effects of foreign acquisitions on R&D and highskill activities. *Small Business Economics* **49**(1): 163–187.
- Ellis JA, Moeller SB, Schlingemann FP, Stulz RM. 2017. Portable country governance and cross-border acquistions. *Journal of International Business Studies* **48**(2): 148–173.
- Erdogan AI. 2013. Foreign-owned versus domestically-owned firms: financial performance in Turkey.
- Ernst & Young. 2019. Chinesische Unternehmenskäufe in Europa: Eine Analyse von M&A-Deals 2006-2018.
- Fanto JA. 2001. Quasi-Rationality in Action: A Study of Psychological Factors in Merger Decision-Making. *Ohio State Law Journal* **62**(1333).
- Fernández S, Triguero Á, Alfaro-Cortés E. 2018. M&A effects on innovation and profitability in large European firms. *Management Decision* **78**(5): 1133.
- Ferraris A, Santoro G, Dezi L. 2017. How MNC's subsidiaries may improve their innovative performance? The role of external sources and knowledge management capabilities. *Journal of Knowledge Management* **21**(3): 540–552.
- Finkelstein S, Hambrick DC, Cannella AA. 2009. *Strategic leadership: Theory and research* on executives, top management teams, and boards. Oxford Univ. Press: New York, NY.
- Fisch C, Block J, Sandner P. 2018. The impact of acquisitions on Chinese acquirers' innovation performance: An empirical investigation of 1545 Chinese acquisitions. *Journal of Business Economics* **16**: 33.

- Galavotti I, Cerrato D, Cantoni F. 2020. Surviving after Cross-Border Acquisitions: How Business Relatedness, Host Country Experience, and Cultural Distance Affect Acquired Firms. *Sustainability* **12**(17): 6721.
- Galpin TJ, Herndon M. 2014. *The Complete Guide to Mergers & Acquisitions: Process tools to support M&A integration at every level*. Jossey-Bass: San Francisco.
- García-Muiña FE, Navas-López JE. 2007. Explaining and measuring success in new business: The effect of technological capabilities on firm results. *Technovation* **27**(1-2): 30–46.
- Gaur A, Delios A, Singh K. 2007. Institutional Environments, Staffing Strategies and Subsidiary Performance. *Journal of Management* **33**(4): 611–636.
- Girma S, Gong Y, Görg H. 2008. Foreign Direct Investment, Access to Finance, and Innovation Activity in Chinese Enterprises. *The World Bank Economic Review* **22**(2): 367–382.
- Goldstein A. 2009. Multinational companies from emerging economies: Composition, conceptualization and direction in the global economy. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gong Y. 2003. Subsidiary Staffing in Multinational Enterprises: Agency, Resources, and Performance. *Academy of Management Journal* **46**(6): 728–739.
- Graebner ME, Heimeriks KH, Huy QN, Vaara E. 2017. The Process of Postmerger Integration: A Review and Agenda for Future Research. *Academy of Management Annals* **11**(1): 1–32.
- Grant RM. 1991. The resource-based theory of competitve advantage: implications for strategy formulation. *California Management Review* **33**(3): 114–135.
- Grant RM. 1996. Prospering in Dynamically-Competitive Environments: Organizational Capability as Knowledge Integration. *Organization Science* **7**(4): 375–387.
- Grimpe C, Hussinger K. 2014. Resource complementarity and value capture in firm acquisitions: The role of intellectual property rights. *Strategic Management Journal* **35**(12): 1762–1780.
- Gu J, Yang Y, Strange R. 2019. Acquirer's Country of Origin and Target Firm's Performance. In: *The Changing Strategies of International Business: How MNEs Manage in a Changing Commercial and Political Landscape*, Chidlow A, Ghauri PN, Buckley T, Gardner EC, Qamar A, Pickering E (eds): Springer International Publishing: Cham; 135–155.
- Guadalupe M, Kuzmina O, Thomas C. 2012. Innovation and Foreign Ownership. *American Economic Review* **102**(7): 3594–3627.
- Gubbi SR, Aulakh PS, Ray S, Sarkar MB, Chittoor R. 2010. Do international acquisitions by emerging-economy firms create shareholder value? The case of Indian firms. *Journal of International Business Studies* **41**(3): 397–418.
- Guest PM. 2009. The Impact of Board Size on Firm Performance: Evidence from the UK. *The European Journal of Finance* **15**(4): 385–404.

- Guillén MF, García-Canal E. 2009. The American Model of the Multinational Firm and the "New" Multinationals From Emerging Economies. *Academy of Management Perspectives* **23**(2): 23–35.
- Haleblian J, Devers CE, McNamara G, Carpenter MA, Davison RB. 2009. Taking Stock of What We Know About Mergers and Acquisitions: A Review and Research Agenda. *Journal of Management* 35(3): 469–502.
- Hambrick DC. 1989. Guest editor's introduction: Putting top managers back in the strategy picture. *Strategic Management Journal* **10**(S1): 5–15.
- Hambrick DC. 2007. Upper Echelons Theory: An Update. *Academy of Management Review* **32**(2): 334–343.
- Han J, Jo GS, Kang J. 2018. Is high-quality knowledge always beneficial?: Knowledge overlap and innovation performance in technological mergers and acquisitions. *Journal* of Management & Organization 24(02): 258–278.
- Hanemann T, Huotari M. 2017. Record Flows and Growing Imbalances: Chinese Investment in Europe in 2016 [29 March 2018].
- Haskel JE, Pereira SC, Slaughter, Matthew J. Slaughter. 2007. Does Inward Foreign Direct Investment Boost the Productivity of Domestic Firms? *The Review of Economics and Statistics* **89**(3) 2007: 482–496.
- Hayes RH. 1979. The human side of acquisitions. Management Review 68 1979: 41-46.
- Hayward MLA. 2002. When Do Firms Learn from Their Acquisition Experience? Evidence from 1990-1995. *Strategic Management Journal* **23**(1): 21–39.
- He S, Khan Z, Shenkar O. 2018. Subsidiary capability upgrading under emerging market acquirers. *Journal of World Business* **53**(2) 2018: 248–262.
- Hitt MA, Hoskisson RE, Ireland RD, Harrison JS. 1991. Effects of Acquisitions on R&D Inputs and Outputs. *The Academy of Management Journal* **34**(3): 693–706.
- Hutzschenreuter T, Kleindienst I, Schmitt M. 2014. How mindfulness and acquisition experience affect acquisition performance. *Management Decision* **52**(6): 1116–1147.
- Hymer SH. 1960. The International Operations of National Firms, A study of Direct Foreign Investment, Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- International Monetary Fund. 2020. Fiscal Monitor: Policies for the Recovery. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/FM/Issues/2020/09/30/october-2020-fiscalmonitor.
- Isobe T, Makino S, Montgomery DB. 2008. Technological capabilities and firm performance: The case of small manufacturing firms in Japan. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management* **25**(3): 413–428.
- Jensen MC, Ruback R. 1983. The market for corporate control: The scientific evidence. *Journal of Financial Economics* **11**: 5–50.
- Jiang F, Kim KA. 2015. Corporate governance in China: A modern perspective. *Journal of Corporate Finance* **32**: 190–216.

- Jiang L, Waller DS, Cai S. 2013. Does ownership type matter for innovation?: Evidence from China. *Journal of Business Research* **66**(12): 2473–2478.
- Jin J, Zedtwitz M von. 2008. Technological capability development in China's mobile phone industry. *Technovation* **28**(6): 327–334.
- Johanson J, Vahlne J-E. 1977. The Internationalization Process of the Firm—A Model of Knowledge Development and Increasing Foreign Market Commitments. *Journal of International Business Studies* **8**(1): 23–32.
- Kaeppeli RW. 2009. The effect of specific organizational and managerial factors on the performance of foreign subsidiaries in Japan. *Asian Business & Management* **8**(1): 103–123.
- Karaevli A. 2007. Performance consequences of new CEO 'Outsiderness': Moderating effects of pre- and post-succession contexts. *Strategic Management Journal* **28**(7): 681–706.
- Karaevli A. 2016. The "Turnaround Trap" of outsider CEOs. *Organizational Dynamics* **45**(4): 278–282.
- Karaevli A, Zajac EJ. 2013. When Do Outsider CEOs Generate Strategic Change? The Enabling Role of Corporate Stability. *Journal of Management Studies* **50**(7): 1267-1294.
- Kim L. 1997. *Imitation to Innovation: The Dynamics of Korea's Technological Learning*. Harvard Business School Press: Boston.
- King DR, Slotegraaf RJ, Kesner I. 2008. Performance Implications of Firm Resource Interactions in the Acquisition of R&D-Intensive Firms. *Organization Science* **19**(2): 327–340.
- Kota HB, Tomar S. 2010. Corporate governance practices in Indian firms. *Journal of Management & Organization* **16**(2): 266–279.
- Krishnan HA, Miller A, Judge WQ. 1997. Diversification and top management team complementarity: Is performance improved by merging similar or dissimilar teams? *Strategic Management Journal* 18(5): 361–374.
- Krug JA. 2003a. Executive Turnover in Acquired Firms: An Analysis of Resource-Based Theory and the Upper Echelons Perspective. *Journal of Management and Governance* **7**(2): 117–143.
- Krug JA. 2003b. Why do they keep leaving? Harvard Business Review 81(2): 14-15.
- Krug JA, Hegarty WH. 1997. Postacquisition Turnover among U.S. Top Management Teams: An Analysis of the Effects of Foreign vs. Domestic Acquisitions of U.S. Targets. *Strategic Management Journal* **18**(8) 1997: 667–675.
- Krug JA, Nigh D. 1998. Top Management Turnover: Comparing Foreign and Domestic Acquisitions of U.S. firms. In: Foreign Ownership and the Consequences of Direct Investment in the United States: Beyond Us and Them, Woodward D, Nigh D (eds): Quorum Books: Wesport; 271-287.

- Krug JA, Nigh D. 2001. Executive perceptions in foreign and domestic acquisitions: an analysis of foreign ownership and its effect on executive fate. *Journal of World Business* 36(1): 85–105.
- Krug JA, Wright P, Kroll MJ. 2014. Top Management Turnover Following Mergers and Acquisitions: Solid Research to Date but Still Much to Be Learned. Academy of Management Perspectives 28(2): 147–163.
- Kuemmerle W. 1999. The Drivers of Foreign Direct Investment into Research and Development: An Empirical Investigation. *Journal of International Business Studies* **30**(1): 1–24.
- Lall S. 1992. *Building industrial competitiveness in developing countries*. Development Centre OECD: Paris.
- Lan S, Yang F, Zhu H. 2015. The long-term performance of cross-border mergers and acquisitions: Evidence from the Chinese stock market. *Chinese Management Studies* **9**(3): 385–400.
- Leshchinskii D, Zollo M. 2004. Can Firms Learn To Acquire?: The Impact of Post-Acquisition Decisions and Learning on Long-Term Abnormal Returns.
- Li J, Li P, Wang B. 2016. Do cross-border acquisitions create value?: Evidence from overseas acquisitions by Chinese firms. *International Business Review* **25**(2): 471–483.
- Liang Q, Xu P, Jiraporn P. 2013. Board characteristics and Chinese bank performance. *Journal of Banking & Finance* **37**(8): 2953–2968.
- Liao S, Fu L, Liu Z. 2020. Investigating open innovation strategies and firm performance: the moderating role of technological capability and market information management capability. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing* **35**(1): 23–39.
- Luo Y, Rui H. 2009. An Ambidexterity Perspective toward multinational enterprises from emerging eonomies. *Academy of Management Perspectives*: 49–70.
- Luo Y, Tung RL. 2007. International expansion of emerging market enterprises: A springboard perspective. *Journal of International Business Studies* **38**(4): 481–498.
- Luo Y, Tung RL. 2018. A general theory of springboard MNEs. *Journal of International Business Studies* **49**(2): 129–152.
- Ma C, Liu Z. 2017. Effects of M&As on innovation performance: empirical evidence from Chinese listed manufacturing enterprises. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management* 29(8): 960–972.
- Ma X, Zhu Y, Cai W. 2016. The performance of cross-border acquirers from emerging economies. *Nankai Business Review International* **7**(1): 21–38.
- Madhok A, Keyhani M. 2012. Acquisitions as entrepreneurship: asymmetries, opportunities, and the internationalization of multinationals from emerging economies. *Global Strategy Journal* **2**: 26–40.
- Makri M, Hitt MA, Lane PJ. 2010. Complementary technologies, knowledge relatedness, and invention outcomes in high technology mergers and acquisitions. *Strategic Management Journal* **31**(6): 602–628.

- Manne HG. 1965. Mergers and the Market for Corporate Control. *Journal of Political Economy* **73**(2): 110–120.
- Martynova M, Renneboog L. 2008. A century of corporate takeovers: What have we learned and where do we stand? *Journal of Banking & Finance* **32**(10): 2148–2177.
- Masiero G, Ogasavara MH, Risso ML. 2017. Going global in groups: a relevant market entry strategy? *Review of International Business and Strategy* **27**(1): 93–111.
- Masulis RW, Wang C, Xie F. 2007. Corporate Governance and Acquirer Returns. *The Journal of Finance* **62**(4): 1851–1889.
- Mathews JA. 2002. Competitive advantages of the latecomer firm: A resource-based account of industrial catch-up strategies. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management* **19**(4): 467–488.
- Mathews JA. 2006. Dragon multinationals: New players in 21st century globalization. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management* **23**(1): 5–27.
- Meckl R, Röhrle F. 2016. Do M&A deals create or destroy value?: A meta-analysis. *European Journal of Business and Economics* **11**(2).
- Megginson WL, Morgan A, Nail L. 2004. The determinants of positive long-term performance in strategic mergers: Corporate focus and cash. *Journal of Banking & Finance* **28**(3): 523–552.
- Miozzo M, DiVito L, Desyllas P. 2016. When do Acquirers Invest in the R&D Assets of Acquired Science-based Firms in Cross-border Acquisitions?: The Role of Technology and Capabilities Similarity and Complementarity. *Long Range Planning* **49**(2): 221–240.
- Mohapatra P. 2017. Board Size and Firm Performance in India. *Vilakshan: The XIMB Journal of Management* **14**(1): 19–30.
- Naseem MA, Xiaoming S, Riaz S, Rehman RU. 2017. Board attributes and financial performance: The evidence from an emerging economy. *The Journal of Developing Areas* **51**(3): 281–297.
- Nicholson RR, Salaber J. 2013. The motives and performance of cross-border acquirers from emerging economies: Comparison between Chinese and Indian firms. *International Business Review* 22(6): 963–980.
- O'Brien RM. 2007. A Caution Regarding Rules of Thumb for Variance Inflation Factors. *Quality & Quantity* **41**(5): 673–690.
- Ornaghi C. 2009. Mergers and innovation in big pharma. *International Journal of Industrial Organization* **27**(1) 2009: 70–79.
- Palich LE, Cardinal LB, Miller CC. 2000. Curvilinearity in the Diversification-Performance Linkage: An Examination of over Three Decades of Research. *Strategic Management Journal* 21(2): 155–174.
- Peng MW. 2012. The global strategy of emerging multinationals from China. *Global Strategy Journal* **2**(2): 97–107.
- Petersen MA. 2008. Estimating Standard Errors in Finance Panel Data Sets: Comparing Approaches. *Review of Financial Studies* **22**(1): 435–480.

- Puranam P, Srikanth K. 2007. What they know vs. what they do: how acquirers leverage technology acquisitions. *Strategic Management Journal* **28**(8): 805–825.
- Rajan HC. 2010. Double-layered acculturation in cross-border mergers & acquisitions: examining the role of national culture, Pecs.
- Ramamurti R. 2012a. Commentaries: What is really different about emerging market multinationals? *Global Strategy Journal* **2**: 41–47.
- Ramamurti R. 2012b. Competing with emerging market multinationals. *Business Horizons* **55**(3): 241–249.
- Ramamurti R, Hillemann J. 2018. What is "Chinese" about Chinese multinationals? *Journal* of International Business Studies **49**(1): 34–48.
- Ramamurti R., Singh J.V. (eds). 2009. *Emerging Multinationals in Emerging Markets*. Cambridge University Press.
- Ranft AL, Lord MD. 2002. Acquiring New Technologies and Capabilities: A Grounded Model of Acquisition Implementation. *Organization Science* **13**(4): 420–441.
- Reade C. 2001. Dual identification in multinational corporations: local managers and their psychological attachment to the subsidiary versus the global organization. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management* **12**(3): 405–424.
- Reichert FM, Zawislak PA. 2014. Technological Capability and Firm Performance. *Journal* of technology management & innovation **9**(4): 20–35.
- Rickley M, Karim S. 2018. Managing institutional distance: Examining how firm-specific advantages impact foreign subsidiary CEO staffing. *Journal of World Business* **53**(5): 740–751.
- Roll R. 1986. The Hubris Hypothesis of Corporate Takeovers. *The Journal of Business* **59**(2): 197–216.
- Rugman AM. 2009. Theoretical aspects of MNEs from emerging countries. In: *Emerging Multinationals in Emerging Markets*, Ramamurti R, Singh JV (eds): Cambridge University Press; 42–63.
- Rugman AM, Verbeke A. 2009. Internalization theory and its impact on the field of international business. In: *International business scholarship :: AIB fellows on the first* 5 years and beyond, Boddewyn JJ (ed): Emerald Group Publishing Limited: Bingley; 155–174.
- Rui H, Yip GS. 2008. Foreign acquisitions by Chinese firms: A strategic intent perspective. *Journal of World Business* **43**(2): 213–226.
- Santoro G, Ferraris A, Giacosa E, Giovando G. 2018. How SMEs Engage in Open Innovation: a Survey. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy* **9**(2): 561–574.
- Schmiele A. 2012. Drivers for international innovation activities in developed and emerging countries. *The Journal of Technology Transfer* **37**(1): 98–123.
- Schoenberg R. 2006. Measuring the Performance of Corporate Acquisitions: An Empirical Comparison of Alternative Metrics. *British Journal of Management* **17**(4): 361–370.

- Sears J, Hoetker G. 2014. Technological overlap, technological capabilities, and resource recombination in technological acquisitions. *Strategic Management Journal* 35(1): 48– 67.
- Sekiguchi T, Bebenroth R, Li D. 2011. Nationality background of MNC affiliates' top management and affiliate performance in Japan: Knowledge-based and upper echelons perspectives. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management* **22**(5): 999–1016.
- Singh D, Pattnaik C, Lee JY, Gaur AS. 2019. Subsidiary staffing, cultural friction, and subsidiary performance: Evidence from Korean subsidiaries in 63 countries. *Human Resource Management* **58**(2): 219–234.
- SMB Consultants. 2017. Chinesische Akquisitionen in Deutschland 2005-2017: Studie und Überblick zu Unternehmen, Branchen, Größen, geograph. Schwerpunkten sowie beteiligten Beratern. https://www.bvkap.de/eventsmedien/veroffentlichungen/studien/smb-consultants-studie-zu-chinesischen-investoren [31 July 2020].
- Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder. 2019. Volkswirtschaftliche Gesamtrechnungen der Länder. Länder. https://de.statista.com.login.bibproxy.whu.edu/statistik/daten/studie/36889/umfrage/bru ttoinlandsprodukt-nach-bundeslaendern/.
- Statistisches Bundesamt. 2019. Kleine und mittlere Unternehmen Anteile kleiner und mittlerer Unternehmen an ausgewählten Merkmalen 2017 nach Größenklassen in %.
- Stiebale J. 2013. The impact of cross-border mergers and acquisitions on the acquirers' R&D
 Firm-level evidence. *International Journal of Industrial Organization* 31(4): 307–321.
- Stiebale J. 2016. Cross-border M&As and innovative activity of acquiring and target firms. *Journal of International Economics* **99**: 1–15.
- Stiebale J, Reize F. 2011. The impact of FDI through mergers and acquisitions on innovation in target firms. *International Journal of Industrial Organization* **29**(2): 155–167.
- Sutherland D. 2009. Do China's "national team" business groups undertake strategic-assetseeking OFDI? *Chinese Management Studies* **3**(1): 11–24.
- Szücs F. 2014. M&A and R&D: Asymmetric Effects on acquirers and targets? *Research Policy* **43**(7): 1264–1273.
- Tang G, Park K, Agarwal A, Liu F. 2020. Impact of Innovation Culture, Organization Size and Technological Capability on the Performance of SMEs: The Case of China. *Sustainability* 12(4): 1355.
- Tőkés L. 2019. The effect of foreign direct investment on firm labor productivity: Does the country of origin of the FDI matter? *Society and Economy* **41**(2): 227–243.
- Trautwein F. 1990. Merger Motives and Merger Prescriptions. *Strategic Management Journal* **11**(4): 283–295.

- Tsai K-H. 2004. The impact of technological capability on firm performance in Taiwan's electronics industry. *The Journal of High Technology Management Research* **15**(2): 183–195.
- Tseng C-H, Tansuhaj P, Hallagan W, McCullough J. 2007. Effects of Firm Resources on Growth in Multinationality. *Journal of International Business Studies* **38**(6) 2007: 961–974.
- UNCTAD. 2005. World Investment Report: 2005 Transnational corporations and the internationalization of R&D.
- UNCTAD. 2017. World Investment Report 2017: Investment and the digital economy.
- UNCTAD. 2018. Annex table 6. Value of net cross-border M&As by region/economy of purchaser, 1990-2017. http://unctad.org/en/Pages/DIAE/World%20Investment%20Report/Annex-Tables.aspx.

UNCTAD. 2019. Annex table 6. Value of net cross-border M&As by region/economy of

- purchaser, 1990-2018. http://unctad.org/en/Pages/DIAE/World%20Investment%20Report/Annex-Tables.aspx.
- UNCTAD. 2020. Annex table 6. Value of net cross-border M&As by region/economy of purchaser, 1990-2019.
- Valentini G. 2012. Measuring the effect of M&A on patenting quantity and quality. *Strategic Management Journal* **33**(3): 336–346.
- Walsh JP. 1988. Top Management Turnover Following Mergers and Acquisitions. *Strategic Management Journal* **9**(2) 1988: 173–183.
- Walsh JP. 1989. Doing a Deal: Merger and Acquisition Negotiations and Their Impact Upon Target Company Top Management Turnover. *Strategic Management Journal* 10(4) 1989: 307–322.
- Walsh JP, Ellwood JW. 1991. Mergers, Acquisitions, and the Pruning of Managerial Deadwood. *Strategic Management Journal* **12**(3) 1991: 201–217.
- Walsh JP, Kosnik RD. 1993. Corporate raiders and their disciplinary role in the market. *Academy of Management Journal* **36**(4): 671–700.
- Wang C, Xie F. 2009. Corporate Governance Transfer and Synergistic Gains from Mergers and Acquisitions. *Review of Financial Studies* **22**(2): 829–858.
- Wang Y, Xie W, Li J, Liu C. 2018. What factors determine the subsidiary mode of overseas R&D by developing-country MNEs? Empirical evidence from Chinese subsidiaries abroad. *R&D Management* 48(2): 253–265.
- Williamson PJ, Zeng M. 2009. Chinese multinationals: Emerging through new global gateways. In: *Emerging Multinationals in Emerging Markets*, Ramamurti R, Singh JV (eds): Cambridge University Press; 81–109.
- Wübbeke J, Meissner M, Zenglein MJ, Ives J, Conrad B. 2016. Made in China 2025: The making of a high-tech superpower and consequences for industrial countries. https://www.merics.org/de/presse/china-flashpressemitteilungen/merics-studie-zu-chinas-hightech-strategie/.

- Yan D, Hong J, Ren B. 2010. Determinants of outward foreign direct investment by Chinese enterprises: An empirical study from institutional perspective. *Nankai Business Review International* 1(3): 237–253.
- Yeaple S. 2003. The complex integration strategies of multinationals and cross country dependencies in the structure of foreign direct investment. *Journal of International Economics* **60**(2) 2003: 293–314.
- Yen YY, Ling LS, Ting TB. 2017. Knowledge Transfer in Cross-Border Merger and Acquisition. *Journal of Organizational Knowledge Management* **2017**: 1–7.
- Zaheer S. 1995. Overcoming the liability of foreignness. *Academy of Management Journal* **38**(2): 341–363.
- Zedtwitz M von, Gassmann O. 2002. Market versus technology drive in R&D internationalization: four different patterns of managing research and development. *Research Policy* **31**(4): 569–588.
- Zenglein MJ, Holzmann A. 2019. Evolving Made in China 2025: China's industrial policy quest for global tech leadership.
- Zhang Z, Deng Y, Tang SHK. 2018. Do Foreign Mergers and Acquisitions Increase Acquired Firms' Innovation?: Evidence from Chinese Manufacturing Firms. *Australian Economic Review* **78**(4): 678.
- Zhou C, Xie J, Wang Q. 2016. Failure to Complete Cross-Border M&As: "To" vs. "From" Emerging Markets. *Journal of International Business Studies* **47**(9): 1077–1105.
- Zhu H, Zhu Q, Ding Z. 2020. The Roles of Chinese CEOs in Managing Individualistic Cultures in Cross-border Mergers and Acquisitions. *Journal of Management Studies* 57(3): 664–697.
- Zollo M, Singh H. 2004. Deliberate learning in corporate acquisitions: Post-acquisition strategies and integration capability in U.S. bank mergers. *Strategic Management Journal* **25**(13): 1233–1256.

Appendix

Table 21. List with target firms and acquiring firms

TARGET FIRM	ACQUISITION YEAR	ACQUIRING FIRM	CHAPTER
FUYAO EUROPE GMBH	2007	FUYAO GLASS GROUP INDUSTRIES CO., LTD., CHINA	2, 3
MWH GMBH	2008	YOTRIO GROUP COMPANY LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
VENSYS ENERGY AG	2008	XINJIANG GOLDWIND SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LTD., URUMQI, CHINA	2, 3
BULLMER GMBH	2009	NEW JACK SEWING MACHINE CO., LTD., ZHEJIANG, CHINA	1, 2, 3
KOEBO GMBH & CO. KG	2010	HANGZHOU DONGHUA CHAIN GROUP CO., LTD, CHINA	1
CITIC DICASTAL (EUROPE) INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GMBH & CO. KG	2011	CITIC DICASTAL CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
CQLT SAARGUMMI DEUTSCHLAND GMBH	2011	CQLT INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT COMPANY LTD., CHONGQING, CHINA	1
ELAC ELECTROACUSTIC GMBH	2011	GLOBAL LEGEND HOLDINGS CO., LTD., CHINA	1
FORMAT TRESORBAU GMBH & CO. KG	2011	DUTECH HOLDINGS LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
MEDION AG	2011	LENOVO GROUP LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
PREH HOLDING GMBH	2011	NINGBO JOYSON INVESTMENT HOLDING CO. LTD., NINGBO, CHINA	1, 2, 3
SMARTHEAT DEUTSCHLAND GMBH	2011	SMARTHEAT (CHINA) INVESTMENT CO., LTD., SHANGHAI, CHINA	1, 2, 3
TRANSMODE OVERSEAS TRANSPORTGESELLSCHAFT MBH	2011	KERRY LOGISTICS LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
VIVANCO GRUPPE AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT	2011	NINGBO SHIP INVESTMENT GROUP CO. LTD., CHINA	1
HYTERA MOBILFUNK GMBH	2012	HYTERA COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD., SHENZHEN, CHINA	1, 2, 3
KIEKERT AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT	2012	GOLD RACE INVESTMENT LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
PUTZMEISTER HOLDING GMBH	2012	SANY HEAVY INDUSTRY CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
SCHWING GMBH	2012	XUZHOU CONSTRUCTION MACHINERY GROUP CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
SOLIBRO GMBH	2012	BEIJING BEIJIAO SIYUAN TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
WUMAG TEXROLL GMBH & CO. KG	2012	SIYOU YAN, CHINA	1

TARGET FIRM	ACQUISITION YEAR	ACQUIRING FIRM	CHAPTER
ASOLA TECHNOLOGIES GMBH	2013	TUSAI HOLDING LTD., CHINA	1
BFG FEINGUSS NIEDERRHEIN GMBH	2013	IMPRO INTERNATIONAL LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
GILUPI GMBH	2013	HEBEI DE LUTONG BIOLOGICAL SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD., CHINA	1
KUGEL- UND ROLLENLAGERWERK LEIPZIG GMBH	2013	WAFANGDIAN BEARING GROUP CORPORATION, DALIAN, CHINA	1, 2, 3
PEINE GMBH	2013	SHANDONG RUYI TECHNOLOGY GROUP, JINING, CHINA	1, 2, 3
PFAFF INDUSTRIESYSTEME UND MASCHINEN GMBH	2013	SHANG GONG GROUP CO., LTD., SHANGHAI, CHINA	1, 2, 3
PREMA SEMICONDUCTOR GMBH	2013	CHENGMAN WANG, CHINA	1
AVANCIS GMBH	2014	BENGBU DESIGN & RESEARCH INSTITUTE FOR GLASS INDUSTRY, BENGBU, CHINA	1, 2, 3
KACO GMBH + CO. KG	2014	ANHUI ZHONGDING SEALING PARTS CO. LTD, ANHUI, CHINA	1, 2, 3
KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG GMBH	2014	AVIC BEJING, CHINA	1, 2, 3
KOKINETICS GMBH	2014	AVIC ELECTROMECHANICAL SYSTEM CO. LTD, PEKING, CHINA	1, 2, 3
M-TEC MATHIS TECHNIK GMBH	2014	ZOOMLION HEAVY INDUSTRY SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD, CHANGSHA, CHINA	1, 2, 3
NBHX-NAFATEC GMBH	2014	NINGBO HUAXIANG ELECTRONIC CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
SCHUMAG AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT	2014	MIAOCHENG GUO, CHINA	1
SUK KUNSTSTOFFTECHNIK GMBH	2014	LUXSHARE PRECISION INDUSTRY CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
WACO GMBH FERTIGUNG VON HYDRAULIKZYLINDERN	2014	JIANGSU HENGLI HYDRAULIC CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
WILBERT TOWERCRANES GMBH	2014	HENAN GUOYU SEAL DEVELOPMENT CO. LTD, NANYANG, HENAN, CHINA	1
APT SEDANT HOLDING GMBH	2015	SEDANT ROBA ENERGY & MATERIAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD., CHINA	1
BERKENHOFF GMBH	2015	POWERWAY GROUP COMPANY LTD., NINGBO, CHINA	1, 2, 3
CTF SOLAR GMBH	2015	CHINA TRIUMPH INTERNATIONAL ENGINEERING CORPORATION, CHINA	1, 2, 3
HAWE INLINE HYDRAULIK GMBH	2015	JIANGSU HENGLI HYDRAULIC CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
HAZEMAG & EPR GMBH	2015	SINOMA INTERNATIONAL ENGINEERING CO. LTD., BEIJING, CHINA	1, 2, 3
MEDISANA AG	2015	XIAMEN COMFORT SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY GROUP CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
QUIN GMBH	2015	NINGBO JOYSON ELECTRONIC CORP., CHINA	1, 2, 3
ROCKSON AUTOMATION GMBH	2015	BEIJING HIGHLANDER DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY, LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
WALDASCHAFF AUTOMOTIVE GMBH	2015	LINGYUN INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
WEGU HOLDING GMBH	2015	ANHUI ZHONGDING SEALING PARTS CO. LTD, ANHUI, CHINA	1, 2, 3

TARGET FIRM	ACQUISITION YEAR	ACQUIRING FIRM	CHAPTER
AYANDA GMBH	2016	SIRIO PHARMA CO., LTD, SHANTOU GUANGDONG, CHINA	1, 2, 3
BIGPOINT GMBH & CO. KG	2016	YOUZU INTERACTIVE CO. LTD, SHANGHAI, CHINA	1, 2, 3
BROCK KEHRTECHNIK GMBH	2016	BEIQI FOTON MOTOR CO., LTD., CHINA	1
BROETJE-AUTOMATION GMBH	2016	SHANGHAI ELECTRIC GROUP COMPANY LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
CARCOUSTICS INTERNATIONAL GMBH	2016	SHANGHAI FUYU AUTOMOBILES COMPONENTS CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
COMPO GMBH	2016	KINGENTA ECOLOGICAL ENGINEERING GROUP CO., LTD., LI-NYI, CHINA	1, 2, 3
EBU UMFORMTECHNIK GMBH	2016	JIANGSU XUZHOU METALFORMING MACHINE GROUP CO., LTD, CHINA	1
EFA-S GMBH	2016	BEIJING ZHONGHUAN INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CO., CHINA	1
ELEXXION AG	2016	TIAN YING MEDICAL INSTRUMENT CO. LTD, CHINA	1
G.A.S. GESELLSCHAFT FUER ANALYTISCHE	2016	JINAN HANON INSTRUMENTS LTD., JINAN, SHANDONG PROVINCE,	1
SENSORSYSTEME M.B.H.		CHINA	
INDUSTRIAL ACOUSTICS COMPANY GMBH	2016	BEIJING GREENTEC ACOUSTICS ENGINEERING HOLDING CO., LTD., CHINA	1
INNOMOTIVE SYSTEMS HAINICHEN GMBH	2016	SUMEC MACHINERY & ELECTRIC CO., LTD, NANJING, CHINA	1, 2, 3
ITN NANOVATION AG	2016	SHANGHAI SAFBON INVESTMENT CO., LTD., CHINA	1, 2, 3
NICI GMBH	2016	QINGDAO XUEFEIDA INTL TRADING, CHINA	1
SHIJI DEUTSCHLAND GMBH	2016	BEIJING SHIJI INFO TECH CO LTD, CHINA	1
WILHELM SCHIMMEL, PIANOFORTEFABRIK, GMBH	2016	PEARL RIVER PIANO GROUP LTD., CHINA	1
WINDMW GMBH	2016	CHINA THREE GORGES CORPORATION, BEIJING, CHINA	1, 2, 3
WITA WILHELM TAAKE GMBH	2016	SHIMGE PUMP INDUSTRY GROUP CO., LTD., WENLING CITY, CHINA	1, 2, 3